RN AutoNationo

1I|\\I\HIIIIIIII!I”IIHHVIIIIIHIHINIIMIIH

02030941 o

| T
| M{ S l T 500 (}
Ky wnisam |
/QC/ AQ/QQZQ/ }: @?zg
._s“

America’s
largest
automotive
retailer

' PROCESSED |
A eRiTaR

| THOMSOmwn |
FINANGIAL |

—




Financial HIGHLIGHTS

Earnings Before Interest;
Taxes, Depreciation
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Pro forma results. These results exclude certain charges and gains and are not presented on a basis

consistent with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. Please refer to page 21
of the attached 2001 Annual Report Form 10-K for a reconciliation of these resuits to reported figures
and to the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations"

section of the Form 10-K for further details about these charges and gains.

Consolidated Earnings and Balance Sheet Highlights

(in miflions) 1998 1999 2000 2001
Income from continuing operations

Reported. . ... ... ... ... .. . .. ..... $ 226 $ (32 $ 328 $ 245

ProForma™. ... ... ... . i $ 226 $ 289 $ 303 $ 29
Total Assets' . .. ... ... ... ... .. .. .. .. .. $ 8,412 $ 9,583 $ 8,867 $ 8,065
Long-term Debt® . .. ... ... ... $ 997 $ 1,153 $ 850 $ 647
Shareholders’ Equity® . . ... ................. $ 5,424 $ 4,601 $ 3,843 $ 3,828
Shares Qutstanding . .. ... ... .. ... ... ..., 458.1 375.4 348.1 321.7

“See legend above. '2000 figure reflects reclassification of certain items. ZLong-term debt in 1998, 1999 and 2000 includes certain operating leases.

3Shareholders' equity in 2000 reflects the impact of the tax-free spin-off of the Company's former vehicle rental businesses (ANC Rental Corp.) to AutoNation shareholders.

Business DESCRIPTION

AutoNation, Inc. is America’s largest retailer of both new and used vehicles. As of March 15, 2002, we owned and
operated 371 new vehicle franchises from dealership locations in 17 states, predominantly in the Sunbelt.

Each of our automotive franchised dealerships offers a diverse range of automotive products and services
beyond new and used vehicles that includes vehicle maintenance and repair services, vehicle parts, extended
service contracts, insurance products and other aftermarket products, and each also arranges financing for
vehicle purchases through third-party sources. Additionally, we operate collision repair centers in most of our
key markets. The vehicles we sell are manufactured by Ford, Generai Motors, DaimlerChrysler, Toyota, Nissan,
Honda and BMW. These manufacturers represent approximately 95% of the new vehicles that we sold in

2001. In total, we offer 35 different brands of new vehicles.




A letter to

SHAREHOLDERS
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To Our Shareholders:

2001 was a year in which we enjoyed successes
with all of our core constituencies.

Our customers purchased 712,000 new and used
vehicles from us, helping our company become
America's undisputed leader in automotive retail
for a fifth straight year.

On WAall Street, our investors rallied behind
AutoNation's solid earnings, cash flow and
same-store sales in the face of economic
challenges. Their enthusiasm helped generate
more than $2 billion of shareholder value as
AutoNation's shares rose 106% and the number of
investment analysts covering the company doubled.

Meanwhile, in a Fortune magazine survey released
this year, industry analysts and peers voted us
“America's Most Admired Company” in the
automotive retailing and services sector, giving
AutoNation high marks for its innovative culture,
quality of management, financial soundness and -
most important - for the caliber of its people.

Indeed, it was these 30,000 company associates
whom we relied on most last year in our drive to
be America's best run, most profitable and most
valued automotive retailer.

Together, we relentlessly pursued operational
improvements and scale advantages. We reinvested our
cash for higher returns and strengthened our
balance sheet. We merchandised better and found
faster and more competitive ways to offer the
repair and maintenance services that only factory-
authorized stores like ours can provide.

And we capitalized on the strengths that remain unique

to our brand of pure-play, specialty retailing.

A great example: In 2001, we drove operational
improvements in the used vehicle, parts and
service, and finance and insurance areas of our
automotive franchises. These higher-margin
areas offered opportunities that we believed were
great enough to offset challenges in the U.S.
new vehicle market last year.

And they were. Although collectively accounting
for about a third of our total revenue, these
higher-margin areas that are unique to automotive
retail delivered 68% of AutoNation's gross margin
in 2001, enabling us
to deliver more

store-level profit a200

(left to right)

Craig T. Monaghan
Chief Financial Officer

H. Wayne Huizenga
Chairman

Mike Jackson
Chief Executive Officer

Michael E. Maroone
President &
Chief Operating Officer

than in 2000. In
addition, the
diversity of the 35
vehicle brands we
sell and of the 20
major markets we
operate in made us
even more resilient.
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these strengths, and
the contribution of
these higher-margin activities, we accomplished
the following in 2001:

® Record full-year earnings per share from
continuing operations of $0.87, before certain
charges and gains.

® Record earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of
$663 million, before certain charges and gains.
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AutoNation sold 712,000 new and used vehicles in 2001

® A full-year gross margin of 14.4%, up 70 basis points We call that vision our Driven fo Be the Best focus, which
from a year ago. took hold last year as we drove improvements in our

® The repurchase of 7% of our outstanding shares for
$257 million, at an average price of $9.41 per share.

higher-margin areas. This focus is founded on principles
of operational excellence. When you sell 2,000 vehicles a
day and service 25,000 vehicles a day, operational

® Qur first senior note offering, a $450 million issue that  excellence is what ensures your business will grow and

strengthened the make-up of

our capital structure and Our Vision

introduced our company to a

new audience of investors. Customer Focus

L Information & e-Technology ]

your customers will continue
to come back to you.

This foundation of operational
excellence supports four key
pillars of the Driven to Be the
Besz vision. They are:

Driven to Be the Best” ™) G S

Superior ‘\ Pro UC{iVitV ® Superior Experiences.
Most significantly, Experiences Improvernents We take the wealth of retail
in 2001 our company \ Ad an'tl ges D?E:Eih: t knowledge that we possess and
adopted a cultural mindset use it to create better
that positioned us for future L Operational Excellence ] experiences for the customer.
growth in earnings and These experiences are designed
shareholder returns. to be “hassle-free” and are shaped to drive strong repeat

As the industry’s largest player, we know we have great
stores and talent. But being big isn't enough to remain
valued in the eyes of both shareholders and customers.
AutoNation must also be driven in its quest for excellence.
And we have a vision to get us there.

and referral business.

® Scale Advantages. Because no other automotive
retailer has our scale, we have a wealth of opportunities
to create sustainable competitive advantages.
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aking us America's largest automotive retailer.

Already we enjoy lower costs of capital, lower costs for sense, we've already realized this aspect of our vision by
employee benefits and preferred relationships with growing AutoNation into the Web's largest retailer of
certain vendors that are difficult to match. automobiles, selling $1.8 billion worth of vehicles via

the Internet in 2001.
® Productivity Improvements. This probably is the _ ' ] .
greatest opportunity we have at AutoNation. By However, while we're .proud of our achievements in
2001, we expect to enjoy greater rewards as our Driven
to Be the Best focus gains further traction in our stores,

among our associates and throughout the higher-

combining the entrepreneurial talents of our store
managers with proven best practices, we have found
better and faster ways to manage our inventories, to

) . \ :
deliver vehicle services and to present and sell our margin areas of our business that we've outlined above.

finance and insurance products. These productivity We thank you for your continued interest and support
gains go straight to the bottom line and create in AutoNation and look forward to reporting back
shareholder value. with more successes.

® Dominant Brands. We strive to have between Sincerely,

10% and 20% of a market's new vehicle sales each time

we consolidate our stores behind a local brand name

such as “John Elway’, “Maroone” or “AutoWay”. By

comparison, a typical competitor will have a market

share in the low single digits. With that kind of .

advantage, we believe customers in these markets won't AZT“L % %L(
be able to make an intelligent buying decision without

considering one of our stores. ‘
H. Wayne Huizenga Mike Jackson Mike Maroone

Finally, this Driven fo Be the Best vision is supported by ~ Chairman Chief Executive Officer President &
the wise use of information and e-technology. In this Chief Operating Officer




PARTS AND SERVICE ;{Ohn Elway .

Price.

When Super Bowl MVP John Elway represents our
“John Elway” brand in Denver and our “Desert” brand
in Las Vegas, he often promotes our dealerships’ vehicle
services. With 8,000 service bays, AutoNation is
America's largest provider of factory-authorized vehicle
maintenance and repair services.

Service.
g | Selection.

MMM at John Elway

it's GUARANTEED.
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. NEW AND USED
VEHICLE SALES

With 35 different brands of vehicles
to offer across 371 retail franchises,

we sell more new and used vehicles than

any other retailer.

NFL legend Dan
Marino speaks
for three of our
local market
brands -
“‘Maroone” in
South Florida,
“AutoWay" in
Tampa Bay and
“Courtesy” in
Oriando.
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AutoNation.com?.

HOME RESEARCH TOOLS FIND A VEMICLE &1 SURALCE HOTEBLOX INFOCENTER
1 LET US FIND 17 FOR YOU

<
Wahr?ueéuaﬁsm | Go Back: Home
vehicles to choose .
from today. . Build Your Dream Car
Configure your vehidle to lyour specifications and if it's not already on our lvt.lwe'll

order it for you. Begin building your dream car by choosing your make/model,
entering your 2ip code and dlicking GO.

IR0 A PRE-OWNED VEWICLE | FIND & NEW YEMICLE | Do 00 JONEIA N

T

Seledt the make and model and enter your 21P code
to locate vehides near you.

he best..

Across
our markets,
our franchises,  e-COMMERCE

! s
iy
v Make: Selsct a Make | & |

Model: Saloct a Mode! K1

Zip Code: | j

what frives you?

-

in everv way Our in-store Internet Sales Guides sold $1.8 billion
| worth of new and used vehicles to shoppers they

we serve met via the Internet. Through our websites, we

customers... offer an online inventory of more than 100,000

vehicles, each with an everyday low price.

FINANCE AND INSURANCE

Customers seeking vehicle financing

can count on AutoNation for help. Our
stores have relationships with all the
major lenders, making one-stop shopping
for financing easy. We also promote an
easy-to-understand "menu" sales process
that details a customer's payment options.




(as of March 15, 2002)

ALABAMA (7)
Mitler-Sutherfin Chevrolet of Pell City
Miller-Sutherlin Chrysler of Pell City
Miller-Sutherlin Dodge of Pell City
Miller-Sutherlin Jeep of Pell City
Miller-Sutherlin Pontiac of Pell City
Treadwell Ford of Mobile

Treadwell Honda of Mobile

ARIZONA (20)
Brown & Brown Chevrolet of Mesa

Brown & Brown Chevrolet of Superstition Springs

Brown & Brown Nissan of Mesa
Brown & Brown Nissan of Tempe
Dobbs Honda of Tucson

Lou Grubb Chevrolet of Peoria-Arrowhead
Lou Grubb Chevrolet of Phoenix
Lou Grubb Chryster of Phoenix

Lou Grubb Dedge of North Phoenix
Lou Grubb Ford of Scottsdale

Lou Grubb Jeep of Phoenix

Pitre Buick of Scottsdale

Pitre Chrysler of Scottsdale

Pitre GMC of Scottsdale

Pitre Hyundai of Scottsdale

Pitre Isuzu of Scottsdale

Pitre Jeep of Scottsdale

Pitre Pontiac of Scottsdale

Pitre Subaru of Scottsdale

Tempe Toyota

CALIFORNIA (85)

Acura of South Bay

Allison BMW of Mountain View
Anderson Chevrolet of Cupertino
Anderson Chevrolet of Los Gatos
Anderson Chevrolet of Menlo Park
Anderson Chrysler of Cupertino
AutoWest Chrysler of Fremont
AutoWest Chrysler of Roseville
AutoWest Dodge of Fremont
AutoWest Dodge of Roseville
AutoWest Honda of Fremont
AutoWest Honda of Roseville
AutoWest Isuzu of Fremont
AutoWest Jeep of Roseville
AutoWest Mitsubishi of Fremont
Beach City Chevrolet of Long Beach
Champion Chevrolet of Manhattan Beach
Champion Oidsmobile of Manhattan Beach
Chevrolet of E| Monte

Corona Chevrotet

Corona Oldsmobile

Corona Volkswagen

Costa Mesa Honda

Costa Mesa Infiniti

Don-A-Vee Chrysfer of Placentia
Don-A-Vee Isuzu of Placentia
Don-A-Vee Jeep of Bellflower
Don-A-Vee Jeep of Placentia
Don-A-Vee Suzuki of Bellflower
Don-A-Vee Suzuki of Placentia
Ford of Garden Grove

Hayward Dodge

Hayward Hyundai

Hayward Nissan

Hayward Toyota

House of Imports (Mercedes-Benz) of Buena Park

Huntington Beach Ford

Infiniti of Santa Monica

Jaguar of South Bay

Joe MacPherson Chevrolet of Irvine
Joe MacPherson Ford of Tustin

Joe MacPherson Infiniti of Tustin
Land Rover of Encino

Land Rover of South Bay

Lew Webb's Irvine Nissan

Lew Webb's Irvine Toyota

Lexus of Cerritos

Magic Ford of Valencia

Magic Lincoln-Mercury of Valencia
Mercedes-Benz of South Bay
Newport Audi of Newport Beach
Newport Chevrolet of Newport Beach
Newport Parsche of Newport Beach
Newport Rolls Royce of Newport Beach
Nissan of £l Monte

Ontario Dodge

Ontario Isuzu

Ontario Kia

Peyton Cramer Ford of Torrance
Peyton Cramer Infiniti of Torrance
Peyton Cramer Lincoln-Mercury of Torrance
Peyton Cramer Volkswagen of Torrance
Redlands Ford

Roseville BMW

Roseville Buick

Roseville GMC

Roseville Mazda

Roseville Oldsmobile

Roseville Subaru

Shamrock Ford of Dublin

Smythe European Mercedes-Benz of San Jose
Smythe European Volvo of San Jose
South Bay Volvo

Stevens Creek Acura of Santa Clara
Torrance Nissan

Toyota of Buena Park

Toyota of Cerritos

Valencia BMW

Valencia Chevrolet

Valencia Chrysler

Valencia Dodge

Valencia Honda

Valencia Jeep

Yolvo Cerritos

Volvo Irvine

COLORADO (26)

Courtesy Ford of Littieton

John Elway Buick of Golden

John Elway Buick of Lone Tree

John Elway Chevrolet of Denver

John Elway Chrysler of Golden

John Elway Chrysler of Littleton-Broadway
John Elway Dodge of Denver

John Elway Dodge of Englewood-Arapahoe
John Elway Ford of Boulder

John Elway Ford of Denver

John Elway Ford of Wheat Ridge

John Efway GMC of Golden

John Elway GMC of Lone Tree

John Elway Honda of Westminster

AutoNation AUTOMOTIVE RETAIL FRANCHISES: 371

John Elway Hyundai of Westminster
John Elway Jeep of Golden

John Elway Jeep of Littleton-Broadway
John Etway Lamborghini of Golden
John Elway Mazda of Westminster
John Elway Nissan of Englewood

John Elway Nissan of Westminster
John Elway Pontiac of Golden

John Elway Pontiac of Lone Tree

John Elway Subaru of Englewood

John Eiway Subaru of Golden

John Elway Toyota of Englewood

FLORIDA (73)

AutoWay Chevrolet of Clearwater
AutoWay Chevrolet of Tampa
AutoWay Dodge of Clearwater
AutoWay Ford of Bradenton

AutoWay Ford of Brooksville
AutoWay Ford of St. Petersburg
AutoWay GMC Truck of Clearwater
AutoWay GMC Truck of Port Richey
AutoWay Honda of Clearwater
AutoWay Lincoln-Mercury of Brooksville
AutoWay Lincoln-Mercury of Clearwater
AutoWay Nissan of Clearwater
AutoWay Pontiac of Clearwater
AutoWay Pontiac of Port Richey
AutoWay Toyota of Pinellas Park
Coastal Cadillac of Port Richey
Cook-Whitehead Ford of Panama City
Courtesy Acura of Longwood
Courtesy Buick of Longwood
Courtesy Chevrolet of Orlando

Denver

Courtesy Chevrolet of Orlando-Airport
Courtesy Chrysler of Casselberry
Courtesy Chrysler of Orlando
Courtesy Ford of Sanford

Courtesy GMC of Longwood

Courtesy Honda of Longwood
Courtesy Jeep of Casselberry
Courtesy Jeep of Orlando

Courtesy Oldsmobile of Orlando
Courtesy Pontiac of Longwood
Courtesy Toyota of Winter Park
Lexus of Clearwater and Tampa Bay
Lexus of Paim Beach

Maroone Chevrolet of Delray
Maroone Chevralet of Fort Lauderdale
Maroone Chevrolet of Greenacres
Maroone Chevrolet of Miami
Maroone Chevrolet of Pembroke Pines
Maroone Chevrolet of West Dade
Maroone Chrysler of Coconut Creek
Maroone Dodge of Delray

Maroone Dodge of Miami

Maroone Dodge of Pembroke Pines
Maroone Ford of Delray

Maroone Ford of Fort Lauderdale
Maroone Ford of Margate

Maroone Ford of Miami

Maroone Honda of Hollywood
Maroone Honda of Miami

Maroone Jeep of Coconut Creek
Maroone Kia of Hollywood

Maroone Lincoln-Mercury North Palm
Maroone Nissan of Defray

Maroone Nissan of Fort Lauderdale
Maroone Nissan of Miami
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Maroone Nissan of Pembroke Pines
Maroone Nissan of Perrine

Maroone Oldsmobile of Pembroke Pines
Maroone Isuzu of Pembroke Pines

Maroone Toyota of Davie

Mercedes-Benz of Fort Lauderdale
Mercedes-Benz of Miami

Mercedes-Benz of Orlando

Mike Shad Chryster of Jacksonville-Cassat
Mike Shad Chrysler of Jacksonville-Southpoint
Mike Shad Ford of Jacksonville-The Avenues
Mike Shad Ford of Orange Park

Mike Shad Jeep of Jacksonville-Cassat
Mike Shad Jeep of Jacksenville-Southpeint
Nissan of Brandon

Porsche of North Orlando

Sunrise Nissan of Jacksonville

Sunrise Nissan of Orange Park

GEORGIA (18)

Gene Evans Team Ford of Union City
Team Buick of Union City

Team Chevrolet of Alpharetta-Northpoint
Team Chrysler of Lithia Springs

Team Dodge of Stone Mountain

Team Dodge of Union City

Team Ford of Alpharetta-Northpoint
Team Ford of Atlanta

Team Ford of Marietta

Team GMC of Union City

Team Honda of Lithia Springs

Team Jeep of Lithia Springs

Team Mitsubishi of Lithia Springs
Team Mitsubishi of Raswell-Northpoint

@ Markets with 5 or more
AutoNation franchises

{//

~yJacksonville
L

~)Orlando

Team Nissan of Lithia Springs
Team Nissan of Marietta
Team Pontiac of Union City
Team Toyota of Lithia Springs

ILLINOIS (18)

Dodge Waorld of Des Plaines

Downers Grove Dodge

Elmhurst Dodge

Elmhurst Kia

Golf Mill Ford of Niles

Horizon Chevrolet of Naperville
Jaguar of Tinley Park

Jerry Gleason Chevrolet of Forest Park
Jerry Gleason Dodge of Forest Park
Joe Madden Ford of Downers Grove
Laure! Audi of Tinley Park

Laurel Audi of Westmont

Laure! BMW of Westmont

Lauret Motors (Mercedes-Benz) of Westmont
Laure! Yolvo of Tinley Park

Libertyville Toyota

Mercedes-Benz of Naperville
Woodfield Ford of Schaumburg

MARYLAND (8)

Fox Buick of Laure!

Fox Chevrolet of Baltimore
Fox Chevrolet of Laurel

Fax Chevrolet of Timonium
Fox GMC of Laurel

Fox Isuzu of Laurel

Fox Mitsubishi of Baltimore
Fox Pontiac of Laurel

MICHIGAN (2)
Taylor Chrysler
Taylor Jeep

MINNESOTA (1)
Tousley Ford of White Bear Lake

NORTH CAROLINA (1)
Superior Nissan of Charlotte

NEVADA (15)

Desert Audi of Las Vegas

Desert BMW of Henderson and Las Vegas
Desert Buick of Henderson

Desert Buick of Las Vegas

Desert Chrysler of Las Vegas

Desert Dodge of Las Vegas

Desert GMC of Henderson

Desert GMC of Las Vegas

Desert Honda of Las Vegas

Desert Jeep of Las Vegas

Desert Lincoln-Mercury of Las Vegas
Desert Nissan of Las Vegas

Desert Pontiac of Henderson

Desert Toyota of Las Vegas

Desert Volkswagen of Las Vegas

NEW YORK (1)
Al Maroone Ford of Williamsville

OHIO (9)

Bob Townsend Ford of Cincinnati
Eastgate Ford of Dayton

Ed Mullinax Ford of Amherst

John Lance Ford of Westlake

Multinax Ford of North Canton
Mullinax Ford of Wickliffe

Mullinax Jeep of Mayfield

Mullinax Lincoln-Mercury of Brunswick
Mulfinax Lincoln-Mercury of Mayfield

TENNESSEE (10)

Dobbs Ford of Memphis-Mt. Mariah
Dobbs Ford of Memphis-Wolfchase
Dobbs GMC of Memphis

Dobbs Honda on Memphis-Mendenhall
Dobbs Honda of Memphis-Covington Pike
Dobbs Mazda of Memphis

Dobbs Mitsubishi of Memphis

Dobibs Nissan of Memphis

Dobbs Pontiac of Memphis

West Side Honda of Knoxville
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TEXAS (59)

AutoNation Dodge of Grand Prairie
AutoNation Dodge of Irving

Bankston Chrysler of Frisco

Bankston Ford of Frisco

Bankston Jeep of Frisco

Bankston Lincoin-Mercury of Dallas
Bankston Nissan of Dallas

Bankston Nissan of Irving

Bankston Nissan of Lewisville
Bledsoe Dodge of Dailas-Duncanville South
Bledsoe Dodge North of Dallas

BMW of Houston North

Champion Buick of Corpus Christi
Champion Chevrolet of Houston
Champion Chevrolet Texas of Austin
Champion Chrysler of Austin
Champion ford of Houston

Champion GMC of Austin

Champion GMC of Corpus Christi
Champion Hyundai of Austin
Champion Jeep of Austin

Champion Pontiac of Austin
Champion Pontiac of Corpus Christi
Champion Toyota of Austin

Charlie Hillard Buick of Fort Worth
Charlie Hillard Ford of Fort Worth
Charlie Hillard Mazda of Fort Worth
Charlie Thomas Acura of Houston
Charlie Thomas Chevrolet of Houston
Charlie Thomas Chrysfer of Houston
Charlie Thomas Ford of Houston
Charlie Thomas Hyundai of Houston
Charlie Thomas Jeep of Houston
Charlie Thomas {suzu of Houston
Chariie Thomas Mitsubishi of Houston
Cleburne Ford

County Line Ford of Burleson
Hudiburg Chevrolet of North Richiand Hills
Jay Marks Toyota of Houston

Ken Nichols Ford of Fort Worth

Les Marks Chevrolet of La Porte

Les Marks Mazda of La Porte
Mercedes-Benz of Houston Greenway
Mercedes-Benz of Houston North
Midway Chevrolet of Amariflo

Padre Ford of Corpus Christi

Padre Mazda of Corpus Christi
Payton Wright Ford of Grapevine
Plains Chevralet of Amarillo

Port City Imports Honda of Corpus Christi
Port City Imports Hyundai of Corpus Christi
Port City Imports Volvo of Corpus Christi
Quality Nissan of Amarillo

Steakley Chevrolet of Dallas

Texan Ford of Arlington

Texan Ford of Katy

Texan Isuzu of Houston

Texan Lincoln-Mercury of Houston
Westgate Chevrolet of Amarilto

WASHINGTON (18)

Appfeway Audi of Spokane
Appleway Chevrolet of Spokane
Appleway Mazda of Spokane
Appleway Mitsubishi of Spokane
Appleway Subaru of Spokane
Appleway Toyota of Spokane
Appleway Valkswagen of Spokane
BMW of Bellevue

Dodge of Bellevue

Ford of Kirkland

Kirkland Buick

Kirkland GMC

Kirkland Pontiac

Northwest Nissan of Lynwood
Prestige Ford of Bellevue

Town & Country Chrysfer of Seattfe
Town & Country Jeep of Seattle
Town & Country Nissan of Seattle




AutoNation BOARD OF DIRECTORS

H. Wayne Huizenga
Chairman of the Board

Mike Jackson
Chief Executive Officer

Harris W. Hudson
Vice Chairman of the Board

Robert J. Brown
Chairman & Chief
Executive Officer

B&C Associates, Inc.

(a management consulting
and public relations firm)

William C. Crowley !
President &

Chief Operating Officer
ESL Investments, Inc.
(an investment firm)

J. P, Bryanl2

Senior Managing Director
Torch Energy Advisors, Inc.
(an outsourcing and service
provider to the oil and

gas industry)

Michael G. DeGroote
Chairman

Century Business
Services, Inc.

(a provider of professional
business services and
products)

Rick L. Burdick!
Partner

Akin, Gump, Strauss,
Hauer & Feld, L.L.P.
(a taw firm)

George D. Johnson, Jr.2
Chief Executive Officer
Extended Stay America, Inc.
(an economy extended stay
lodging chain)

Edward S. Lampert 2
Chairman &

Chief Executive Officer
ESL Investments, Inc.
{an investment firm)

John J. Melk 1
Chairman & Chief Executive

Officer

Fisher Island Holdings, LLC
(developer of residential resort
properties )

irene B. Rosenfeld 1.2
Group Vice President

Kraft Foods, Inc,;
President-Operations,
Research & Development and
Information Systems, Kraft
Canada, Mexico & Puerto
Rico (a manufacturer and
distributor of packaged food
and food service products)

AutoNation
Senior Management

Mike Jackson
Chief Executive Officer

Michael E. Maroone
President, Chief Operating Officer

Craig T. Monaghan
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Thomas S. Butler
Senior Vice President
Corporate Development

John R. Drury
Senior Vice President
Marketing

Robert F. Dwors
Senior Vice President
Corporate Real Estate Services

James D. Evans, Jr.
Senior Vice President
New Vehicles

Jonathan P. Ferrando
Senior Vice President, General Counsel
& Secretary

Patricia A. McKay
Senior Vice President
Finance

Peter C. Smith
Senior Vice President
Human Resources

Allan D. Stejskal
Senior Vice President
Operations

Kevin P, Westfall

Senior Vice President
Finance & Insurance

Board Committees

! Audit Committee

2 Compensation and Nominating Committee




SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

(X1 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001
OR

[ 1] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Commission File Number: ¢-13107

AutoNation, Inc.
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(954) 769-6060
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Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information
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Item 1. BUSINESS

Introduction

AutoNation, Inc. is the largest automotive retailer in the United States. As of December 31, 2001, we
owned and operated 368 new vehicle franchises from 278 dealerships located in major metropolitan markets in
17 states, predominantly in the Sunbelt region of the United States. Our dealerships, which we believe include
some of the most recognizable and well-known dealerships in our key markets, sell 35 different brands of new
vehicles. The core brands of vehicles that we sell, representing approximately 95% of the new vehicles that we
sold in 2001, are manufactured by Ford, General Motors, DaimlerChrysler, Toyota, Nissan, Honda and
BMW.

We offer a diversified range of automotive products and services beyond new vehicles, such as used
vehicles, vehicle maintenance and repair services, vehicle parts, extended service contracts, insurance products
and other aftermarket products, and we arrange financing for vehicle purchases through third-party finance
sources. We believe that the significant scale of our operations and the quality of our managerial talent allow
us to achieve efficiencies in our key markets by, among other things, reducing redundant operating expenses,
improving asset management and sharing and implementing best practices across our dealerships.

Our common stock, par value $.01 per share, is listed on The New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol “AN.” For information concerning our financial condition, results of operations and related financial
data, and business combinations, you should review the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” section in this document. - You should also review and consider the risks
relating to our business, operations, financial performance and cash flows that we describe in the “Risk
Factors” section of this document.

Recent Developments

Refinancing of Indebtedness. During 2001, we successfully completed the refinancing of substantially all
of our non-vehicle-related indebtedness and achieved our objective of substantially diversifying our sources of
capital and extending the average maturities of our debt. On August 10, 2001, we sold $450.0 million of 9.0%
senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2008 at a price of 98.731% of face value and we entered into two new
senior secured revolving credit facilities with an aggregate borrowing capacity of $500.0 million at LIBOR-
based interest rates. One of the facilities is a 364-day revolving credit facility that provides an aggregate
borrowing capacity of up to $200.0 million and the other facility is a five-year facility that provides an
aggregate borrowing capacity of up to $300.0 million. As of December 31, 2001, there were no amounts
outstanding under our revolving credit facilities. In 2001, we also entered into two mortgage facilities with
automotive manufacturers’ captive finance subsidiaries with five- and ten-year terms, respectively, and an
aggregate borrowing capacity of $300.0 million, of which $153.4 million was outstanding as of December 31,
2001. Both facilities bear interest at a LIBOR-based interest rate and are secured by mortgages on certain of
our dealerships’ real property. We used the net proceeds of these financings to repay outstanding amounts due
under our prior $1.0 billion credit facility, which we terminated in August 2001, and certain other
indebtedness. We intend to use funds drawn from these facilities to make future capital investments in our
current business, to complete strategic dealership acquisitions, to repurchase our common stock and for
working capital and other general corporate purposes.

Exit from Retail Auto Loan Underwriting Business. 1n December 2001, we decided to exit the business
of underwriting retail automobile loans for customers at our dealerships, which we determined was not a part
of our core specialty automotive retail business. We will continue to provide automobile loans for our
customers through unrelated third-party financing sources, which historically have provided more than 95% of
the auto loans made to our customers. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we incurred a pre-tax charge of $85.8
million to reflect a write-down of our outstanding auto loans and related assets in our portfolio and to cover
costs associated with our exit from the auto loan business. We include additional details about these charges in
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the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section of this
document, as well as in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Bankruptcy of ANC Rental Corporation. In November 2001, ANC Rental Corporation, which we spun
off to our stockholders in June 2000, filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code in Wilmington, Delaware. In connection with ANC Rental’s bankruptcy, we were called on
to perform under guarantees we provided with respect to certain real properties leased by ANC Rental and we
may be called on in the future to perform under certain other credit enhancements and guarantees we provide
with respect to ANC Rental. As a result, we agreed to assume certain real property leases and are taking other
actions in order to control and attempt to mitigate our exposure, In the fourth quarter of 2001, we incurred a
pre-tax charge of $20.0 million included in net income from discontinued operations relating to our
assumption of these real property leases and certain other costs we incurred or expect to incur as a result of
ANC Rental’s bankruptcy. We estimate that, excluding the liabilities associated with this fourth quarter
charge, our remaining potential pre-tax financial exposure related to ANC Rental may be in the range of $25.0
million to $60.0 million, although we cannot assure you that our exposure will not be materially above that
range. For a further discussion of our exposure relating to ANC Rental, you should review the “Risk Factors”
section of this document.

Business Strategy

As a specialty retailer, our business model is focused on developing and maintaining long-term
relationships with our customers. The foundation of our business model is operational excellence. We are
pursuing the following strategies to achieve our targeted level of operational excellence:

e Deliver a superior customer experience at our dealerships.

o Leverage our significant scale to improve our operating efficiency.
o Increase our productivity.

* Build a powerful brand in each of our local markets.

Our strategies are supported by our use of information and e-technology. We have used our significant
scale to become an industry leader in marketing our dealerships and vehicle inventory via the Internet,
including through our own websites and third-party websites with whom we have lead-referral relationships.
We have also developed a subscriber network of independent dealerships across the United States to which we
can refer customer leads that cannot be fulfilled by our dealerships.

By pursuing our strategies and leveraging information and e-technology to enhance our customer
relationships, we hope to convince potential customers who live or work in our markets that an educated
vehicle buying decision cannot be made without considering our dealerships.

Deliver a Superior Customer Expevience

Our goal is to deliver a superior customer experience at our dealerships. Our efforts to improve our
customers’ experiences at our dealerships include the following initiatives in key areas of our business:

o Customer Service: We strive to maintain high levels of customer satisfaction at our dealerships
by providing a positive sales and service experience for our customers. The compensation of our
key dealership personnel is based on, among other things, the quality of customer service they
provide, as evidenced by their dealership’s customer satisfaction index, or CSI, scores. These
scores, which we use to measure the customer service performance of our dealerships, are derived
from data accumulated by the vehicle manufacturers through individual customer surveys.

o Parts and Service Sales: Our dealerships’ goal is to make it easy for customers to commence,
continue or resume their service relationship with us. Our key initiatives to achieve this include
offering a variety of services on a “Fast or Free” basis (for example, our dealerships offer to
complete a customer’s oil change within 30 minutes or it is free), remaining open for service
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during extended evening and weekend hours and offering competitive service pricing for widely
available services. We also are focused on managing our service pricing to ensure that we have
competitive, standardized and transparent pricing. We expect these efforts, which include market-
and brand-specific grid pricing and a menu-driven selection process, to improve our customers’
satisfaction with our service process and improve our margins.

Finance and Insurence and Other Aftermarket Product Sales: We have improved our finance
and insurance business by adopting across our dealership network standardized finance and
insurance operating best practices, such as the use of our customer-friendly *“full-disclosure”
finance and insurance menu and standardized closing process.

Leverage Our Significant Scale

We continue to leverage our status as the largest automotive retailer in the United States to further
improve our cost structure by obtaining significant cost savings in our business through, among other things,
reduced compensation and marketing costs and improved working capital management. We have imple-
mented the following key initiatives to achieve these goals: '

¢ Manage Compensation, Advertising and Other Expenses: We are managing our business and
leveraging our scale with a goal of reducing our compensation expense as a percentage of revenue
and maximizing our advertising buying power. To achieve our targeted reduction in compensation
expense, we are implementing standardized compensation guidelines at each of our dealerships,
taking into account the vehicle brand and size of the dealership. With respect to our advertising
program initiative, we have developed an advertising budget management tool, which is a
proprietary web-based tool that we use in conjunction with our outside advertising agency to plan
the advertising budget for each of our dealerships and to monitor the actual advertising
expenditures and their effectiveness. We also are developing standardized guidelines for other
types of expenses incurred by our dealerships. We intend to develop further national vendor
relationships to standardize our dealerships’ approach to purchasing certain equipment, supplies
and services and to leverage our scale to improve our buying power.

Reduce Days Supply of New and Used Vehicles: We are managing our new and used vehicle
inventories to optimize the days supply of vehicles that we have at any given time at our
dealerships. During 2001, we implemented a web-based tracking system to enable us to more
closely monitor each of our dealerships’ inventories and we established standardized days supply
targets for each of our vehicle brands. We are also (1) managing our new and used vehicle
inventories across the dealerships within each of our markets and (2) targeting our inventory
purchasing on the more popular model packages. During 2001, we reduced our average days
supply of new and used vehicles by six and four days, respectively, as compared to 2000.

Decrease Time to Convert Receivables into Cash: We have decreased the amount of time that
our dealerships take to receive payment on retail finance contract receivables (or “contracts-in-
transit”). We plan to continue to do so, in part, by (1) continuing to adopt and implement best
practices concerning sales and contracts-in-transit flow processing, (2) developing and using a
web-based tool to monitor our dealerships’ contracts-in-transit and (3) developing relationships
with preferred lenders who can expeditiously process our dealerships’ contracts-in-transit. During
2001, we improved our average contracts-in-transit reported days outstanding to seven days as
compared to eight days during 2000.

Increase Productivity

The following are examples of key initiatives we have implemented to increase productivity:

e Improve Our Dealerships’ Service Capacity. We are using our industry-leading scale and
resources to improve our service capacity with a program to actively recruit, train and retain new
service technicians, who are currently in extremely high demand across our industry, so that we
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can maximize our service bay utilization. We also have developed and implemented at our
dealerships our proprietary Production Planning and Tracking System, which is a customized
server-based program that allows us to track each of our service technicians on a day-to-day basis
to maximize productivity and performance. Our dealerships also operate our team-based Ad-
vanced Production Structure service process (APS) in which small dedicated teams of techni-
cians and customer specialists work together to maximize service efficiency and customer
satisfaction. APS has led to gains in labor productivity and customer satisfaction in our service
departments. ‘

o Used Vehicle Sales: We are the largest seller of used vehicles in the United States. Each of our
dealerships offers a variety of used vehicles. We are leveraging our status as the largest retailer of
new vehicles in the country to develop competitive advantages over our principal used vehicle
competitors and to expand our used vehicle business. We accept as trade-ins more used vehicles
than any of our competitors, which we believe gives us better access than our competitors to
desirable used vehicle inventory. We also believe that, as a result of the scale of our new vehicle
dealerships, we are in a superior position to realize the benefits of vehicle manufacturer-supported
certified used vehicle programs, which we believe are improving consumers’ attitudes toward used
vehicles. Our used vehicle business strategy is focused on (1) .using our customized vehicle
inventory management system, which is our standardized approach to pricing and inventory mix
based on our dealerships’ established best practices, and (2) leveraging our scale with comprehen-
sive used vehicle marketing programs, such as market-wide promotional events and standardized
approaches to advertising that we can implement more effectively than smaller retailers because of
our size. We have also dedicated management personnel in each of our geographic operating
districts to oversee and optimize our used vehicle operations. We continue to utilize the Internet
to improve our used vehicle operations by providing consumers an easy-to-navigate means to view
our large on-line inventory of used vehicles.

o Finance and Insurance and Other Aftermarket Product Safes: Each new or used vehicle sale
presents our dealerships with the opportunity to arrange for financing of the vehicle through
preferred third party lenders and to sell an extended service contract, insurance products and other
aftermarket products, such as vehicle accessories, maintenance programs or a theft deterrent
system, some of which are offered and administered by independent third parties. We continue to
focus on improving our finance and insurance business by (1) completing the implementation of
standardized district-specific pricing guidelines, (2) continuing to maintain an optimal mix of
retail finance sources for our customers’ vehicle purchases and (3) standardizing the compensa-
tion guidelines for all of our finance and insurance associates.

Build Powerful Local-Market Brands

In each of our key markets where we have significant market share, we are aligning our dealerships under
a single market-specific retail brand. We believe that by having our dealerships within each local market speak
with one voice to the automobile-buying public we can achieve marketing and advertising cost savings and
efficiencies that generally are not available to many of our local competitors. We also believe that we can
create a superior retail brand awareness in our markets. Since our inaugural launch of the “John Elway” brand
across our Denver dealerships in December 1998, we have launched six other local retail brands in our key
markets, including “Maroone” in South Florida, “AutoWay” in Tampa, Florida, “Courtesy” in Orlando,
Florida, “Desert” in Las Vegas, Nevada, “Team” in Atlanta, Georgia and “Mike Shad” in Jacksonville,
Florida. We expect to launch additional local retail brands in several key markets during 2002.

Operations

As of December 31, 2001, we owned and operated 368 new vehicle franchises from 278 dealerships
located in major metropolitan markets in 17 states, predominantly in the Sunbelt region of the United States.
Our dealerships, which we believe include some of the most recognizable and well-known dealerships in our
key markets, sell 35 different brands of new vehicles. The core brands of vehicles that we sell, representing
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approximately 95% of the new vehicles that we sold in 2001, are manufactured by Ford, General Motors,
DaimlerChrysler, Toyota, Nissan, Honda and BMW. Qur management structure is focused on our local
markets, where day-to-day decision-makers can be more responsive to the needs of local customers. We have
established nine districts to manage our automotive retailing business. The number of dealerships within each
of our districts varies.

Our dealerships offer a diversified range of automotive products and services beyond new vehicles, such as
used vehicles, vehicle maintenance and repair services, vehicle parts, extended service contracts, insurance
products and other aftermarket products, and we arrange financing for vehicle purchases through third-party
finance sources. Additionally, we operate collision repair centers in most of our key markets. For a discussion
of how we intend to leverage our strengths to improve our operations, you should read the “Business Strategy”
section of this document.

Each of our dealerships acquires new vehicles for retail sale directly from the applicable automotive
manufacturer or distributor. Accordingly, we depend in large part on the automotive manufacturers and |
distributors to provide us with high quality vehicles that consumers desire and to supply us with such vehicles
at suitable locations, quantities and prices. Our operations, particularly our sales of new vehicles, are impacted
by the sales incentive programs conducted by the automotive manufacturers to spur consumer demand for
their vehicles. We generally acquire used vehicles from customer trade-ins, at the termination of leases and, to
a lesser extent, auctions and other sources. We recondition used vehicles acquired for retail sale at our
dealerships’ service facilities and capitalize costs related thereto as used vehicle inventory. Used vehicles that
we do not sell at our dealerships generally are sold at wholesale through auctions.

We provide a wide variety of financial products and services to our customers. We offer to arrange for our
customers to finance vehicles through installment loans or leases with third-party lenders, including the
vehicle manufacturers’ and distributors’ captive finance subsidiaries, in exchange for a commission payable to
us by the third-party lender. Commissions that we receive from these third-party lenders may be subject to
chargeback, in full or in part, if loans that we arrange are defaulted or prepaid or upon other specified
circumstances. However, our exposure to loss in connection with arranging third-party financing generally is
limited to the commissions that we receive. Since our mid-1999 exit from the vehicle lease underwriting
business and our December 2001 exit from the retail auto loan underwriting business, we have not directly
financed our customers’ vehicle leases or purchases. We had finance receivables and related assets of
approximately $175.7 million at December 31, 2001, however, with respect to auto leases and loans that we
previously underwrote. For a further discussion of the risks to which we are subject with respect to our prior
auto loan and lease underwriting activities, you should refer to the “Risk Factors” section of this document.

We also offer our customers various vehicle protection products, such as extended service contracts,
vehicle protection and maintenance programs, and insurance products. The products that we offer include
products that are sold and administered by independent third parties, including the vehicle manufacturers’
captive finance subsidiaries. Pursuant to our arrangements with these third-party finance and insurance
product providers, we either sell the products on a straight commission basis or we sell the product, recognize
commission and assume some or all of the underwriting risk through reinsurance agreements by our captive
insurance subsidiaries. Accordingly, we are subject to the risk that claims under reinsured extended warranty
and credit insurance products may exceed related reserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and prospects.

Sales and Marketing

We retailed approximately 712,000 new and used vehicles through our dealerships in 2001. We sell a
broad range of well-known vehicle makes within each of our markets.

Our marketing efforts focus on mass marketing and targeted marketing in our local markets and are
designed to build our business with a broad base of repeat, referral and new customers. We engage in
marketing and advertising primarily through newspapers, radio, television, direct mail and outdoor billboards
in our local markets. As we have consolidated our dealership operations in certain of our key markets under
one local retail brand name in conjunction with our trademarks, we have been able to focus our efforts on
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building consumer awareness of the selected local retail brand name rather than on the individual legacy
names under which our dealerships operated prior to their acquisition by us. We also have begun to develop
newspaper, television and radio advertising campaigns that we can modify for use in multiple local markets,
which we expect to result in advertising cost savings and efficiencies that are not generally available to smaller
retailers. We expect to continue to realize cost savings and efficiencies with respect to advertising expenses,
due to our ability to obtain efficiencies in developing advertising campaigns and due to our ability to gain
volume discounts and other concessions as we increase our presence within our key markets and consolidate
our dealerships under a single retail brand name in our local markets.

We have also been able to use our significant scale to market our dealerships and vehicle inventory via the
Internet. According to industry analysts, the majority of new car buyers nationwide will consult the Internet
for new car information, which is expected to result in better-informed customers and a more efficient sales
process. Our Internet operations focus on generating customer leads through AutoNation.com and our
dealership websites. We also have entered into lead referral agreements pursuant to which we purchase
customer leads generated by various third-party websites, including Microsoft’s MSN Carpoint, America
Online, Edmunds, Kelley Blue Book, NADA Guides and other sources. We use Compass, our proprietary
Internet-based lead management software tool, to respond to, track and provide customer leads to our
dealerships for fulfillment. We also have lead referral agreements with independent dealerships pursuant to
which we distribute customer leads that we cannot fulfill within our dealership network.

Agreements with Vehicle Manufacturers

We have entered into framework agreements with most major vehicle manufacturers and distributors.
These agreements contain provisions relating to our management, operation, advertising and marketing, and
acquisition and ownership structure of automotive dealerships franchised by such manufacturers. The
agreements also set limits on the number of dealerships that we may acquire of the particular manufacturer,
nationally, regionally and in local markets, and contain certain restrictions on our ability to name and brand
our dealerships and certain requirements pertaining to our operating performance, which, if we do not satisfy,
may adversely impact our ability to make further acquisitions of such manufacturer’s dealerships. In addition,
some of these framework agreements give the manufacturer or distributor the right to acquire at fair market
value, or the right to compel us to sell, the automotive dealerships franchised by that manufacturer or
distributor under specified circumstances in the event of a change in control of our company (generally
including certain material changes in the composition of our board of directors during a specified time period,
the acquisition of 20% or more of the voting stock of our company by another manufacturer or distributor or
the acquisition of 50% or more of our voting stock by a person, entity or group not affiliated with a vehicle
manufacturer or distributor) or other extraordinary corporate transactions such as a merger or sale of all of our
assets.

We operate each of our new vehicle dealerships under a franchise agreement with a vehicle manufacturer
or distributor. The franchise agreements grant the franchised automotive dealership a non-exclusive right to
sell the manufacturer or distributor’s brand of vehicles and offer related parts and service within a specified
market area. The franchise agreements also grant the dealerships the right to use the manufacturer or
distributor’s trademarks in connection with dealership operations. The franchise agreements impose numerous
operational requirements and restrictions on the automotive dealerships relating to inventory levels, working
capital levels, the sales process, marketing and branding, showroom and service facilities and signage,
personnel, changes in management and monthly financial reporting, among other things. The franchise
agreements also provide for termination of the agreement by the manufacturer or non-renewal for a variety of
causes, subject to applicable state franchise laws that limit a manufacturer’s right to terminate a franchise.

Regulations

Automotive and Other Laws and Regulations

We operate in a highly regulated industry. A number of state and federal laws and regulations affect our
business. In every state in which we operate, we must obtain various licenses in order to operate our
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businesses, including dealer, sales, finance and insurance related licenses issued by state regulatory authorities.
Numerous jaws and regulations govern our conduct of business, including those relating to our sales,
operating, financing, advertising and employment practices. These laws and regulations include state franchise
laws and regulations and other extensive laws and regulations applicable to new and used motor vehicle
dealers, as well as a variety of other laws and regulations. These laws also include federal and state wage-hour,
anti-discrimination and other employment practices laws.

Our financing activities with customers are subject to federal truth-in-lending, consumer leasing and
equal credit opportunity regulations as well as state and local motor vehicle finance laws, installment finance
laws, usury laws and other installment sales laws. Some states regulate finance fees and charges that may be
paid as a result of vehicle sales. Claims arising out of actual or alleged violations of law may be asserted
against us or our dealerships by individuals or governmental entities and may expose us to significant damages
or other penalties, including revocation or suspension of our licenses to conduct dealership operations and
fines.

Our operations are subject to the National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act, Federal Motor Vehicle
Safety Standards promulgated by the United States Department of Transportation and various state motor
vehicle regulatory agencies. The imported automobiles we purchase are subject to United States customs
duties and, in the ordinary course of our business we may, from time to time, be subject to claims for duties,
penalties, liquidated damages or other charges.

Environmental, Health and Safety Laws and Regulations

Our operations involve the use, handling, storage and contracting for recycling and/or disposal of
materials such as motor oil and filters, transmission fluids, antifreeze, refrigerants, paints, thinners, batteries,
cleaning products, lubricants, degreasing agents, tires and fuel. Consequently, our business is subject to a
complex variety of federal, state and local requirements that regulate the environment and public health and
safety.

Most of our dealerships utilize aboveground storage tanks, and to a lesser extent underground storage
tanks, primarily for petroleum-based products. Storage tanks are subject to periodic testing, containment,
upgrading and removal under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and its state law counterparts.
Clean-up or other remedial action may be necessary in the event of leaks or other discharges from storage
tanks or other sources. In addition, water quality protection programs under the federal Water Pollution
Control Act (commonly known as the Clean Water Act), the Safe Drinking Water Act and comparable state
and local programs govern certain discharges from some of our operations. Similarly, certain air emissions
from operations such as auto body painting may be subject to the federal Clean Air Act and related state and
local laws. Certain health and safety standards promulgated by the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration of the United States Department of Labor and related state agencies also apply.

Some of our dealerships are parties to proceedings under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act, or CERCLA, typically in connection with materials that were sent to former
recycling, treatment and/or disposal facilities owned and operated by independent businesses. The remedia-
tion or clean-up of facilities where the release of a regulated hazardous substance occurred is required under
CERCLA and other laws.

We incur significant costs to comply with applicable environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations in the ordinary course of our business. We do not anticipate, however, that the costs of such
compliance will have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial
condition, although such outcome is possible given the nature of our operations and the extensive environmen-
tal, public health and safety regulatory framework.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive industry. We believe that the principal competitive factors in the
automotive retailing business are location, service, price and selection. Each of our markets includes a large

7




number of well-capitalized competitors that have extensive automobile dealership managerial experience and
strong retail locations and facilities. According to the National Automobile Dealers Association, Automotive
News and reports of various financial analysts, the automotive retail industry is served by approximately
22,000 franchised automotive dealerships and approximately 54,000 independent used vehicle dealers. Several
other public companies are establishing national or regional automotive retail chains. We are subject to
competition from dealers that sell the same brands of new vehicles that we sell and from dealers that sell other
brands of new vehicles that we do not represent in a particular market. Qur new vehicle dealership competitors
have franchise agreements with the various vehicle manufacturers and, as such, generally have access to new
vehicles on the same terms as us. Additionally, we are subject to competition in the automotive retailing
business from private market buyers and sellers of used vehicles.

In general, the vehicle manufacturers have designated specific marketing and sales areas within which
only one dealer of a given vehicle line or make may operate. Under most of our framework agreements with
the vehicle manufacturers, our ability to acquire multiple dealers of a given line-make within a particular
market is limited. We are also restricted by various state franchise laws from relocating our dealerships or
establishing new dealerships of a particular line-make within any area that is served by another dealer of the
same line-make. Accordingly, to the extent that a market has multiple dealers of a particular line-make, as
most of our key markets do with respect to most vehicle lines we sell, we are subject to significant intra-brand
competition.

We also are subject to competition from independent automobile service shops and service center chains.
We believe that the principal competitive factors in the service and repair industry are price, the use of
factory-approved replacement parts, familiarity with dealers’ makes and customer service. In addition to
competition for vehicle sales and service, we face competition in our insurance and after-market products
business. We believe the principal competitive factors in these businesses are convenience, price and contract
terms.

We also face competition with respect to our automotive retailing e-commerce marketing and sales
strategy. A number of e-commerce companies and traditional companies, such as the vehicle manufacturers,
in particular, and other franchised dealership groups, have established automotive-related websites over the
past few years and compete with us in two e-commerce areas: (i) sales of vehicles to retail customers via the
Internet and (ii) generation and sales to other automobile dealers of customer referrals or “leads” obtained via
the Internet. The success of our e-commerce strategy will depend on our ability to (i) develop websites and an
Internet sales process that appeal to on-line automobile buyers, (ii) obtain high visibility on the Internet,
whether through our own websites or through strategic partnerships and alliances with other e-commerce
companies, and (iii) develop and maintain a cost structure that permits us to operate efficiently.

Imsurance and Bonding

Our business exposes us to the risk of liabilities arising out of our operations. Liabilities involve, for
example, claims of employees, customers or third parties for personal injury or property damage occurring in
the course of our operations. We could also be subject to fines and civil and criminal penalties in connection
with alleged violations of federal and state regulatory requirements.

The automotive retailing business is also subject to substantial risk of property loss due to the significant
concentration of property values at dealership locations. Under self-insurance programs, we retain various
levels of aggregate loss limits, per claim deductibles and claims handling expenses as part of our various
insurance programs, including property and casualty and employee medical benefits. Costs in excess of this
retained risk per claim are insured under various contracts with third party insurance carriers. We estimate the
ultimate costs of these retained insurance risks based on actuarial evaluation and historical claims experience,
adjusted for current trends and changes in claims-handling procedures. The level of risk we retain may change
in the future as insurance market conditions or other factors affecting the economics of our insurance
purchasing change. Although we have, subject to certain limitations and exclusions, substantial insurance, we
cannot assure you that we will not be exposed to uninsured or underinsured losses that could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Provisions for retained losses and deductibles are made by charges to expense based upon periodic
evaluations of the estimated ultimate liabilities on reported and unreported claims. The insurance companies
that underwrite our insurance require that we secure certain of our obligations for deductible reimbursements
with collateral. Our collateral requirements are set by the insurance companies and, to date, have been
satisfied by posting surety bonds, letters of credit and cash deposits. Our collateral requirements may change
from time to time based on, among other things, our claims experience.

Employees

As of December 31, 2001, we employed approximately 30,000 full time employees, approximately 650 of
whom were covered by collective bargaining agreements. We believe that we have good relations with our
employees.

Seasonality

Our operations generally experience higher volumes of vehicle sales in the second and third quarters of
each year due in part to consumer buying trends and the introduction of new vehicle models. Also, demand for
cars and light trucks is generally lower during the winter months than in other seasons, particularly in regions
of the United States where dealerships may be subject to harsh winters. Accordingly, we expect our revenue
and operating income generally to be lower in our first and fourth quarters as compared to our second and third
quarters. However, revenue may be impacted significantly from quarter to quarter by other factors unrelated to
season, such as vehicle manufacturer incentive programs. Comparisons of our sales and operating results
between different quarters within a single year are, therefore, not necessarily indicative of our future
performance.

Trademarks

We own a number of registered service marks and trademarks and also have a number of applications
pending to register, among other marks, AutoNation @ and AutoNation*”. Pursuant to agreements with
vehicle manufacturers, we have the right to use and display manufacturers’ trademarks, logos and designs at
our dealerships and in our advertising and promotional materials, subject to certain restrictions. We also have
licenses pursuant to various agreements with third parties authorizing the use and display of the marks and/or
logos of such third parties, subject to certain restrictions. The current registrations of our service marks and
trademarks in the United States and foreign countries are effective for varying periods of time, which we may
renew periodically, provided that we comply with all applicable laws.

Executive Officers of AutoNation

We provide below information regarding each of our executive officers.

Name Age Position

H. Wayne Huizenga ................... 64 Chairman of the Board

Mike Jackson . ...... ... ..ol 53 Chief Executive Officer and Director

Michael E. Maroone . .................. 48 President and Chief Cperating Officer

Craig T. Monaghan . ................... 45  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Patricia A. McKay .................... 44  Senior Vice President — Finance

Jonathan P. Ferrando .................. 36 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Allan D. Stejskal ...................... 43  Senior Vice President — Operations

H. Wayne Huizenga has served as our Chairman of the Board since August 1995. He also served as our
Chief Executive Officer from August 1995 until October 1996, and as Co-Chief Executive Officer from
October 1996 through September 1999. Since May 1998, Mr. Huizenga has been Chairman of the Board of
Republic Services, Inc., a solid waste services company, and served as its Chief Executive Officer from May
1998 until December 1998. Since May 2000, Mr. Huizenga has been Vice Chairman of ZixIt Corporation, a
provider of security services and products for Internet use. Since September 1996, Mr. Huizenga has been
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Chairman of the Board of Boca Resorts, Inc., an owner and operator of luxury resort hotels and related
facilities. Since August 1995, Mr. Huizenga also has been Chairman of the Board of Extended Stay America,
Inc., an operator of extended stay lodging facilities. Mr. Huizenga served as the Vice Chairman of Viacom
Inc., a diversified entertainment and communications company, from September 1994 until October 1995,
during which time he also served as the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Cfficer of Blockbuster
Entertainment Group, a division of Viacom. From April 1987 through September 1994, Mr. Huizenga served
as the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Blockbuster Entertainment Corporation, during
which time he helped build Blockbuster from a 19-store chain to the world’s largest video rental company. In
September 1994, Blockbuster merged with Viacom. In 1971, Mr. Huizenga co-founded Waste Management,
Inc., which he helped build into the world’s largest integrated solid waste services company, and he served in
various capacities, including as President, Chief Operating Officer and director, from its inception until 1984,
Mr. Huizenga owns the Miami Dolphins, as well as Pro Player Stadium in South Florida, and is a director of
NationsRent, Inc., a national equipment rental company, and ANC Rental Corporation, a car rental company.

Mike Jackson has served as our Chief Executive Officer and as a Director of our company since
September 1999. From October 1998 until September 1999, Mr. Jackson served as Chief Executive Officer of
Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC, a North American operating unit of DaimlerChrysler AG, a multinational
automotive manufacturing company. From April 1997 until September 1999, Mr. Jackson also served as
President of Mercedes-Benz USA. From July 1990 until March 1997, Mr. Jackson served in various
capacities at Mercedes-Benz USA, including as Executive Vice President immediately prior to his appoint-
ment as President of Mercedes-Benz USA. Mr. Jackson was also the managing partner from March 1979 to
July 1990 of Euro Motorcars of Bethesda, Maryland, a regional group that owned and operated eleven
automotive dealership franchises, including Mercedes-Benz and other brands of automobiles.

Michael E. Maroone has served as our President and Chief Operating Officer since August 1999.
Following our acquisition of the Maroone Automotive Group in January 1997, Mr. Maroone served as
President of our New Vehicle Dealer Division. In January 1998, Mr. Maroone was named President of our
Automotive Retail Group with responsibility for our new and used vehicle operations. Prior to joining our
company, Mr. Maroone was President and Chief Executive Officer of the Maroone Automotive Group, one of
the country’s largest privately-held automotive retail groups.

Craig T. Monaghan has served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since May 2000.
From June 1998 to May 2000, Mr. Monaghan was Chief Financial Officer of iVillage.com, a leading women’s
network on the Internet. From 1991 until June 1998, Mr. Monaghan served in various executive capacities for
Reader’s Digest Association, Inc., most recently as Vice President and Treasurer.

Patricia A, McKay has served as our Senior Vice President — Finance since November 1999. From
November 1999 until April 2000, Ms. McKay also served as our Acting Chief Financial Officer and
Controller. Ms. McKay joined our company in January 1997 as Vice President, Operations Controller. From
February 1998 until November 1999, Ms. McKay served as Senior Vice President of Finance of our
Automotive Retail Group. Prior to joining our company, Ms. McKay served from October 1988 until
December 1996 in various positions with Dole Food Company, Inc., a multinational packaged food company,
most recently as Vice President of Finance and Controller.

Jonathan P. Ferrando has served as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since
January 2000. Mr. Ferrando joined our Company in July 1996 and served in various capacities within our
Legal Department, including as Senior Vice President and General Counsel of our Automotive Retail Group
from March 1998 until January 2000. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Ferrando was a corporate attorney in
Chicago, Illinois with Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom from 1991 until 1996.

Allan ID. Stejskal has served as our Senior Vice President of Operations since September 2001. Since
joining our company in September 2000, Mr. Stejskal served in various capacities prior to his appointment as
Senior Vice President of Operations, including as Senior Vice President, e-Commerce, and Senior Vice
President, Chief Information Officer. From 1995 until joining AutoNation, Mr. Stejskal held various positions
at Automatic Data Processing, Inc., a leading national provider of computerized transaction processing, data
communication and information services, most recently as Vice President, Dealer Services Division, a position
he held since February 1998.
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Risk Factors; Forward-Looking Statements May Prove Inaccurate

Our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects, and the prevailing
market price and performance of our common stock, may be adversely affected by a number of factors,
including the matters discussed below. Certain statements and information set forth in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, as well as other written or oral statements made from time to time by us or by our authorized
executive officers on our behalf, constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Federal
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We intend for our forward-looking statements to be covered
by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, and we set forth this statement and these risk factors in order to comply with such safe
harbor provisions. You should note that our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K or when made and we undertake no duty or obligation to update or revise our
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Although we
believe that the expectations, plans, intentions and projections reflected in our forward-looking statements are
reasonable, such statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. The risks, uncertainties
and other factors that our stockholders and prospective investors should consider include, but are not limited
to, the following:

The automotive vetailing industry is cyclical and is sensitive to changing economic conditions and manufac-
turer incentive programs; we expect retail sales of new vehicles in the United States during 2002 to decrease by
an estimated five to ten percent compared to 2001 on a unit basis, although sales levels ave very difficult to
predict; lower actual sales levels could materially adversely impact our business.

Sales of motor vehicles, particularly new vehicles, historically have been subject to substantial cyclical
variation characterized by periods of oversupply and weak demand. We believe that many factors affect the
industry, including consumer confidence in the economy, the level of personal discretionary spending, interest
rates, fuel prices, credit availability, unemployment rates, the level of manufacturer incentives and the number
of consumers whose vehicle leases are expiring. New vehicle sales rates during 2001 varied significantly during
the year. Following the September 2001 terrorist attacks in the United States, the industry experienced a
dramatic but brief decline in sales of new vehicles that was followed by sales of new vehicles at a near-record
pace during the remainder of 2001, driveén primarily by increased manufacturer incentives, such as the 0%
financing offers during the fourth quarter of 2001. We expect retail sales of new vehicles in the United States
during 2002 to decrease by an estimated five to ten percent compared to 2001 on a unit basis. However, the
level of retail sales of new vehicles during 2002 is very difficult to predict, as evidenced by automotive
manufacturers and various industry experts predicting a wide range of sales level decreases during 2002 as
compared to 2001, and is likely to be impacted by vehicle manufacturers’ willingness to continue significant
incentive programs, as well as other factors noted above. A significant change in new vehicle sales levels in the
United States during 2002 as compared to our expectations could cause our actual earnings results to differ
from our projected earnings results. Cur sales of used vehicles, finance and insurance products, vehicle service
and parts and collision repair services also may be subject to variation as a result of the foregoing factors,
although we do not believe such variation is likely to be as significant as with respect to new vehicle sales.

ANC Rental Corporation recently filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. Accordingly, we have been called
on to perform under certain guarantees with respect to ANC Rental, we may be called on to perform under
additional credit enhancements and guarantees in the future, and we may have claims against ANC Rental
that may be discharged in bankruptcy, any of which could have a matervial adverse effect on our business,
Jinancial condition, cash flows and prospects.

In connection with the spin-off of ANC Rental Corporation and its subsidiaries (“ANC Rental”) in June
2000, we agreed to provide certain guarantees and credit enhancements with respect to financial and other
performance obligations of ANC Rental, including acting as a guarantor under certain motor vehicle and real
property leases between ANC Rental and Mitsubishi Motor Sales of America, Inc. (“Mitsubishi”) and acting
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as an indemnitor with respect to certain surety bonds issued on ANC Rental’s behalf. We are also a party to
certain agreements with ANC Rental (the “ANC Rental Agreements”), including a separation and
distribution agreement, a reimbursement agreement and a tax sharing agreement, pursuant to which both
ANC Rental and we have certain obligations. On November 13, 2001, ANC Rental filed voluntary petitions
for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in
Wilmington, Delaware. In connection with ANC Rental’s bankruptcy, we were called on to perform under
nine of the twelve real property leases between ANC Rental and Mitsubishi for which we provided guarantees.
As a result, we agreed to assume these real property leases, which expire in 2017, in order to control and
attempt to mitigate our exposure relating thereto. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we incurred a pre-tax charge
of $20.0 million included in net income from discontinued operations to reflect our assumption of the nine
leases with Mitsubishi and certain other costs that we expect to incur as a result of ANC Rental’s bankruptcy.
We continue to guarantee the remaining three leases with Mitsubishi until their expiration in 2017, and we
remain subject to various other ANC Rental obligations. ANC Rental has been accounted for as a
discontinued operation and, accordingly, we expect that additional charges recorded by us pursuant to the
foregoing credit enhancements and guarantees or with respect to claims under the ANC Rental Agreements,
if any, would not impact our reported results from continuing operations.

We have reached an agreement with Mitsubishi pursuant to which our aggregate financial exposure
relating to motor vehicles leased by ANC Rental from Mitsubishi is capped at $10.0 million. Although we
believe our financial exposure under the agreement will likely decrease significantly in 2002, we could have
potential exposure under the agreement for up to five to ten years. Our indemnification obligations with
respect to the surety bonds issued on behalf of ANC Rental are capped at $29.5 million in the aggregate. We
could have potential exposure under the indemnification obligations for approximately five years. Due to the
bankruptcy of ANC Rental, obligations of ANC Rental to us under the terms of the ANC Rental Agreements
may be extinguished or our claims against ANC Rental under such agreements may be unenforceable. These
claims could include reimbursement obligations that ANC Rental may have to us in connection with
payments made by us with respect to the foregoing credit enhancements and guarantees, as well as
indemnification rights with respect to any payments that we make to the Internal Revenue Service as a result
of audit adjustments in our consolidated federal income tax returns relating to ANC Rental’s automotive
rental businesses prior to the spin-off. Such audit adjustments, if any, would likely be resolved in the next
three to five years. We estimate that, based on our assessment of the risks involved in each matter and
excluding the liabilities associated with the $20.0 million charge we incurred in the fourth quarter of 2001, our
remaining potential pre-tax financial exposure related to ANC Rental may be in the range of $25.0 million to
$60.0 million. However, the exposure is difficult to estimate and we cannot assure you that our aggregate
obligations under these credit enhancements, guarantees and ANC Rental Agreements will not be maternially
above the range indicated above or that we will not be subject to additional claims as a result of ANC Rental’s
bankruptcy filing, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows
and prospects.

We have engaged in certain transactions that arve under review by the IRS and may have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cask flows.

At December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, we had $853.8 million and $877.2 million, respectively,
of net deferred tax liabilities. In 1997 and 1999, we engaged in certain transactions that are of a type that the
Internal Revenue Service has indicated it intends to challenge. Approximately $680 million of the net deferred
tax liabilities relate to these transactions, including a significant portion that relates to a transaction that
generally had the effect of accelerating certain future projected tax deductions. The amount of foregone tax
deductions in 2001 relating to that transaction was approximately $44 million. These transactions are currently
under review by the Internal Revenue Service. We believe that our tax returns appropriately reflect such
transactions, and that we have established adequate reserves with respect to any tax liabilities relating to these
transactions. However, an unfavorable settlement or adverse resolution of these matters could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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We are subject to vesidual value visk and consumer credit visk in connection with our lease portfolio, consumer
credit risk in connection with our finance receivables and related assets and underwriting visk in connection
with our reinsurance of warranty and protection products.

Through AutoNation Financial Services, until December 2001, we underwrote installment auto loans to
our customers and, until mid-1999, we provided our customers an opportunity to finance vehicles through
leases with us. In December 2001, we decided that we would no longer underwrite retail auto loans for
customers at our dealerships. We incurred a pre-tax charge in the fourth quarter of 2001 of $85.8 million to
reflect a write-down of our outstanding auto loans in our portfolio and to cover costs associated with our exit
from that business. However, we will continue to manage and wind down our outstanding loan portfolio.
Accordingly, we remain subject to consumer credit risk in connection with our portfolio of installment
receivables, our lease portfolio and other related assets. We also remain subject to residual value risk in
connection with our lease portfolio in the event of a decline in the market value of our leased vehicles.
Although we intend to retain current third-party service providers to collect outstanding balances from our
customers and service our loan portfolio, we cannot assure you that we will be able to collect payments due on
such loans or that our loan reserves will be sufficient. A continuation or worsening of the current economic
recession could have a material adverse effect on the value of our installment receivables portfolio, our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Certain of the vehicle warranty and extended protection products that we offer to our customers are
products that are sold and administered by independent third parties, including the vehicle manufacturers’
captive finance subsidiaries, and for which we retain some or all of the underwriting risk through captive
insurance subsidiaries. To the extent that we retain some or all of the underwriting risk associated with
particular warranty and extended protection products, we are subject to the risk that claims under the products
may exceed applicable reserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition, cash flows and prospects.

Our revolving credit facilities and the indenture relating to our senior unsecured notes contain certain
restrictions on our ability to conduct our business.

The indenture relating to the $450.0 million of 9% senior unsecured notes that we sold in August 2001
and the credit agreements relating to the two revolving credit facilities that we entered into in August 2001
contain numerous financial and operating covenants that limit the discretion of our management with respect
to various business matters. These covenants place significant restrictions on, among other things, our ability
to incur additional indebtedness, to create liens or other encumbrances, to make certain payments (including
dividends and repurchases of our shares) and investments, and to sell or otherwise dispose of assets and merge
or consolidate with other entities. Our revolving credit facilities also require us to meet certain financial ratios
and tests that may require us to take action to reduce debt or act in a manner contrary to our business
objectives. A failure by us to comply with the obligations contained in our revolving credit facilities or the
indenture could result in an event of default under our revolving credit facilities or the indenture, which could
permit acceleration of the related debt and acceleration of debt under other instruments that may contain
cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. If any debt is accelerated, our assets may not be sufficient to
repay in full such indebtedness and our other indebtedness. In addition, we have granted certain manufactur-
ers the right to acquire, at fair market value, our automotive dealerships franchised by that manufacturer in
specified circumstances upon the exercise of remedies under the indenture for our senior unsecured notes and
the credit agreements for our two revolving credit facilities.

Our dealerships are dependent on the programs and operations of vehicle manufacturers and, therefore, any
changes to such programs and operations may adversely affect our dealership operations and, in turn, affect
our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and prospects.

The success of our dealerships is dependent on vehicle manufacturers in several key respects. First, we
rely exclusively on the various vehicle manufacturers for our new vehicle inventory. Additionally, manufactur-
ers generally support their dealerships by providing direct financial assistance in various areas, including,
among others, advertising assistance and favorable inventory financing. Beyond funds paid directly to their
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dealerships, the manufacturers also from time to time have established various incentive programs designed to
spur consumer demand for their vehicles, such as the 0% financing offers during the fourth quarter of 2001.
From time to time, manufacturers modify and discontinue these dealer assistance and consumer incentive
programs, which could have a significant adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations and cash
flows. Any event that has a material adverse effect on the financial condition, management or designing,
marketing, production or distribution capabilities of the vehicle manufacturers with whom we hold franchises,
such as general economic downturns or recessions, increases in interest rates, labor strikes, supply shortages,
adverse publicity, product defects, vehicle recall campaigns, litigation or poor product mix/unappealing
vehicle design, may result in a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition, cash flows and prospects.

We are subject to vestrictions imposed by vehicle manufacturers that may adversely impact our business,
Sfinancial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects, including our ability to acquire new
deglerships.

The franchise agreements to which our dealerships are subject and the framework agreements that we
have with many major vehicle manufacturers provide the manufacturers with considerable influence over the
operations of our current dealerships, including the level at which we capitalize our dealerships, the condition
of our dealership facilities, our performance standards with respect to sales volume and customer satisfaction,
our selection of dealership management, the naming and marketing of our dealerships, the operations of our e-
commerce sites and our ability to acquire additional dealerships. They also grant the manufacturer the right to
terminate our franchise for a variety of reasons (including any unapproved change of ownership or
management or transfer of franchise rights) subject to state laws. From time to time, we may also be
precluded under these agreements from acquiring additional franchises to the extent we are not meeting
certain performance criteria at our existing dealerships until our performance improves in accordance with the
agreements. While we believe that we will be able to renew all of our franchise agreements, we cannot
guarantee that all of our franchise agreements will be renewed or that the terms of the renewal will be
favorable to us. In addition, some of our framework agreements give the manufacturer or distributor the right
to acquire at fair market value, or the right to compel us to sell, the automotive dealerships franchised by that
manufacturer or distributor under specified circumstances in the event of a change in control of our company
(generally including certain material changes in the composition of our board of directors during a specified
time period, the acquisition of 20% or more of our voting stock by another vehicle manufacturer or distributor
or the acquisition of 50% or more of our voting stock by a person, entity or group not affiliated with a vehicle
manufacturer or distributor) or other extraordinary corporate transactions such as a merger or sale of all of our
assets. The restrictions in our franchise and framework agreements also may prevent or deter prospective
acquirors from acquiring control of us, which may adversely impact our equity value. In addition, we have
granted certain manufacturers the right to acquire, at fair market value, our automotive dealerships franchised
by that manufacturer in specified circumstances upon the exercise of remedies under the indenture for our
senior unsecured notes and the credit agreements for our two revolving credit facilities.

We ave subject to numerous legal and administrative proceedings, which, if the outcomes arve adverse to us,
could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and prospects.

We are involved, and will continue to be involved, in numerous legal proceedings arising out of the
conduct of our business, including litigation with customers, employment related lawsuits, class actions,
purported class actions and actions brought by governmental authorities.

In October 2000, the California Department of Motor Vehicles (*“California DMV”) brought an action
against one of our subsidiaries’ dealerships for alleged customer fraud as well as several other claims. In April
2001, we settled the California DMV action and a related action by the State of California. We have reached a
preliminary settlement of three purported civil class actions {which have been consolidated) relating to this
matter, subject to certain conditions. Other lawsuits and claims have also been filed or made against the
dealership based on the allegations underlying the California DMV case.
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In an action filed in Florida state court in 1999, one of our subsidiaries was accused of violating, among
other things, the Florida Motor Vehicle Retail Sales Finance Act and the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act by allegedly failing to deliver executed copies of retail installment contracts to customers of our
former used vehicle megastores. On October 31, 2000, the court certified the class of customers on whose
behalf the action would proceed. In July 2001, Florida’s Fourth District Court of Appeals upheld the
certification of the class.

Many of our Texas dealership subsidiaries have been named in three class actions brought against the
Texas Automobile Dealer’s Association (““TADA”) and new vehicle dealerships in Texas that are members of
the TADA. The actions allege that since January 1994 Texas dealers have deceived customers with respect to
a vehicle inventory tax and violated federal antitrust and other laws as well. Two of the cases are currently
pending in Texas state court and the third is pending in the federal district court for the Eastern District of
Texas.

In addition to the foregoing cases, we are also a party to numerous other legal proceedings that arose in
the conduct of our business. The results of these matters and any matters brought against us in the future
cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

We ave subject to extensive governmental vegulation and if we are found to be in violation of any of these
regulations, our business, operating results and prospects could suffer.

The automotive retailing industry is subject to a wide range of federal, state and local laws and
regulations, such as those relating to licensing, retail financing, consumer protection, environmental, health
and safety, wage-hour, anti-discrimination and other employment practices. The violation of these laws and
regulations can result in administrative, civil or criminal sanctions against us, which may include a cease and
desist order against the subject operations or even revocation or suspension of our license to operate the
subject business. We may need to spend considerable time, effort and money to keep our existing or acquired
facilities in compliance with applicable federal, state and local regulation of health, safety, environment,
zoning and land use regulations.

We may encounter limitations on our ability to acquive automotive dealerships in key markets on favorable
terms or at all, which may materially adversely affect our ability to execute our acquisition strategy.

The automotive retail industry is a mature industry. Accordingly, the growth of our automotive retail
business since our inception has been primarily attributable to acquisitions of franchised automotive dealership
groups. The significant consolidation in the industry in our key markets over the last several years has resulted
in fewer desirable dealerships or dealership groups being available for purchase on reasonable terms. The
major manufacturers have limited the number of dealerships that we may acquire nationally, regionally or
within any given market, and each individual acquisition is subject to specific approval from the applicable
vehicle manufacturer. We have reached or approached acquisition limits set forth in a number of our
framework agreements, particularly regarding market limits, and may encounter additional limitations in the
future as we continue to expand. In addition, from time to time, we may also be precluded under these
agreements from acquiring additional franchises to the extent we are not meeting certain performance criteria
at our existing dealerships until our performance improves in accordance with the agreements. Acquisitions
involve a number of risks, many of which are unpredictable and difficult to quantify or assess, including,
among other matters, risks relating to known and unknown liabilities of the acquired business and projected
operating performance. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to acquire
dealerships selling desirable automotive brands at desirable locations in our key markets or that any such
acquisitions can be completed on favorable terms or at all.

New accounting pronouncements on business combinations and goodwill will affect our future earnings.

On June 30, 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) finalized and issued Statements
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”) and No. 142,
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“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). We have adopted the provisions of SFAS 141, which
require all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method,
eliminating the pooling of interests method. Additionally, acquired intangible assets should be separately
recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained through contractual or other legal rights, or if the
intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, rented, or exchanged, regardless of the acquirer’s intent to
do so.

SFAS 142, upon adoption, eliminates goodwill amortization over its estimated useful life. However,
goodwill will be subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value based test.
Intangible assets with definitive lives will need to be amortized over their useful lives.

The provisions of SFAS 142 applied immediately to all acquisitions completed after June 30, 2001.
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives existing at June 30, 2001 were amortized until
December 31, 2001. Effective January 1, 2002 such amortization ceased, as companies were required to adopt
the new rules on that date. By the end of the first quarter of calendar year 2002, we will, as required, begin to
perform an impairment analysis of intangible assets. SFAS 142 requires us upon adoption and at least annually
to reassess the intangible assets, including goodwill, previously recorded in connection with earlier purchase
acquisitions, as well as their useful lives. Furthermore, we will, as required, complete the first step of the
goodwill transition impairment test by June 30, 2002 which requires determining the fair value of the reporting
unit, as defined by SFAS 142, and comparing it to the carrying value of the net assets allocated to the
reporting unit. If this fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further analysis is required. If the fair value of
the reporting unit is less than the carrying value of the net assets, we must perform step two of the SFAS 142
impairment test, which requires us to allocate the implied fair value of the reporting unit to all underlying
assets and liabilities, including both recognized and unrecognized tangible and intangible assets, based on their
fair value. Any impairment noted must be recorded at the date of adoption restating first quarter results, if
necessary. Impairment charges, if any, that result from the application of the above test would be recorded as
the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the first quarter of the year ending December 31,
2002,

We will not be able to determine the ultimate impact of SFAS 142 on our consolidated financial
statements until such time as we apply its provisions. We include additional details about these new
accounting pronouncements in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” section of this document, as well as in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

We lease our corporate headquarters facility pursuant to a long-term lease. We also own or lease
numerous facilities relating to our operations in 17 states. These facilities consist primarily of automobile
showrooms, display lots, service facilities, collision repair centers, supply facilities, automobile storage lots,
parking lots and offices. We believe that our facilities are sufficient for our needs and are in good condition in
all material respects. In 2001, we entered into mortgage facilities secured by certain of our dealerships’ real
property, as discussed further in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations™ section in this document and the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements
presented elsewhere herein.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved, and will continue to be involved, in numerous legal proceedings arising out of the
conduct of our business, including litigation with customers, employment related lawsuits, class actions,
purported class actions and actions brought by governmental authorities.

In October 2000, the California Department of Motor Vehicles (“California DMV”) brought an action
against one of our subsidiaries’ dealerships for alleged customer fraud as well as several other claims. In April
2001, we settled the California DMV action and a related action by the State of California. We have reached a
preliminary settlement of three purported civil class actions (which have been consolidated) relating to this
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matter, subject to certain conditions. Other lawsuits and claims have also been filed or made against the
dealership based on the allegations underlying the California DMV case.

In an action filed in Florida state court in 1999, one of our subsidiaries was accused of violating, among
other things, the Florida Motor Vehicle Retail Sales Finance Act and the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act by allegedly failing to deliver executed copies of retail installment contracts to customers of our
former used vehicle megastores. On October 31, 2000, the court certified the class of customers on whose
behalf the action would proceed. In July 2001, Florida’s Fourth District Court of Appeals upheld the
certification of the class.

Many of our Texas dealership subsidiaries have been named in three class actions brought against the
Texas Automobile Dealer’s Association and new vehicle dealerships in Texas that are members of the TADA.
The actions allege that since January 1994 Texas dealers have deceived customers with respect to a vehicle
inventory tax and violated federal antitrust and other laws as well. Two of the cases are currently pending in
Texas state court and the third is pending in the federal district court for the Eastern District of Texas.

We intend to vigorously defend ourselves and assert available defenses with respect to each of the
foregoing matters. Further, we have certain insurance coverage and rights of indemnification with respect to
certain aspects of the foregoing matters. However, a settlement or an adverse resolution of one or more of
these matters may result in the payment of significant costs and damages, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

In addition to the foregoing cases, we are also a party to numerous other legal proceedings that arose in
the conduct of our business. We do not believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. However, the
results of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of
these matters could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows and prospects.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our stockholders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001.
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PART II
Item 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Market Information, Holders and Dividends

Cur common stock is traded on The New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AN.” The following
table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of the common stock as
reported on the consolidated transaction reporting system.

High Low
2001
Fourth QUarter . . . .ottt e e e $13.07 $8.53
B F s B0 1T o 1 o O 12,24 7.75
Second QUarter .. ... i e e 12.59  8.61
FrSt QUart e . . o ittt e e 9.24 494
2000
FoUrth QAT . .. oottt e e e e e $ 7.19 $4.63
B 1 (o B 1T o - 731  5.63
Second QUAMET ...ttt e e e e 10.75  7.00
J 2T A 3P o £ O U 931 6.13

Cn March 235, 2002, the closing price of our common stock was $13.30 per share as reported by the
NYSE. On March 25, 2002, there were approximately 3,400 holders of record of our common stock.

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock during our two most recent fiscal
years. We currently intend to retain our earnings for future growth and, therefore, we do not anticipate paying
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The indenture for our senior unsecured notes and the credit
agreements for our two revolving credit facilities restrict our ability to declare cash dividends.

On June 30, 2000, we completed the tax-free spin-off to our stockholders of all of the capital stock of
ANC Rental Corporation. The spin-off was completed by issuing to each AutoNation stockholder of record as
of June 16, 2000 one share of ANC Rental common stock for each eight shares of AutoNation common stock
held by such stockholder. The stock prices presented above reflect historical stock prices during all periods
presented and have not been adjusted to give retroactive effect to the distribution of ANC Rental common
stock to our stockholders.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

You should read the following Selected Financial Data in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” our Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes thereto and other financial information included elsewhere in this Form 10-X.

As of and for the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2060 1999 1998 1997
(In millions, except per share data)

Revenue ....... ...t $19,989.3 $20,599.0 $20,099.0 $12,653.7 $6,124.6
Income (loss) from continuing operations .. .... $ 2450 $§ 3281 $§ (31.5) % 2258 § 134
Netincome. ....oooviiiniiennnnanns $ 2323 § 3299 § 2829 $§ 4995 § 439.7
Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Continuing operations ..................... $ 74§ 91 & (0N $ S50 $ .03

Discontinued operations ................... (.04) — 73 .60 1.06

NetiNCOME . ..o vvt o e $ J0 § 9l § 66 $ 110 § 1.09
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Continuing operations ..................... $ a3 0% 91 $ (01§ 438 $ .03

Discontinued operations ................... (.04) — 73 .58 .99

Netincome........cooiiiiiiianeaanvannnn. $ 69 % 91 § 66 § 106 § 1.02

Total assets . .........ccvvviiinnn.n. $ 80654 §$ 88673 §$9,583.1 § 84122 $4,.852.1

Long-term debt, net......................... $ 6473 $ 8504 § 8361 $ 5209 $ 26i.1
Shareholders’ equity.........coviieiiiiin.., $ 3,8279 §$ 3,8425 $ 4,601.2 $ 54242 $3,484.3
Diluted weighted average common shares

outstanding ........ ... ... ot 3352 361.4 429.8 470.9 430.9

See Notes 10, 12, 13, 15, 16 and 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of
shareholders’ equity, finance underwriting and asset securitizations, restructuring activities and impairment
charges, earnings (loss) per share, discontinued operations and acquisitions and divestitures, respectively, and
their effect on comparability of year-to-year data. See “Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity
and Related Stockholder Matters” for a discussion of our dividend policy.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the “Introduction,” “Recent Develop-
ments,” “Business Strategy,” and “Risk Factors” sections of this Form 10-K and our Consolidated Financial
Statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Consolidated Results of Operations

AutoNation, Inc. is the largest automotive retailer in the United States. As of December 31, 2001, we
owned and operated 368 new vehicle franchises from 278 dealerships located in major metropolitan markets in
17 states, predominantly in the Sunbelt region of the United States. Our dealerships, which we believe include
some of the most recognizable and well-known dealerships in our key markets, sell 35 different brands of new
vehicles. The core brands of vehicles that we sell, representing approximately 95% of the new vehicles that we
sold in 2001, are manufactured by Ford, General Motors, DaimlerChrysler, Toyota, Nissan, Honda and
BMW.

We offer a diversified range of automotive products and services beyond new vehicles, such as used
vehicles, vehicle maintenance and repair services, vehicle parts, extended service contracts, insurance products
and other aftermarket products, and we arrange financing for vehicle purchases through third-party finance
sources. We believe that the significant scale of our operations and the quality of our managerial talent allow
us to achieve efficiencies in our key markets by, among other things, reducing redundant operating expenses,
improving asset management and sharing and implementing best practices across our dealerships.
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Floorplan interest expense, which previously was classified as interest expense below operating income, is
now presented as a component of cost of operations in the accompanying Consolidated Income Statements to
provide more meaningful information regarding our margin performance. In addition, loan and lease
underwriting losses (income) related to our finance and lease underwriting businesses, which we have exited,
have been presented separately for all periods presented in the accompanying Consolidated Income
Statements. Prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current presentation.

The following is a summary of our Consolidated Income Statements both in gross dollars and on a diluted
per share basis for the periods indicated (in millions, except per share data):

2001 2000 1999
Diluted Diluted Diluted
Per Per Per

Dollars Share Dollars Share Dollars  Share

Income (loss) from continuing operations ........... $2450 $ .73 $328.1 $.91 $(31.5) $(.07)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of

income taxes:

Automotive rental ........ ... . i, (12.7)  (.04) 13.1 .03 (71.0)  (.17)

Solid waste services ... i — — — — 40.4 10

Gain (loss) on disposal of segments ................ — — (11.3)  (.03) 345.0 .80

(12.7)  (.04) 1.8 — 3144 .73

NetINCOME . o vttt iiie st $2323 § 69 $3299 $.91 $2829 § .66

The following factors have impacted our financial condition and results of operations and may cause our
reported financial data not to be indicative of our future financial condition and operating results:

o Growth Through Acquisitions: From 1997 through 1999, we aggressively expanded our automo-
tive retail operations through the acquisition of franchised automotive dealerships. Since 1999, we
have not completed and do not expect to complete acquisitions at the same pace as we had in the
past. See further discussion under the heading “Business Acquisitions and Divestitures”.

e Non-core Divestitures: From 1999 through 2001, we divested of various non-core assets and
dealerships, including the Flemington dealership group and our former outdoor media business for
net proceeds of $59.0 million and $89.0 million, respectively. See further discussion under heading
“Business Acquisitions and Divestitures”.

s Spin-Off of ANC Rental Corporation: In June 2000, we completed the tax-free spin-off of our
former automotive rental business. ANC Rental declared bankruptey in November 2001. We
were called on to perform under certain of our credit enhancements and guarantees and,
accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2001 we incurred a pre-tax charge of $20.0 million included in
Income from Discontinued Operations to reflect our assumption of these obligations. See further
discussion under the heading “Discontinued Business Segments”.

o Exit from Auto Loan Underwriting Businesses: In 2001, we recorded a pre-tax charge of $85.8
million to reflect a write-down of outstanding auto loans and related assets in our retail auto loan
portfolio and to cover costs associated with our exit from the auto loan underwriting business. See
further discussion under the heading “Auto Loan and Lease Underwriting Activities”.

o Restructuring and Impairment Charges: In 1999, we restructured certain of our operations to
exit our former used vehicle megastore business and to reduce our corporate workforce. See
further discussion under the heading “Restructuring Activities”.

» Share Repurchases: Since the inception of our Board-authorized share repurchase programs in
1998 through December 31, 2001, we have repurchased 155.0 million shares of our common stock
for an aggregate price of $1.7 billion, leaving approximately $260.3 million available for
repurchases under the programs, including an additional $250.0 million authorized in October
2001 by our Board of Directors. See further discussion under the heading “Financial Condition”.
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* Investment Write-down: In 2000, we recognized a pre-tax $30.0 million valuation write-down to
an equity-method investment in a privately held salvage and parts recycling business, as well as a
$5.0 million write-down to fair value of another equity-method investment, subsequently sold in
early 2001 at no additional gain or loss.

« Sale of Republic Services, Inc.: In 1998, our former solid waste services business completed an
initial public offering of 36.1% of its common stock. In 1999, we sold substantially all of our
remaining interests in Republic Services to the public. See further discussion under the heading
“Discontinued Business Segments”.

The following table provides a detailed reconciliation of how certain after-tax charges and gains have
impacted reported Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations for the periods indicated (in millions, except
earnings per share data):

2001 2000 1999
Diluted Diluted Diluted
Per Per Per
Dollars Share Dollars Share Dollars Share™
[ncome (loss) from continuing operations, as reported ........... $2450 $ .73 $328.1 § 91 $(3L.5) $(.07)
Certain charges and gains: :
Asset impairment and related charges-loan underwriting business 52.3 16 — — — —
Gain on sale of outdoor media business ...................... — — (33.4) (.09) — —
Asset impairment — minority equity investments .............. — — 219 .06 — —
Gain on sale of Republic Services stock ..................... — — (15.0) (.04) — —
Gain on sale of Flemington dealership group.................. (11.8)  (.04) — — — —
1999 restructuring and impairment charges ................... — - — — 2970 .68
Other ITEMS, MEL ..\ttt et et e i e eeaes 53 .02 1.2 — 23.2 .05
Income from continuing operations, excluding certain charges and
BRINS Lt $2908 $ .87 $302.8 $ .84 $288.7 $ .66

(1) Calculated using diluted weighted average common shares outstanding of 435.6 million due to the addition of common stock
equivalents that were anti-dilutive for the purpose of computing Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations, as reported.

Income from Continuing Operations, Excluding Certain Charges and Gains above is presented on a basis
other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The above information is presented
for informational purposes only and may not necessarily reflect our future results of operations. Unless
otherwise stated, the following discussions will focus on the results of continuing operations as reported, which
consists of our automotive retail business.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes
could differ from those estimates. We have identified the policies below that are critical to our business
operations and the understanding of our results of operations and involve significant estimates. For detailed
discussion of other significant accounting policies see Note 1, Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Inventory — Our inventory policy determines the valuation of inventory, which is a significant component
of our consolidated balance sheets. Inventory consists primarily of retail vehicles held for sale valued using the
specific identification method, net of reserves. Cost includes acquisition, reconditioning and transportation
expenses. Reserves are established based on vehicle inventory aging and management’s estimate of market
values. We are subject to the risk that our inventory may be overvalued from time to time primarily with
respect to used vehicles, which could require additional reserves to be recorded.
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Intangible Assets — Our policies related to intangible assets determine the valuation of intangible assets,
which is a significant component of our consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, these policies affect the
amount of future amortization and possible impairment expenses we may incur. Intangible assets consist
primarily of the cost of acquired businesses in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired. The cost in excess
of the fair value of net assets is amortized over forty years on a straight-line basis. In accordance with
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 1417), and
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS
142”), goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are no longer amortized but, instead are
subject to impairment tests at least annually. We will apply the new rules on accounting for goodwill and other
intangible assets beginning in the first quarter of 2002. During 2002, we will perform the required impairment
tests of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets as of January 1, 2002. We will not be able to determine
the ultimate impact of SFAS 142 on our consolidated financial statements until such time as we apply its
provisions. We are subject to financial statement risk to the extent that intangible assets become impaired due
to decreases in the fair market value of the related underlying business.

Commitments and Contingencies —

As further discussed in Note 9, Commitments and Contingencies, of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements we are involved, and will continue to be involved, in numerous legal proceedings arising out of the
conduct of our business, including litigation with customers, employment-related lawsuits, class actions,
purported class actions and actions brought by governmental authorities. We intend to vigorously defend
ourselves and assert available defenses with respect to each of these matters. Where necessary, we have
accrued our estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these proceedings based on consultation with
outside counsel, assuming various strategies. Further, we have certain insurance coverage and rights of
indemnification with respect to certain aspects of these matters. However, a settlement or an adverse
resolution of one or more of these matters may result in the payment of significant costs and damages, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and
prospects.

In June 2000, we completed the tax-free spin-off of our former automotive rental business, ANC Rental.
ANC Rental declared bankruptcy in November 2001. We were called on to perform under certain of our
credit enhancements and guarantees and, accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2001 we incurred a pre-tax
charge of $20.0 million included in Income from Discontinued Operations primarily to reflect our assumption
of these obligations. Additional remaining potential pre-tax financial exposure related to ANC Rental may be
in the range of $25.0 million to $60.0 million. However, the exposure is difficult to estimate and we cannot
assure you that our aggregate obligations under these credit enhancements, guarantees and ANC Rental
Agreements will not be materially above the range indicated above or that we will not be subject to additional
claims as a result of ANC Rental’s bankruptcy filing. See further discussion under the heading *Discontinued
Business Segments”.

Revenue Recognition — The majority of our revenue is from the sales of new and used vehicles, including
any commissions from related vehicle financings. We recognize revenue in the period in which products are
sold or services are provided. Commission revenue on warranty and insurance products sold in connection with
vehicle sales is recognized upon sale. Additionally, we may reinsure some or all of the underwriting risk related
to extended warranty and credit insurance products sold and administered by certain independent third parties
through our captive insurance subsidiaries. Revenue and related direct costs from these reinsurance
transactions are deferred and recognized over the life of the policies. Revenue is recognized in accordance with
the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in
Financial Statements” (“SAB 101”). SAB 101 provides guidance on the recognition, presentation and
disclosure of revenue in financial statements. In the future, should changes in conditions cause us to determine
that these criteria have not been met, revenue recognized for any reporting period could be adversely affected.

Finance and Lease Underwriting — Through our subsidiary, AutoNation Financial Services, until
December 2001, we underwrote installment auto loans to our customers and, until mid-1999, we provided our
customers an opportunity to finance vehicles through leases with us. In December 2001, we decided that we
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would no longer underwrite retail auto loans for customers at our dealerships. We incurred a pre-tax charge in
the fourth quarter of 2001 of $85.8 million to reflect a write-down of our outstanding auto loans and related
assets in our portfolio and to cover costs associated with our exit from that business. However, we will continue
to manage and wind down our outstanding loan portfolio and related assets. Accordingly, we remain subject to
consumer credit risk in connection with our portfolio of installment receivables, our lease portfolio and other
related assets. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that based on certain estimates and assumptions used,
our portfolio of installment receivables, our lease portfolio and other related assets could be overvalued and
require additional write-down. See further discussion in Note 12, Finance Underwriting and Asset Securitiza-
tions, of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes — Our income tax policy provides for deferred income taxes to show the effect of
temporary differences between the recognition of revenue and expenses for financial and income tax reporting
purposes and between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial
statements in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes” (“SFAS 1097). In 1997 and 1999, we engaged in certain transactions that are of a type that
the Internal Revenue Service has indicated it intends to challenge. Approximately $680 million of the net
deferred tax liabilities relate to these transactions, including a significant portion that relates to a transaction
that generally had the effect of accelerating certain future projected tax deductions. The amount of foregone
tax deductions in 2001 relating to that transaction was approximately $44 million. These transactions are
currently under review by the Internal Revenue Service. We believe that our tax returns appropriately reflect
such transactions, and that we have established adequate reserves with respect to any tax liabilities relating to
these transactions. However, an unfavorable settlement or adverse resolution of these matters could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Reported Operating Data:

Cur historical operating results include the results of acquired businesses from the date of acquisition for
acquisitions accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The following table sets forth: (1) the
components of revenue, with component percentages of total revenue; (2) the components of gross margin,
with gross margin percentages of applicable revenue; (3) selling, general and administrative expenses;
(4) store performance; and (5) retail vehicle unit sales:

Years ended December 31,

% Variance
2001 vs. % Variance
($ in millions) 2001 % 2000 % 2009 1999 % 2000 vs. 1999
Revenue:
New vehicle ........oooii i, $12,0000 60.0 $12,489.3 60.6 (3.9) $11,481.0 57.1 8.8
Used vehicle. ..ol 3,8832 194 3,860.2 18.7 .6 4,429.7 220 (12.9)
Parts and service . ........................ 2,4049 120 2,3349 113 3.0 22220 i1 5.1
Finance and insurance, net................. 489.6 2.4 431.8 2.1 13.4 4234 2.1 2.0
Other. . 1,211.6 6.2 1,482.8 7.3 (18.3) 1,542.9 7.7 (3.9)
Total revenue . ..................... $19,989.3 100.0 $20,599.0 100.0 (3.0) $20,099.0 100.0 25
Gross margin:
New vehicle ..., $ 8379 70 § 8574 6.9 (23) § 8389 7.3 2.2
Used vehicle. ... .o i 426.5 11.0 4374 113 (2.5) 447.8  10.1 (2.3)
Partsand service ........... ..o, 1,039.2 432 999.7 42.8 4.0 9338 420 7.1
Finance and insurance .................... 489.6 100.0 431.8 100.0 13.4 4234 100.0 2.0
Other ..o 80.7 6.7 95.8 6.5 (15.8) 146.7 9.5 (34.7)
Total gross margin.................. 2,8739 144 2,822.1 137 1.8 2,790.6 139 1.1
SG&A — Store ... 2,072.0 104 2,021.6 9.8 2.5 2,089.4 104 (3.2)
Store performance ........ .. ...l 801.9 4.0 800.5 3.9 2 701.2 35 14.2
S,G &A —Corporate . ..., 135.2 N 156.1 .8 (13.4) 190.0 9 (17.8)
Depreciation .. ..o 70.7 4 54.7 3 29.3 60.1 3 (9.0)
Amortization . ... ... e 81.2 4 79.1 4 2.7 62.9 ] 25.8
Loan and lease underwriting losses (income) ... 89.6 4 6.0 — n.m. (12.8) (1) (146.9)
Restructuring and impairment charges
(recoveries), N€t . ......cvvvieinininan.n 4.5 — (204) 1) (122.1) 416.4 2.1 (104.9)
Other gains. .. ..o i (19.3) (1) — — — —_ — —
Operating income (loss) ............... $ 4400 22§ 5250 2.5 (162) $ (154) (1) n.m.
Retail vehicle unit sales:
N W i e 454,000 489,000 (7.2) 469,000 4.3
Used ..o 258,000 255,000 1.2 315,000 (19.0)
712,000 744,000 4.3) 784,000 (5.1)

n.m, — Percentages are not meaningful,

Total revenue was $20.0 billion, $20.6 billion and $20.1 billion for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively. Gross margins were $2.9 billion, $2.8 billion and $2.8 billion for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The primary components of these changes are described
below.

New vehicle revenue decreased 3.9% to $12.0 billion in 2001 compared to 2000 due to a decrease in
volume of 7.2% partially offset by an increase in average revenue per unit of 3.3%. On a same store basis, new
vehicle revenue decreased 4.5%. On a same store basis, our new vehicle sales were primarily affected during
2001 by the lower demand experienced in the domestic product lines. New vehicle sales came to a near
standstill directly following the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001. The introduction of significant
manufacturer incentives greatly increased the pace of new vehicle sales during the final three months of 2001.
We expect retail sales of new vehicles in the United States during 2002 to decrease by an estimated five to ten
percent compared to 2001 on a unit basis. However, the level of retail sales of new vehicles during 2002 is very
difficult to predict, as evidenced by various industry experts predicting a wide range of sales level decreases
during 2002 as compared to 2001, and is likely to be significantly impacted by vehicle manufacturers’
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willingness to continue significant incentive programs. A significant change in new vehicle sales levels in the
United States during 2002 as compared to our expectations could cause our actual earnings results to differ
from our projected results. In 2000, new vehicle sales were strong until the fourth quarter when new vehicle
demand dramatically slowed. New vehicle sales in 2000 were also impacted by a modest decrease in same
store unit sales.

New vehicle gross margin reflects the net result of the sales price from the sale of a vehicle less the cost of
acquisition, including vehicle net carrying costs (floorplan interest expense net of floorplan assistance — see
Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
Driven by the revenue decrease, new vehicle gross margin decreased 2.3% to $837.9 million in 2001 compared
to 2000. However, on a percentage basis, new vehicle gross margin improved 10 basis points to 7.0% in 2001
compared to 2000 in part due to our inventory management activities which resulted in manufacturers’
floorplan assistance in excess of floorplan interest expense. While we expect floorplan interest rates to increase
in 2002 compared to 2001, we believe its effect will be largely mitigated by increases in floorplan interest
assistance which is also interest rate sensitive. Gross margin in 2000 increased 2.2% compared to 1999 as a
result of higher average revenue per unit and acquisitions and divestitures.

Used vehicle revenue increased .6% to $3.9 billion in 2001 compared to 2000. On a same store basis,
revenue increased 2.1%, attributable to higher volume of 2.9% partially offset by .8% lower average revenue
per unit. Despite the increase in revenue, used vehicle gross margin decreased 2.5% to $426.5 million in 2001
compared to 2000. Gross margin decreased .7% on a same store basis in 2001 compared to 2000. The gross
margin compression of 30 basis points to 11.0% resulted from our focus during 2001 on reducing inventory
levels as part of our inventory management initiative and the increase in used vehicles we took as trade-ins as a
result of the increase in new vehicle sales at the end of 2001. Due to an uncertain wholesale market, we chose
to retail our used vehicle inventory whenever possible, which resulted in lower used vehicle gross margins. The
margin compression was partially offset by continued improvements due to the implementation of our used
vehicle best practices. Decreases in used vehicle revenue and gross margin amounts in 2000 are the result of a
decrease in units retailed from 315,000 in 1999 to 255,000 in 2000 which largely resulted from the closure of
our used vehicle megastores. In addition, the used vehicle market was softer in 2000 compared to 1999 due in
part to strong manufacturer incentives for new vehicles, especially light trucks. Used vehicle gross margin
percentages in 2000 increased compared to 1999 primarily as a result of the initial implementation of our used
vehicle best practices and improved management of used vehicle inventories.

Parts and service revenue increased 3.0% to $2.4 billion in 2001 compared to 2000 driven by volume as
well as price increases. Parts and service gross margin increased 4.0% to $1.0 billion during the year ended
December 31, 2001, as a result of higher revenue coupled with margin expansion of 40 basis points to 43.2%.
Revenue and gross margin increased 3.7% and 4.7% in 2001 compared to 2000 on a same store basis,
respectively. Both the revenue increase and the margin expansion are the result of our initiatives to implement
a pricing strategy, a team-based process and a comprehensive parts and service marketing plan. Parts and
service revenue increased in 2000 compared to 1999 primarily driven by volume. Parts and service gross
margin increased in 2000 compared to 1999 as a result of higher revenue coupled with margin expansion.

Finance and insurance revenue and gross margin increased 13.4% to $489.6 million in 2001 compared to
2000. Finance and insurance revenue and gross margin increased 2.0% to $431.8 million in 2000 compared to
1999. Finance and insurance gross margin per vehicle retailed increased 18.6% in 2001 to $688 compared to
$580 in 2000. The increases are primarily due to a higher percentage of our customers buying finance and
insurance products as well as increased pricing primarily as a result of the implementation of a customer-
friendly “full disclosure” finance and insurance menu and standardized closing process.

Other revenue, primarily consisting of wholesale revenue from wholesaling used vehicles, decreased
18.3% to $1.2 billion in 2001 compared to 2000. This revenue decrease primarily reflects a reduction in
wholesale revenues due to a decrease in the number of units wholesaled as we reduced our used vehicle
inventory levels from 2000 and retailed a greater proportion of used vehicles. Other gross margin decreased
15.8% to $80.7 million in 2001 compared to 2000 as a result of a reduction in wholesale and fleet revenue.
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Store selling, general and administrative expenses increased 2.5% to $2.1 billion in 2001 compared to
2000. Store selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of total revenue were 10.4% in 2001
versus 9.8% in 2000. This increase as a percentage of revenue is primarily due to a shift in revenue mix from
new vehicles to used vehicles, parts and service, and finance and insurance for which the related costs as a
percentage of revenue are higher. Generally store selling, general and administrative expenses increase and
decrease in direct relation to gross margin. Store selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of total gross margins were 72.1% in 2001 versus 71.6% in 2000. The increase in store selling, general and
administrative expenses during 2001 was driven by an increase in total gross margin as well as increased
advertising and other miscellaneous expenses. The decrease in 2000 compared to 1999 is primarily due to the
successful implementation of our cost-cutting initiatives in late 1999 and overall leveraging of the store cost
structure.

Store performance was $801.9 million, $800.5 million and $701.2 million or, as percentages of total
revenue, 4.0%, 3.9% or 3.5% for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The 2000
increase in aggregate dollars is primarily due to acquisitions coupled with margin expansion.

Corporate selling, general and administrative expenses were $135.2 million, $156.1 million and $190.0
million or, as a percentage of total revenue, .7%, .8% and .9% for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999, respectively. The 2001 decrease is primarily the result of the continued disposal of excess properties.
In 2001, $6.6 million of property carrying costs were incurred compared to $30.9 million in 2000. Property
carrying costs for properties held for sale for 2002 are estimated to be $1.5 million. The 2000 decrease in
corporate S,G&A is primarily due to successful implementation of our cost-cutting initiatives in late 1999.

In 2002, we will focus on cost management initiatives in the areas of compensation, advertising and
general and administrative expenses. However, we expect an increase in insurance and benefit costs in 2002
compared to 2001, which would have the effect of offsetting some of these expected cost savings.

Depreciation and amortization were $151.9 million, $133.8 million and $123.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Depreciation and amortization as percentages of revenue
were .8%, .7% and .6% for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 respectively. The increases are
primarily the result of capital expenditures. As further discussed under the heading “New Accounting
Pronouncements”, we are currently analyzing the impact of SFAS 142. Based on preliminary estimates,
substantially all of our amortization expenses will be eliminated.

Loan and lease underwriting losses (income) were $89.6 million, $6.0 million and $(12.8) million for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. See discussion under heading “Loan and Lease
Underwriting Activities”. Restructuring and impairment charges (recoveries), net were $4.5 million, $(20.4)
million and $416.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. See
discussion under heading “Restructuring Activities”.

Other gains for the year ended December 31, 2001 of $19.3 million primarily consists of the pre-tax gain
from the sale of the Flemington dealer group in April 2001.

Same Store Operating Data:

We have presented below our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 on a
same store basis to reflect our internal performance. Same store operating results include the results of
businesses that-were owned and operated by us during both of the years included in the comparison.

The following table sets forth: (1) the components of same store revenue, with component percentages
of total revenue; (2) the components of same store gross margin, with gross margin percentages of applicable

26




same store revenue; (3) same store selling, general and administrative expenses; (4) same store performance;
and (5) retail vehicle same store unit sales:

Years Ended December 31,

($ in millions) 2001 % 2000 % % Variance
Revenue:
New vehicle .. ..o i i e $11,441.0 599 $11,9745 61.2 (4.5)
Usedvehicle ... .. i 3,701.1 194 3,6258 185 2.1
Partsand service . ....... ..o vt 2,305.7 12.1 22,2242 1i.4 3.7
Finance and insurance, net................covvvvnn. 463.8 24 411.8 2.1 12.6
Other o e 1,178.3 6.2 1,342.7 6.8 (12.2)
Total revenue. ......... ..., $19,089.9 100.0 $19,579.0 100.0 (2.5)
Gross margin:
New vehicle .. .. ... e $ 8004 70 $ 8279 6.9 (3.3)
Used vehicle ... o i i i 407.5 11.0 4105 113 (.7
Partsand service .. .......ov i 996.4 43.2 951.4 428 4.7
Finance and iNSUTANCE . .......vvvviviivennnennnn 463.8 100.0 411.8 100.0 12.6
Other . e 67.1 5.7 73.1 5.4 (8.2)
Total gross margin ...........ovveiiiunnenn. 2,735.2 14.3 2,6747 137 23
S G&A- S Ore . o 1,963.1 10.3 1,909.8 9.8 28
Store performance. ................ .. $ 7721 40 § 7649 3.9 .9
Retail vehicle unit sales:
NeW i e e 431,000 470,000 (8.3)
Used ..o 246,000 239,000 2.9
677,000 709,000 (4.5)

In 2001, same store performance improved by $7.2 million or .9% despite a 2.5% decrease in same store
revenue. This was achieved through our focus on operational improvements in the high margin areas of our
business — used vehicle, parts and service, and finance and insurance. Although these areas collectively
comprise 33.9% of total same store revenue, they contributed 68.3% of total same store gross margin in 2001.

Discontinued Business Segments

On June 30, 2000, we completed the spin-off of our former automotive rental businesses, which were
organized under ANC Rental Corporation, by distributing 100% of ANC Rental’s common stock to
AutoNation’s stockholders as a tax-free dividend. As a result of the spin-off, AutoNation stockholders
received one share of ANC Rental common stock for every eight shares of AutoNation common stock owned
as of the June 16, 2000 record date. As discussed in Note 16, Discontinued Operations, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, ANC Rental has been accounted for as discontinued operations in the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and accordingly, the operating results of ANC Rental have
been classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

In connection with the spin-off of ANC Rental Corporation and its subsidiaries (“ANC Rental”) in June
2000, we agreed to provide certain guarantees and credit enhancements with respect to financial and other
performance obligations of ANC Rental, including acting as a guarantor under certain motor vehicle and real
property leases between ANC Rental and Mitsubishi Motor Sales of America, Inc. (“Mitsubishi”) and acting
as an indemnitor with respect to certain surety bonds issued on ANC Rental’s behalf. We are also a party to
certain agreements with ANC Rental (the “ANC Rental Agreements”), including a separation and
distribution agreement, a reimbursement agreement and a tax sharing agreement, pursuant to which both
ANC Rental and we have certain obligations. On November 13, 2001, ANC Rental filed voluntary petitions
for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code with the U.S. Bankruptey Court in
Wilmington, Delaware. In connection with ANC Rental’s bankruptcy, we were called on to perform under
nine of the twelve real property leases between ANC Rental and Mitsubishi for which we provided guarantees.
As a result, we agreed to assume these real property leases, which expire in 2017, in order to control and
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attempt to mitigate our exposure relating thereto. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we incurred a pre-tax charge
of $20.0 million included in net income from discontinued operations to reflect our assumption of the nine
leases with Mitsubishi and certain other costs that we expect to incur as a result of ANC Rental’s bankruptcy.
We continue to guarantee the remaining three leases with Mitsubishi until their expiration in 2017, and we
remain subject to various other ANC Rental obligations. ANC Rental has been accounted for as a
discontinued operation and, accordingly, we expect that additional charges recorded by us pursuant to the
foregoing credit enhancements and guarantees or with respect to claims under the ANC Rental Agreements,
if any, would not impact our reported results from continuing operations.

We have reached an agreement with Mitsubishi pursuant to which our aggregate financial exposure under
a motor vehicle lease agreement between ANC Rental and Mitsubishi is capped at $10.0 million. Although
we believe that our financial exposure under the agreement will likely decrease significantly in 2002, we could
have potential exposure under the agreement for up to five to ten years. Our indemnification obligations with
respect to the surety bonds issued on behalf of ANC Rental are capped at $29.5 million in the aggregate. We
could have potential exposure under the indemnification obligations for approximately five years. Due to the
bankruptcy of ANC Rental, obligations of ANC Rental to us under the terms of the ANC Rental Agreements
may be extinguished or our claims against ANC Rental under such agreements may be unenforceable. These
claims could include reimbursement obligations that ANC Rental may have to us in connection with
payments made by us with respect to the foregoing credit enhancements and guarantees, as well as
indemnification rights with respect to any payments that we make to the Internal Revenue Service as a result
of audit adjustments in our consolidated federal income tax returns relating to ANC Rental’s automotive
rental businesses prior to the spin-off. Such audit adjustments, if any, would likely be resolved in the next
three to five years. We estimate that, based on our assessment of the risks involved in each matter and
excluding the liabilities associated with the $20.0 million charge we incurred in the fourth quarter of 2001, our
remaining potential pre-tax financial exposure related to ANC Rental may be in the range of $25.0 million to
$60.0 million. However, the exposure is difficult to estimate and we cannot assure you that our aggregate
obligations under these credit enhancements, guarantees and ANC Rental Agreements will not be materially
above the range indicated above or that we will not be subject to additional claims as a result of ANC Rental’s
bankruptcy filing.

In July 1998, our former solid waste subsidiary, Republic Services, Inc., completed an initial public
offering of 36.1% of its common stock. In May 1999, we sold substantially all of our interest in Republic
Services in a public offering. As discussed in Note 16, Discontinued Operations, of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, our former solid waste services segment has been accounted for as discontinued
operations and accordingly, the operating results of Republic Services have been classified as discontinued
operations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Business Acguisitions and Divestitures

From 1997 through 1999, we aggressively expanded our automotive retail operations through the
acquisition of franchised automotive dealerships. Since 1999, we have not completed and do not expect to
complete acquisitions at the same pace as we had in the past. We expect that future acquisitions will primarily
target single dealerships or dealership groups focused in key existing markets.

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, we acquired various automotive retail
businesses. We paid approximately $69.7 million, $190.9 million and $879.1 million, respectively, in cash for
these acquisitions, all of which were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. We also paid
$22.3 million, $122.4 million and $34.9 million, respectively, in deferred purchase price for certain prior year
automotive retail acquisitions. As of December 31, 2001, approximately $11.6 million of deferred purchase
price due to former owners of acquired businesses had been accrued.

As described below under the heading “Restructuring Activities”, we have divested of certain non-core
franchised automotive dealerships. During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, we received
$61.2 million, $89.7 million and $131.3 million, respectively, of cash from the divestiture of certain automotive
dealerships. In April 2001, we completed the sale of our Flemington dealer group for net proceeds of $59.0
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million. In the normal course of business, we will periodically divest dealerships that do not meet certain
operational, financial, or strategic criteria. Revenue for the operations disposed or to be disposed, including the
Flemington dealership group and our former used vehicle megastores, was $302.0 million, $1.1 billion and $2.3
billion for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. See discussion under heading
“Restructuring Activities”. Operating income (loss) for the operations disposed or to be disposed was $(2.7)
million, $13.6 million and $8.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

In November 2000, we completed the divestiture of our outdoor media business for a purchase price of
approximately $104.0 million. In connection with the sale, we entered into a prepaid $15.0 million advertising
agreement and, therefore, we received net proceeds of $89.0 million. A pre-tax gain of $53.5 million was
recognized on the sale.

See Note 18, Acquisitions and Divestitures, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for
further discussion of business combinations.

Loan and Lease Underwriting Activities

In December 2001, we decided to exit the business of underwriting retail automobile loans for customers
at our dealerships, which we determined was not a part of our core automotive retail business. We will
continue to provide automobile loans for our customers through unrelated third party financing sources, which
historically have provided more than 95% of the auto loans made to our customers. In addition, economic
conditions in the United States worsened during the fourth quarter of 2001 as evidenced by confirmation of a
recession, lower consumer confidence, increasing unemployment and increasing consumer credit defaults.

The decision to exit the loan underwriting business and the impact of the economic conditions referenced
above caused us to incur asset impairment and related charges totaling $85.8 million recorded in December
2001. These charges mainly reflect the impact of expected increases in loan losses and prepayments, as well as
higher expected loan-servicing costs. The charges also include $1.5 million of direct exit costs for asset write -
offs and other costs. In addition, during 2001 and 2000, we recognized impairment charges totaling $4.1
million and $16.6 million, respectively, primarily associated with the deterioration in residual values of finance
lease receivables. We discontinued the writing of finance leases in mid-1999.

Until December 2001, we securitized installment loan receivables through a commercial paper warehouse
facility with unrelated financial institutions. In September 2001, we decreased the capacity of the commercial
paper warehouse facility from $1.0 billion to $625.0 million. The warehouse facility had a renewable 364-day
term and required an annual securitization transaction to reduce indebtedness. During 2001, we sold
installment note receivables of $397.5 million under this program, net of retained interests. In December 2001,
in conjunction with our exit from the auto loan underwriting business, we terminated this facility. During
2001, we entered into certain interest rate derivative transactions with certain financial institutions to manage
the impact of interest rate changes on these securitized installment loan receivables. At December 31, 2001,
since we terminated this facility, we had no derivative instruments outstanding.

Until December 2001, we also securitized installment loan receivables through the issuance of asset-
backed notes through non-consolidated qualified special purpose entities under a shelf registration statement.
Proceeds from these notes were used to repay outstanding commercial paper under the warehouse facility and
to finance additional loans held by us. In August 2001, we amended the shelf registration statement relating to
this program to provide aggregate capacity of $2.0 billion. During 2001, we issued $850.0 million in asset-
backed notes under this program, net of retained interests, We provide credit enhancements related to these
notes in the form of 1% over collateralization, a reserve fund and a third party surety bond. We retain
responsibility for servicing the loans, for which we are paid a servicing fee. We in turn have a sub-servicing
arrangement with a third party. At December 31, 2001, $1.3 billion was outstanding under this program, net of
retained interests. With our decision to exit the loan underwriting business, we do not intend to utilize the
remaining capacity under this program. Substantiaily all of the beneficial interests in the debt of the qualified
special purpose entities are held by unrelated third parties. The investors and the securitization trusts have no
recourse to our assets for failure of debtors to pay when due except to the extent of our remaining investments
in securitizations.
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At December 31, 2001, we had finance receivables totaling $175.7 million including investments in
securitizations of $73.8 million, after the impact of the charge. The remaining finance leases, installment loans
and investments in securitizations are expected to be substantially collected over the next three years. See
discussion of key economic assumptions and other information in Note 12, Finance Underwriting and Asset
Securitizations, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Restructuring Activities

During the fourth quarter of 1999, we approved a plan to restructure certain of our operations. The
restructuring plan was comprised of the following major components: (1) exiting the used vehicle megastore
business; and (2) reducing the corporate workforce. The restructuring plan also included divesting of certain
non-core franchised dealerships. Approximately 2,000 positions were eliminated as a result of the restructuring
plan of which 1,800 were megastore positions and 200 were corporate positions. These restructuring activities
resulted in pre-tax charges of $443.7 million in 1999 of which $416.4 million appears as Restructuring and
Impairment Charges {Recoveries), Net in our 1999 Consolidated Income Statement. These pre-tax charges
include $286.9 million of asset impairment charges; $103.3 million of reserves for residual value guarantees for
closed lease properties; $26.2 million of severance and other exit costs; and $27.3 million of inventory related
costs. The $286.9 million asset impairment charge consists of: $244.9 million of megastore and other property
impairments; $26.6 million of goodwill impairment reserves for the divestiture of certain non-core franchised
automotive dealerships; and $15.4 million of information systems impairments. Of the $443.7 million
restructuring reserve recorded, $10.8 million of severance was paid in 1999 and $53.7 million of asset
impairments and write-offs were recorded during the fourth quarter of 1999.

We continue to dispose of our closed megastores and other properties, including closed lease properties,
through sales to third parties. At December 31, 2001, properties held for sale total $72.2 million, of which
properties with total asset value of $69.4 million remain to be sold of the total $285.3 million identified as part
of the restructuring plan. These properties continue to be aggressively marketed. The majority of these
properties will be disposed of by the end of 2002.

The following summarizes the activity in the restructuring and impairment reserves for the year ended
December 31, 2001 (in millions):

Balance Amounts Charged ~ ____ Deductions Balance
Reserve December 31, 2000  (Credited) to Income  Cash  Non-Cash  December 31, 2001
Asset reserves:
Asset impairment............... $161.4 $4.7 $§ — $(97.7) $68.4
Accrued liabilities:
Severance and other exit costs . ... 1.2 (.2) (1.6) .8 2
$162.6 $4.5 $(1.6) $(96.9) $68.6

The following summarizes the components of the $4.5 million charged to income during the year ended
December 31, 2001 (in millions):

Net Gain on Additional
Sold Properties Impairment Charges Other Total

Asset reserves:
ASSEt IMPAIIMENt. L.t ii i $(.6) $5.3 $— $47
Accrued liabilities:
Severance and other exit costs .. .......c..vivinininn. (2
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During 2001, we recognized an additional impairment charge totaling $5.3 million based on the re-
evaluation of the fair value of certain properties.
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The following summarizes the activity in the restructuring and impairment reserves for the year ended
December 31, 2000 (in millions):

Deductions

Balance Amount Charged - Balance
Reserve December 31, 1999  (Credited) to Income Cash Non-cash  December 31, 2000
Asset reserves:
Asset impairment . ............ $ 26330 $(15.0) $ — $(86.9) $161.4
Inventory ......... ... ... 15.0 —_ —_ (15.0) —
Accrued liabilities:
Property lease residual value
gUATANTEES . .o\ v v v vt 103.3 (14.8) (88.5) — —
Severance and other exit costs .. 17.3 9.4 (22.7) (2.8) 1.2
$ 3989 $(204) $(111.2) $(104.7) $162.6

(1) Includes $19.7 million of reserves that had been established on these properties prior to the 1999 restructuring and impairment
charges recorded.

The following summarizes the components of the $20.4 million amount credited to income during the
year ended December 31, 2000 (in millions):

Properties Placed Back Net Gain on Additional
into Service or Retained Sold Properties Impairment Charges Other Total
Asset reserves:
Asset impairment . . ... $(23.2) $(3.4) $11.6 $ — $(15.0)
Accrued liabilities:
Property lease residual value guarantees . . (13.0) (1.8) —_ —  (14.8)
Severance and other exit costs ........ — — — 94 9.4
$(36.2) $(5.2) $11.6 $ 94 $(204)

During 2000, certain events occurred which caused us to re-evaluate our plans with respect to various
retail properties. As a result, certain megastore properties were placed back in service and we decided to retain
certain dealerships that had been held for sale. Accordingly, based on our re-evaluation of the fair value of the
properties, we determined that the asset impairment and lease residual value reserves for these properties were
no longer necessary and we were required to reverse the related estimated reserves totaling $36.2 million back
into income. An additional impairment charge of $11.6 million was recognized primarily related to a decision
in 2000 to close one additional megastore property as part of the overall restructuring plan.

Non-Operating Income (Expense)

Other Interest Expense

During 2001, other interest expense was incurred primarily on borrowings under our revolving credit
facilities, mortgage facilities and the outstanding senior unsecured notes sold in August 2001. See further
discussion under heading “Financial Condition”. Other interest expense was $43.7 million, $47.7 million and
$34.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The decrease in 2001 was
due to lower average borrowings as well as lower floating interest rates partially offset by additional fixed
interest expense related to the senior unsecured notes. The increase in 2000 is due to higher average
borrowings along with higher interest rates. Going forward because of the issuance of the senior unsecured
notes, we will be less sensitive to changing interest rates due to a higher ratio of fixed versus floating rate
obligations. However, we expect other interest expense to increase in 2002 compared to 2001 due to the fixed
interest expense.

Intervest Income

Interest income was $9.0 million, $14.3 million and $20.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively. The 2001 decrease is primarily due to lower interest rates. The 2000 decrease is
primarily due to lower cash and investment balances on hand.
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Other Income (Expense), Net

For the year ended December 31, 2001, other expense, net, was $4.5 million. Other income, net, for the
year ended December 31, 2000, was $33.4 million and primarily included gains of approximately $24.0 million
on the sale of approximately 3.1 million shares of common stock of our former solid waste subsidiary, Republic
Services, and approximately $53.5 million on the sale of our former outdoor media business, offset by a $30.0
million valuation write-down related to an equity-method investment in a privately-held salvage and parts
recycling business as well as a $5.0 million write-down to fair value of another equity-method investment,
subsequently sold in early 2001 at no additional gain or loss. Other Income (Expense), Net, for the year ended
December 31, 1999 was $2.2 million.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations was $155.8 million, $196.9 million and $4.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The effective income tax rate was
38.9% and 37.5% for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. Although we reported a pre-tax loss from
continuing operations in 1999, an income tax provision of $4.0 million was recorded due to the effect of certain
non-deductible expenses primarily associated with the restructuring and impairment charges. We anticipate
that our effective income tax rate will be approximately 38% to 39% in 2002.

Financial Condition

At December 31, 2001, we had $128.1 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. We had a multi-
year unsecured revolving credit facility, which provided $1.0 billion of financing and was scheduled to mature
in April 2002, that was repaid in full and terminated on August 10, 2001. Another facility provided $250.0
million of borrowing capacity until its termination on June 29, 2001. In August 2001, we entered into two new
senior secured revolving credit facilities with an aggregate capacity of $500.0 million. The 364-day revolving
credit facility provides borrowing capacity up to $200.0 million at a LIBOR-based interest rate. The five-year
revolving credit facility provides borrowing capacity up to $300.0 million at a LIBOR-based interest rate.
These revolving credit facilities are secured by a pledge of the capital stock of certain subsidiaries, which
directly or indirectly own substantially all of our dealerships, and are guaranteed by substantially all of our
subsidiaries. No amounts are drawn on these revolving credit facilities.

In August 2001, we sold $450.0 million of 9.0% senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2008 at a price of
98.731% of face value. The senior unsecured notes are guaranteed by substantially all of our subsidiaries.

In conjunction with the revolving credit facilities and senior unsecured notes offering, we received
corporate credit ratings from ratings agencies. The revolving credit facilities and the senior unsecured notes
have provisions linked to credit ratings. The interest rates for the revolving credit facilities are impacted by
changes in credit ratings and certain covenants related to the senior unsecured notes would be eliminated with
certain upgrades in credit ratings. Accordingly, in the event of a downgrade in our credit rating, we would
continue to have access to the revolving credit facilities and senior unsecured notes, but at higher rates of
interest for the revolving credit facilities.

In June 2001, we entered into a mortgage facility with an automotive manufacturer’s captive finance
subsidiary with an aggregate capacity of $150.0 million. At December 31, 2001, the amount outstanding under
this mortgage facility was $115.0 million. The facility has a ten-year term, bears interest at a LIBOR-based
rate and is secured by mortgages on certain of our dealerships’ real property.

In October 2001, we entered into a mortgage facility with another automotive manufacturer’s captive
finance subsidiary with an aggregate capacity of $150.0 million. At December 31, 2001, the amount
outstanding under this mortgage facility was $38.4 million. The facility has a five-year term, bears interest at a
LIBCOR-based rate and is secured by mortgages on certain of our dealerships’ real property.

We used the net proceeds of the note offering and additional borrowings under the new mortgage facilities
to repay outstanding amounts under the $1.0 billion revolving credit facility and certain other debt. We intend
to use funds drawn from these facilities to make future capital investments in our current business, to
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complete strategic dealership acquisitions, to repurchase our common stock and for working capital and other
general corporate purposes.

We finance our vehicle inventory through secured financings, primarily floorplan facilities, with automo-
tive manufacturers’ captive finance subsidiaries as well as independent financial institutions and, until 2001, a
bank-sponsored commercial paper conduit facility that matured January 19, 2001 and was not renewed. As of
December 31, 2001, capacity of the facilities was approximately $3.5 billion. We finance our used vehicle
inventory primarily through our cash flow from operations and our revolving credit facilities.

We were the lessee under a lease facility that was established to acquire and develop our former
megastores properties. As originally structured, the facility was accounted for as an operating lease and
included residual value guarantees. In 1999, certain properties under the facility were reflected as capital
leases. In connection with our 1999 restructuring activities previously described, as of December 31, 1999 we
accrued an estimate of the liability under the residual value guarantee totaling approximately $103.3 million.
In 2000, due to amendments to the facility, all of the leases were accounted for as capital leases at
December 31, 2000, with the property and related debt included in our consolidated balance sheet. In August
2001, we repaid the debt and terminated this facility.

We offer our customers various vehicle protection products, such as extended service contracts, vehicle
protection and maintenance programs, and insurance products. The products we offer include products that
are sold and administered by independent third parties, including the vehicle manufacturers’ captive finance
subsidiaries. Pursuant to our arrangements by these third-party finance and insurance product providers, we
either sell the products on a straight commission basis or we sell the product, recognize commission and
assume some or all of the underwriting risk through reinsurance agreements with our captive insurance
subsidiaries. We have restricted cash and investments in trust accounts in accordance with the terms and
conditions of certain reinsurance agreements to secure the payments of outstanding losses and loss adjustment
expenses related to our insurance captives.

During 2001, we repurchased 27.3 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of
$256.8 million. Through December 31, 2001, an aggregate of 155.0 million shares of common stock have been
repurchased under our share repurchase programs for an aggregate purchase price of $1.7 billion, leaving
approximately $260.3 million available for share repurchases under the programs including an additional
$250.0 million authorized in October 2001 by our Board of Directors. As of March 25, 2002, we repurchased
an additional 2.4 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $30.0 million, leaving
approximately $230.2 million available for share repurchases under the programs. We expect to continue
repurchasing shares under this program. Repurchases are made pursuant to Rule 10b-18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. While we expect to continue repurchasing shares under these programs,
the decision to make additional share repurchases will be based on such factors as the market price of our
common stock, the potential impact on our capital structure and the expected return on competing uses of our
capital such as strategic dealership acquisitions and capital investments in our current businesses. Our future
share repurchases are also subject to limitations contained in the indenture relating to our senior unsecured
notes and our credit agreements for our two senior secured revolving credit facilities.

In connection with the ANC Rental spin-off, we made certain capital contributions to ANC Rental prior
to the spin-off. These contributions included cash of approximately $200.0 million and the net assets of an
insurance subsidiary. We also entered into various agreements with ANC Rental that set forth the terms of the
distribution and other agreements governing our relationship with ANC Rental after the spin-off. As a result
of the spin-off, our equity as of December 31, 2000, was reduced by the net assets of ANC Rental totaling
$894.4 million,

In connection with the spin-off of ANC Rental in June 2000, we agreed to provide certain guarantees and
credit enhancements with respect to financial and other performance obligations of ANC Rental, including
acting as a guarantor under certain motor vehicle and real property leases between ANC Rental and
Mitsubishi and acting as an indemnitor with respect to certain surety bonds issued on ANC Rental’s behalf.
We are also a party to ANC Rental Agreements, including a separation and distribution agreement, a
reimbursement agreement and a tax sharing agreement, pursuant to which both ANC Rental and we have
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certain obligations. On November 13, 2001, ANC Rental filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in Wilmington, Delaware. In
connection with ANC Rental’s bankruptcy, we were called on to perform under nine of the twelve real
property leases between ANC Rental and Mitsubishi for which we provided guarantees. As a result, we agreed
to assume these real property leases, which expire in 2017, in order to control and attempt to mitigate our
exposure relating thereto. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we incurred a pre-tax charge of $20.0 million included
in net income from discontinued operations to reflect our assumption of the nine leases with Mitsubishi and
certain other costs that we expect to incur as a result of ANC Rental’s bankruptcy. We continue to guarantee
the remaining three leases with Mitsubishi until their expiration in 2017, and we remain subject to various
other ANC Rental obligations. ANC Rental has been accounted for as a discontinued operation and,
accordingly, we expect that additional charges recorded by us pursuant to the foregoing credit enhancements
and guarantees or with respect to claims under the ANC Rental Agreements, if any, would not impact our
reported results from continuing operations.

We have reached an agreement with Mitsubishi pursuant to which our aggregate financial exposure
relating to motor vehicles leased by ANC Rental from Mitsubishi is capped at $10.0 million. Although we
believe our financial exposure under the agreement will likely decrease significantly in 2002, we could have
potential exposure under the agreement for up to five to ten years. Our indemnification obligations with
respect to the surety bonds issued on behalf of ANC Rental are capped at $29.5 million in the aggregate. We
could have potential exposure under the indemnification obligations for approximately five years. Due to the
bankruptcy of ANC Rental, obligations of ANC Rental to us under the terms of the ANC Rental Agreements
may be extinguished or our claims against ANC Rental under such agreements may be unenforceable. These
claims could include reimbursement obligations that ANC Rental may have to us in connection with
payments made by us with respect to the foregoing credit enhancements and guarantees, as well as
indemnification rights with respect to any payments that we make to the Internal Revenue Service as a result
of audit adjustments in our consolidated federal income tax returns relating to ANC Rental’'s automotive
rental businesses prior to the spin-off. Such audit adjustments, if any, would likely be resolved in the next
three to five years. We estimate that, based on our assessment of the risks involved in each matter and
excluding the liabilities associated with the $20.0 million charge we incurred in the fourth quarter of 2001, our
remaining potential pre-tax financial exposure related to ANC Rental may be in the range of $25.0 million to
$60.0 million. However, the exposure is difficult to estimate and we cannot assure you that our aggregate
obligations under these credit enhancements, guarantees and ANC Rental Agreements will not be materially
above the range indicated above or that we will not be subject to additional claims as a result of ANC Rental’s
bankruptey filing, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows
and prospects.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, we had $853.8 million and $877.2 million, respectively, of net deferred
tax liabilities. We provide for deferred income taxes in our Consolidated Balance Sheets to show the effect of
temporary differences between the recognition of revenue and expenses for financial and income tax reporting
purposes and between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial
statements. In 1997 and 1999, we engaged in certain transactions that are of a type that the Internal Revenue
Service has indicated it intends to challenge. Approximately $680 million of the net deferred tax liabilities
relate to these transactions, including a significant portion that relates to a transaction that generally had the
effect of accelerating certain future deductions. The amount of foregone tax deductions in 2001 relating to that
transaction was approximately $44 million. These transactions are currently under review by the Internal
Revenue Service. We believe that our tax returns appropriately reflect such transactions, and that we have
established adequate reserves with respect to any tax liabilities relating to these transactions. However, an
unfavorable settlement or adverse resolution of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Cash Flows

Changes in floorplan notes payable, which previously were classified as financing activities, have been
reclassified to operating activities in the accompanying Statements of Cash Flows to provide a more
meaningful representation of our operating activities.

Cash and cash equivalents increased (decreased) by $43.5 million, $(153.6) million and $(489.9) million
during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The major components of these
changes are discussed below.

Cash Fiows from Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $540.1 million, $431.4 million and $478.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Cash flows from operating activities include net income adjusted for non-cash items and the effects of
changes in working capital including changes in floorplan notes payable which directly relate to vehicle
inventory. The 2001 change in inventory, net of floorplan notes payable, is attributable to lower inventory
levels maintained in 2001 as compared to 2000. The 2001 change in other liabilities is the result of megastore
and other exit payments made in 2000 as part of 1999 restructuring activities.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities consist primarily of cash provided by (used for) capital additions,
property dispositions, net activity of installment loan receivables, purchases and sales of investments and other
transactions as further described below and business acquisitions and divestitures.

Capital expenditures were $163.6 million, $138.7 million and $242.3 million during the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The 2001 increase in capital expenditures is primarily due to
amounts expended on store renovations and technology upgrades. Approximately half of our capital
investments during 2001 related to required improvements of our existing dealership facilities. The balance of
our capital investments during 2001 related to upgrades to existing dealership facilities and construction of
new facilities that we generally target to generate rates of return consistent with our investment goal of a 15%
after-tax rate of return. We will make additional facility and infrastructure upgrades and improvements from
time to time as we identify projects that are required to maintain our current business or that we expect to
provide us with acceptable rates of return. We expect capital expenditures in 2002 to be approximately $150
million. The 2000 decrease in capital expenditures is primarily due to fewer acquisitions, and the closures of
the megastores, which had driven capital expenditures higher in 1999.

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment and assets held for sale were $98.3 million, $129.9
million and $88.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. These
amounts are primarily from the sales of megastore and other properties held for sale. The 2000 amount also
includes proceeds from the sale of the building occupied by ANC Rental.

Funding of installment loan receivables, net of collections, totaled $474.9 million, $562.3 million and $1.6
billion in 2001, 2000 and 1999 respectively. Related proceeds from securitization of instaliment loan contracts
were $557.2 million, $720.3 million and $1.6 billion in 2001, 2000 and 1999 respectively. As discussed under
the heading “Loan and Lease Underwriting Activities”, the Company exited the auto loan underwriting
business in December 2001.

During 2001, we moved various invested restricted cash deposits related to certain insurance programs to
a series of restricted investments. See Note 4, Restricted Assets and Reinsurance, of the Notes of
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Cash used in business acquisitions was $92.0 million, $313.3 million and $914.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The decrease in cash used in business acquisitions is
primarily due to a planned reduction in acquisition activity including our shift in 2000 to acquire single
dealerships or small dealership groups focused in key existing markets. Cash used in business acquisitions
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during 2001, 2000 and 1999 includes $22.3 million, $122.4 million and $34.9 million in deferred purchase price
for certain prior year automotive retail acquisitions. See discussion under the heading “Business Acquisitions
and Divestitures” and in Note 18, Acquisitions and Divestitures, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Cash received from business divestitures was $61.2 million, $178.7 million and $131.3 million for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The 2001 cash received primarily represents the
net proceeds from the sale of the Flemington dealer group as further discussed under the heading, “Business
Acquisitions and Divestitures” and in Note 18, Acquisitions and Divestitures, of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In July 1998, our former solid waste subsidiary, Republic Services, completed an initial public offering
resulting in proceeds of approximately $1.4 billion. In May 1999, we sold substantially all of our interest in
Republic Services in a public offering resulting in proceeds of approximately $1.8 billion. Proceeds from the
offerings were used to repay non-vehicle debt, finance acquisitions, acquire shares under our share repurchase
programs and invest in our business. During 2000, we sold substantially all of our remaining common stock of
Republic Services, resulting in proceeds of approximately $48.2 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash flows from financing activities include revolving credit financings and payments, proceeds from
senior unsecured notes issued, repayments of acquired debt, treasury stock purchases and other transactions as
further described below.

During 2001, we received net proceeds from the issuance of senior unsecured notes of $434.7 million.
Additionally, during 2001 we received proceeds of $153.3 million relating to new mortgage facilities. See
further discussion under the heading “Financial Condition” and in Note §, Notes Payable and Long-term
Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. These amounts were used to repay outstanding
amounts under revolving credit facilities totaling $615.0 million and certain other debt.

We have repurchased approximately 27.3 million, 27.6 million and 91.0 million shares of our common
stock during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, for an aggregate price of
$256.8 million, $188.9 million and $1.2 billion, respectively, under our Board approved share repurchase
programs.

During 2000, we entered into a sale-leaseback transaction involving our corporate headquarters, which
resulted in net proceeds of approximately $52.1 million.

During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, we repaid approximately $178.3 million and $197.0
million, respectively, of debt obligations primarily related to amounts financed under a $210.0 million lease
facility (amended September 2000 from the original capacity of $500.0 million). See Note 8, Notes Payable
and Long-Term Debt, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

We will continue to evaluate the best use of our operating cash flow between capital expenditures, share
repurchases, acquisitions and debt reduction. We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common
stock during our two most recent fiscal years, We currently intend to retain our earnings for future growth and,
therefore, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The indenture for our senior
unsecured notes and the credit agreements for our two revolving credit facilities restrict our ability to declare
cash dividends.
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Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations

Cash used in discontinued operations was as follows during the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2001 2000 1999
Automotive rental . ... ... e e $§ — $(227.0) $(160.3)
Solid waste SErVICES .. v ittt i i e e — —  (546.0)

$ — $(227.0) $(706.3)

Cash used in our former automotive rental business during 2000 consists primarily of cash used to replace
maturing letters of credit which provide credit enhancement for ANC Rental’s vehicle financing.

Liquidity

We require cash to fund working capital needs, finance acquisitions of new dealerships and fund capital
expenditures. These requirements are met principally from cash flows from operations, borrowings under floor-
plan financings, mortgage notes and credit facilities.

We believe that our funds generated through future operations and availability of borrowings under our
floorplan facilities, our revolving credit facilities and our mortgage facilities will be sufficient to fund our debt
service and working capital requirements, commitments and contingencies and any seasonal operating
requirements for the foreseeable future. We intend to finance capital expenditures, business acquisitions, and
share repurchases through cash flow from operations, our revolving credit facilities, and other financings.

Contractual Payment Obligations

The following table summarizes our significant payment obligations under certain contracts at Decem-
ber 31, 2001 {(in millions):

Payments Due by Period

After

Total 1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
Floorplan notes payable (Note 3) ...................... $1,900.7 $1,9007 $§ — §$§ — §$ —
Notes payable and long-term debt (Note 8) ............. 655.2 7.9 18.2 512 5779
Operating lease commitments (Note 9) ................. 458.6 76.1 121.4 87.7 173.4
Acquisition purchase price commitments (Note 18) ...... 140.8 140.8 — — —
Total ... $3,155.3 $2,1255 $139.6 $138.9 $751.3

In the ordinary course of business, we are required to post performance and surety bonds, letters of credit,
and/or cash deposits as financial guarantees of our performance. At December 31, 2001, surety bonds and
letters of credit totaled $39.8 million and have various expiration dates.

As further discussed under the heading “Financial Condition”, in connection with ANC Rental’s spin-
off, we provide certain credit enhancements and guarantees with respect to financial and other performance
obligations of ANC Rental. The timing of when these obligations will be satisfied is difficult to estimate,
although we believe it is likely that the majority will be satisfied in the next five years.

Seasonality

Our operations generally experience higher volumes of vehicle sales in the second and third quarters of
each year in part due to consumer buying trends and the introduction of new vehicle models. Also, demand for
cars and light trucks is generally lower during the winter months than in other seasons, particularly in regions
of the United States where dealerships may be subject to harsh winters. Accordingly, we expect our revenue
and operating results to be generally lower in our first and fourth quarters as compared to our second and third
quarters. However, revenue may be impacted significantly from quarter to quarter by other factors unrelated to
season, such as automotive manufacturer incentives programs. Comparisons of our sales and operating results
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between different quarters within a single year are, therefore, not necessarily indicators of our future
performance.

New Accounting Pronouncements

On June 30, 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) finalized Statements of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”) and No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 1427).

We have adopted the provisions of SFAS 141 which require all business combinations initiated after
June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method, eliminating the pooling of interests method.
Additionally acquired intangible assets should be separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is
obtained through contractual or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed,
rented or exchanged, regardless of the acquirer’s intent to do so.

SFAS 142, upon adoption, eliminates goodwill amortization over its estimated useful life. However,
goodwill will be subject to an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value based test. Intangible
assets with definitive lives will need to be amortized over their useful lives.

The provisions of SFAS 142 applied immediately to all acquisitions completed after June 30, 2001.
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives existing at June 30, 2001 were amortized until
December 31, 2001. Effective January 1, 2002 such amortization ceased, as companies were required to adopt
the new rules on that date. By the end of the first quarter of calendar year 2002, we will, as required, begin to
perform an impairment analysis of intangible assets. SFAS 142 requires us upon adoption and at least annually
to reassess the intangible assets, including goodwill, previously recorded in connection with earlier purchase
acquisitions, as well as their useful lives. Furthermore, we will, as required, complete the first step of the
goodwill transition impairment test by June 30, 2002 which requires determining the fair value of the reporting
unit, as defined by SFAS 142, and comparing it to the carrying value of the net assets allocated to the
reporting unit. If this fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further analysis is required. If the fair value of
the reporting unit is less than the carrying value of the net assets, we must perform step two of the SFAS 142
impairment test, which requires us to allocate the implied fair value of the reporting unit to all underlying
assets and liabilities, including both recognized and unrecognized tangible and intangible assets, based on their
fair value. Any impairment noted must be recorded at the date of adoption restating first quarter results, if
necessary. Impairment charges, if any, that result from the application of the above test would be recorded as
the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the first quarter of the year ending December 31,
2002.

We will not be able to determine the ultimate impact of SFAS 142 on our consolidated financial
statements until such time as we apply its provisions.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144 supercedes Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-
Lived Assets to Be Disposed of” and Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of
Operations — Reporting the Effect of the Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions” (“APB 30”). SFAS 144 establishes a single accounting
model for assets to be disposed of by sale whether previously held and used or newly acquired. SFAS 144
retains the provisions of APB 30 for the presentation of discontinued operations in the income statement but
broadens the presentation to include a component of an entity. SFAS 144 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2001 and the interim periods within. We do not believe that the adoption of SFAS 144 will
have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Forward Looking Statements

Our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects, and the prevailing
market price and performance of our common stock, may be adversely affected by a number of factors,
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including the matters discussed below. Certain statements and information set forth in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, as well as other written or oral statements made from time to time by us or by our authorized
executive officers on our behalf, constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Federal
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We intend for our forward-looking statements to be covered
by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, and we set forth this statement and these risk factors in order to comply with such safe
harbor provisions. You should note that our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K or when made and we undertake no duty or obligation to update or revise our
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Although we
believe that the expectations, plans, intentions and projections reflected in our forward-looking statements are
reasonable, such statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may
cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. The risks, uncertainties
and other factors that our stockholders and prospective investors should consider include, but are not limited
to, the following:

» The automotive retailing industry is cyclical and is sensitive to changing economic conditions and
manufacturer incentive programs; we expect retail sales of new vehicles in the United States
during 2002 to decrease by an estimated five to ten percent compared to 2001 on a unit basis
although sales levels are very difficult to predict; lower actual sales levels could materially
adversely impact our business.

e ANC Rental Corporation recently filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. Accordingly, we
have been called on to perform under certain guarantees with respect to ANC Rental, we may be
called on to perform under additional credit enhancements and guarantees in the future, and we
may have claims against ANC Rental that may be discharged in bankruptcy, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and prospects.

« We have engaged in certain transactions that are under review by the IRS and may have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

+ We are subject to residual value risk and consumer credit risk in connection with our lease
portfolio, consumer credit risk in connection with our finance receivables and related assets and
underwriting risk in connection with our reinsurance of warranty and protection products.

« Qur revolving credit facilities and the indenture relating to our senior unsecured notes contain
certain restrictions on our ability to conduct our business.

» Our dealerships are dependent on the programs and operations of vehicle manufacturers and,
therefore, any changes to such programs and operations may adversely affect our dealership
operations and, in turn, affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows
and prospects.

e We are subject to restrictions imposed by vehicle manufacturers that may adversely impact our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects, including our ability
to acquire new dealerships.

* We are subject to numerous legal and administrative proceedings, which, if the outcomes are
adverse to us, could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and prospects.

+ We are subject to extensive governmental regulation and if we are found to be in violation of any
of these regulations, our business, operating results and prospects could suffer.

» We may encounter limitations on our ability to acquire automotive dealerships in key markets on
favorable terms or at all, which may materially adversely affect our ability to execute our
acquisition strategy.

» New accounting pronouncements on business combinations and goodwill will affect our future
earnings.
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Etem 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Qur primary market risk exposure is changing interest rates. Our policy is to manage interest rates
through the use of a combination of fixed and floating rate debt. Interest rate derivatives may be used to adjust
interest rate exposures when appropriate, based upon market conditions. In 2001, we have chosen to present
sensitivity information relating to our market risk, instead of the tabular information previously presented, in
order to present more meaningful information.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, we had variable rate floorplan notes payable totaling $1.9 billion and
$2.5 billion, respectively. Based on these amounts at December 31, 2001 and 2000, a 100 basis point change in
interest rates would result in an approximate $18.8 million and $24.6 million, respectively, change to our
annual floorplan interest expense which is a component of cost of operations. Qur exposure to changes in
interest rates with respect to floorplan notes payable is partially mitigated by manufacturers’ floorplan
assistance which is generally based on rates similar to those incurred under our floorplan notes payable
arrangements. Net of floorplan assistance, at December 31, 2001 and 2000, a 100 basis point change in interest
rates would result in an approximate $9.4 million and $11.8 million, respectively, change to our annual
floorplan interest expense.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, we had other variable rate debt outstanding totaling $153.3 million and
$790.8 million, respectively. Based on the amounts outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000, a 100 basis
point change in interest rates would result in an approximate $1.5 million and $7.5 million, respectively,
change to interest expense.

Hedging Risk

During 2001 and 2000, to minimize the risk of changes in interest rates we used interest rate derivatives
related to the commercial paper warehouse facility which consisted of interest rate swaps, caps and floors
which were entered into with a group of financial institutions with investment-grade credit ratings. At
December 31, 2001, we did not have any derivative instruments outstanding.

As of December 31, 2000, we had entered into a series of interest rate caps and floors with a notional
amount value of $576.3 million contractually maturing through 2006 at a fixed rate of 6.62% to manage the
impact of interest rate changes on securitized installment loan receivables. Fair value at December 31, 2000
for the interest rate caps and floors were $(2.6) million and $14.3 million, respectively. As further discussed in
Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, as of
January 1, 2001, we adopted Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” which did not have a material impact to the consolidated
financial statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of AutoNation, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AutoNation, Inc. (a Delaware
corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of
income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2001. These consolidated financial statements and the schedule
referred to below are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and the schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of AutoNation, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Cur audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a
whole. The schedule listed in the index to consolidated financial statements is presented for the purpose of
complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and is not part of the basic financial
statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic
financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly states in all material respects the financial data required to be
set forth therein in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Fort Lauderdale, Florida,
February 7, 2002.
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AUTONATION, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31,
(In miilions, except share data)

2001 2000
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents ..........oi it i $ 1281 § 846
Receivables, net .. ..o e 802.2 957.9
D Oy - vt e e 2,178.5 27744
Other CUITent assets, ME .. ..ttt et e e e i, 43.7 62.5
Total Current Assets ...\ttt e i i e e 3,152.5 3,879.4
RESTRICTED ASSE TS .. e e e e e 199.9 160.8
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET ... ... i i 1,583.3 11,5286
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET ... .. e e 2,865.2  2,920.2
OTHER ASSETS, NET ... i e e e e e 264.5 378.3
Total ASSEES .ottt $8,065.4 $8,8367.3
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Floorplan notes payable...... ... .. e P $1,900.7 $2,454.0
Accounts payable .. ... e 149.7 143.2
Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt.................. ... ... 7.9 6.8
Other current Habilities . .o\ttt et e et e 519.8 574.6
Total Current Liabilities . ... ... o i i e e 2,578.1  3,178.6
LONG-TERM DEBT, NET OF CURRENT MATURITIES ................... 647.3 850.4
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES ... ittt it i ittt e e 853.8 877.2
OTHER LIABILITIES .. o e e et e 158.3 118.6
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued —_ —
Common stock, par value $.01 per share; 1,500,000,000 shares authorized;
476,472,730 and 475,559,195 shares issued and outstanding including shares held
in treasury, reSpeCtively . . ..ottt 4.8 4.8
Additional paid-in capital . ... ... e e 46740 4,664.7
Retained armilgs. . oottt et e i e 881.6 649.3
Accumulated other comprehensive income......... oo 1.6 1.0
Treasury stock, at cost; 154,759,709 and 127,473,709 shares held, respectively .. ... (1,734.1) (1,477.3)
Total Shareholders’ Equity .. ...t i 3,827.9 3,842.5
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity ............c oot $8,065.4 $8,867.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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AUTONATION, INC,

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions, except per share data)

2001 2008 1999
REVENUE .. e e e e e $19,989.3 $20,599.0 $20,099.0
Cost of OPETationS .. v vttt it i 17,1154 17,7769 17,308.4
GROSS MARGIN ... . e e e 2,873.9 2,822.1 2,790.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses ....................... 2,207.2 2,171.7 2,279.4
DePreciation . . ... ..t i e e 70.7 54.7 60.1
AMOTHZAtION . . o ottt e e i 81.2 79.1 62.9
Loan and lease underwriting losses (income), net................... 89.6 6.0 (12.3)
Restructuring and impairment charges (recoveries), net ............. 4.5 (20.4) 416.4
Other GaINS . vttt e e (19.3) — —
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) ..o 440.0 525.0 (15.4)
Other INtErest EXPENSE . .« v vt vttt e e e et (43.7) (47.7) (34.9)
Interest iNCOME. ... vttt e et et 9.0 14.3 20.6
Other income (eXpense), Net . ...... e ieetteiiirinreereeenn.s (4.5) 334 2.2
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
BEFORE INCOME TAXES ... .. i 400.8 525.0 (27.5)
Provision for inCome taxes .. .. ..., vuieunirne e 155.8 196.9 4.0
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ...... .. 245.0 328.1 (31.5)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes. . .. (12.7) 13.1 (30.6)
Gain (loss) on disposal of segments, net of income taxes of $(1.4)
and $516.9 in 2000 and 1999, respectively ............ ... ..... — (11.3) 345.0
(12.7) 1.8 314.4
NET INCOME ... i e e e i § 2323 § 3299 § 2829
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Continuing OPETAtiONS ...\ vttt vttt ettt e eneaaenaeaeannas $ g4 8 g1 $ (07
Discontinued Operations . .......... ...ttt (.04) — 73
Net income.............. e e $ 70 9§ 91 § .66
Weighted average common shares outstanding ................... 3334 361.3 429.8
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Continuing OPErations ... .....c.vireunniiieen e $ 73 8 91 $ (.07)
Discontinued operations .............c.. ittt (.04) — 73
Nt IO . o oottt e et e $ 69 § 91 § .66
Weighted average common shares outstanding ................... 335.2 361.4 429.8

The accompanying notes are. an integral part of these statements.
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AUTONATION, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (LOSS)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(In millions)

Accumulated
Other
Compre-
Additional hensive Comprehensive
Common Paid-in Retained Income Treasury Income
Stock Capital Earnings (Loss) Stock (Loss)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31,1998 ................. $4.7 $4,628.9 § 9309 $(4.3) $ (136.0)
Comprehensive income (loss):
Netincome .........oovvvennnn.. S —_ — 2829 — — $2829
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments............. —_ — — —_ — (1.9)
Adjustments to marketable securities and interest-only
strip receivables. ... o e — — — — — 12.8
Other comprehensive income ..............oouven.. — — — 10.9 — 10.9
Comprehensive income . .......ooviineriiieeann — — — — — $2938
Purchases of treasury stock ........... . ...oiiiia. — — — — (1,158.0)
Issuance of treasury stock for employee benefit plan .. ... — I — — 10.4
Exercise of stock options and warrants, including income
tax benefitof $1.1. ... ... i — 28.5 — — —
(01 T=> PP = 4.0 -— —_ (18)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31,1999 ................. 47 4,661.5 1,213.8 6.6 (1,285.4)
Comprehensive income (loss):
Netineome .. ..ot aiieans — —_ 329.9 — — $329.9
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments............. — — — - — 6.4
Adjustments to marketable securities and interest-only
strip receivables. . ... o i i i i — —_ —_ — — (12.0)
Other comprehensive loss ................oiena. —_ —_ — (5.6) - 5.6)
Comprehensive income .............cooiiiinn.. - —_ — - — $324.3
Purchases of treasury stock ................ ... ...l — — —_ - (188.9)
Spin-off of ANC Rental Corporation.................. — — (894.4) — —
Exercise of stock options and warrants, including income
tax benefit of $1.0. ... .. ... i A 22 — —_ —
Other .. e = 1.0 — (30)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31,2000 ................. 48 4,664.7 649.3 1.0 (1,477.3)

Comprehensive income:
Net InCOMeE .. .vvett et e e — - 2323 — — $232.3

Other comprehensive income:
Adjustments to restricted investments, marketable

securities and interest-only strip receivables ........ — — — — —_ .6
Other comprehensive income ...................... — - — 6 — .6
Comprehensive income . .........coiiiiiianaennn —_ —_ — — — $232.9

Purchases of treasury Stock .........c.oviiiiiinieinnn
Exercise of stock options and warrants, including income

I
|
|
I

(256.8)

tax benefitof $.9. ... ... — 10.0 —_ — —_
Other .. e - (.7) — —
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31,2001 ................. gﬁ $4,6740 § 8816 $1.6 $(1,734.1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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AUTONATION, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31,
(In millions)

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

D201 1o o+ U,

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization .......... .. iiittr i
Amortization of debt issue costs and discounts ...... ... .o i i i,
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) ............. .. . i,
Loan and lease underwriting losses .........ooviinivinniininiiiiniiananns
Restructuring and impairment charges (recoveries), net...........o.evvvnnn...
O T GaINS . ot e e
Gain on sale of marketable securities, net.......... ... ... o i i,
Valuation write-down on equity-method investment ............... ... .......
Gainon sale of subsidiary .. ... o i i
Loss (income) from discontinued operations .. .........covvviiiiniii e,
T L e
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from business combinations and

divestitures:

Receivables .. ..t
Inventory .. e
Other @S8EES . .ot e e e e e
Floorplan notes payable .. ... ... v i e e
Accounts payable .. ... e
Other liabilities . . ..o oo

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment ........... ..t i
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment and assets held forsale ............
Funding of instaliment loan receivables, net of collections . ......................
Proceeds from sales of installment loan receivables. ............. .. ... .ot
Net change in restricted cash . ... oo e
Purchases of restricted IMVESIMENtS . ... ..o vttt iiiiin e eeanneens
Sales of restricted investments .. ... ... i e
Purchases of investments. ...ttt e
Sales of INVESIMENTS . . . ... e it e e
Cash used in business acquisitions, net of cash acquired. ........................
Cash received from business divestitures........... .o it
Cash received on disposal of solid waste services segment ... ... e
OheT L e e e

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net proceeds (payments) under revolving credit facilities .......................
Purchases of treasury stock . ... ... i i i e i
Proceeds from sale leaseback financing ........... .. oo i i
Proceeds from other debt ... .. ittt
Payments of notes payable and long-term debt .............. ... .. ... L
Proceeds from issuance of unsecured seniornotes . ............. i,
L 1411 PP

CASH PROVIDED BY CONTINUING OPERATIONS ........................
CASH USED IN DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS .. ... i
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ...........
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at beginning of period, including cash and cash
equivalents of discontinued operations of $17.4 and $590.1 at December 31, 2000 and
1999, TeSPECtIVElY . . i e

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at end of period, including cash and cash

equivalents of discontinued operations of $17.4 at December 31,1999 .............

2001 2000 1999
$2323 $329.9 § 2829
1519  133.8 123.0
29 1.8 3
(46.1) 913 (127.2)
809 166 —
45  (204) 4329
(19.3) — —
(4) (23.7) (4.5)
— 300 —
—  (53.3) —
127 (1.8)  (314.4)
(1.8) 4.1 (3.7)
749 (86.9) (79.5)
5447  (37.2)  (380.8)
(16.5)  13.6 (19.7)
(514.4) 159.4 431.4
757 (19.9) (1.4)
263 (105.7)  139.3
540.1 4314 478.6
(163.6) (138.7)  (242.3)
98.3° 129.9 88.4
(474.9) (562.3) (1,578.6)
5572 72037 15994
1213 (76.6)  (51.2)
(1749)  — —
19.9 — —
— (1) (88.5)
S 916 116.7
(92.0) (313.3)  (914.0)
612" 1787 131.3
Z — 17796
3.5 (4)  (15.2)
(43.5) 285 825.6
(615.0) (54.0)  169.0
(256.8) (188.9) (1,158.0)
— 521 —
153.3 — —
(178.3) (197.0)  (127.8)
4347 — —
9.0 1.3 29.0
(453.1) (386.5) (1,087.8)
435 134 216.4
— (227.0)  (706.3)
435 (153.6)  (489.9)
846 2382 728.1
$128.1 $ 846 § 2382

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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AUTONATION, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(All tabies in millions, except per share data)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Business

AutoNation, Inc. (the “Company”) is the largest automotive retailer in the United States. As of
December 31, 2001, the Company owned and operated 368 new vehicle franchises from 278 dealerships
located in major metropolitan markets in 17 states, predominantly in the Sunbelt region of the United States.
The Company’s dealerships sell new and used vehicles. In addition, each dealership also offers financing for
vehicle purchases, extended service contracts and insurance products, as well as other aftermarket products
such as vehicle accessories. The Company’s dealerships also offer service facilities that provide a wide range of
vehicle maintenance, repair services, and operate collision repair centers in most key markets,

In December 2001, the Company decided that it would no longer underwrite retail automobile loans for
customers at its dealerships. As further discussed in Note 12, Finance Underwriting and Asset Securitizations,
in 2001, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $85.8 million to reflect a write-down of outstanding auto
loans and related assets in its portfolio and to cover costs associated with its exit from the auto loan
underwriting business.

On June 30, 2000, the Company completed the spin-off of its former automotive rental businesses,
organized under ANC Rental Corporation (“ANC Rental”), by distributing 100% of ANC Rental’s common
stock to AutoNation’s stockholders as a tax-free dividend. The Company’s former automotive rental segment
has been accounted for as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements
and accordingly, the net assets and operating results of ANC Rental for the periods prior to disposition have
been classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. As
discussed in Note 16, Discontinued Operations, ANC Rental declared bankruptcy in November 2001. The
Company was called on to perform under certain credit enhancements and guarantees and, accordingly in
December 2001, the Company incurred a pre-tax charge of $20.0 million which is included in Income (Loss)
from Discontinued Operations.

In July 1998, the Company’s former solid waste subsidiary, Republic Services, Inc., completed an initial
public offering of 36.1% of its common stock. In May 1999, the Company sold substantially all of its interest in
Republic Services in a public offering. As discussed in Note 16, Discontinued Operations, the Company’s
former solid waste services segment has been accounted for as discontinued operations in the accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements and accordingly, operating results of Republic Services for the periods
prior to disposition have been classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Basis of Presentaticn

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of AutoNation, Inc. and its
subsidiaries. The Company operates in a single industry segment, automotive retailing. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated. In order to maintain consistency and comparability between
periods presented, floorplan interest expense and certain other amounts have been reclassified from the
previously reported financial statements to conform to the financial statement presentation of the current
period. Floorplan interest expense, which previously was classified as interest expense below operating income,
is now presented as a component of Cost of Operations in the accompanying Consolidated Income Statements
to provide more meaningful information regarding the Company’s margin performance. Changes in floorplan
notes payable, which previously were classified as financing activities have been reclassified to operating
activities in the accompanying Statement of Cash Flows to provide a more meaningful representation of the
Company’s operating activities. In addition, Loan and Lease Underwriting Losses (Income), Net related to
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AUTONATION, INC.
NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAE STATEMENTS — (Continued)

the Company’s finance and lease underwriting businesses which the Company has exited have been presented
separately for all periods presented in the accompanying Consolidated Income Statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates made by
the Company in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements relate to reserves for accounts
receivable and inventory valuations, chargebacks against revenue recognized from the sales of finance and
insurance products, lease residual values, certain assumptions related to goodwill and intangible assets,
reserves for certain legal proceedings, estimates of assumed liabilities related to ANC Rental (see Note 16,
Discontinued Operations), reserves for estimated tax liabilities related to certain transactions (see Note 14,
Income Taxes) and estimates used in the write-down of outstanding auto loans and related assets and to cover
costs associated with the Company’s exit from the auto loan underwriting business (see Note 12, Finance
Underwriting and Asset Securitizations). Actual outcomes could differ from those estimates.

Inventory

Inventory consists primarily of retail vehicles held for sale valued using the specific identification method,
net of reserves. Cost includes acquisition, reconditioning and transportation expenses. Parts and accessories are
valued at the factory list price, which approximates lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.

Inventory acquired in business acquisitions is recorded at fair value. Adjustments, if any, to convert from
the acquired entity’s accounting method (generally last-in, first-out) to the Company’s accounting method are
recorded as an adjustment to the cost in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired.

Investments and Restricted Investments

Investments, included in Other Assets, Net in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, consist of
marketable securities and investments in businesses accounted for under the equity method. Restricted
investments, included in Restricted Assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, consist
primarily of marketable corporate and government debt securities. Marketable securities include investments
in debt and equity securities. Restricted investments and marketable securities are primarily classified as
available for sale and are stated at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in Other Comprehen-
sive Income in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Other-than-temporary declines in investment
values are recorded as a component of Other Income (Expense), Net in the Company’s Consolidated Income
Statements. Fair value is estimated based on quoted market prices. Equity-method investments represent
investments in 50% or less owned automotive-related businesses over which the Company has the ability to
exercise significant influence. The Company records its initial equity-method investments at cost and
subsequently adjusts the carrying amounts of the investments for the Company’s share of the earnings or
losses of the investee after the acquisition date as a component of Other Income {(Expense), Net in the
Company’s Consolidated Income Statements. The Company continually assesses whether equity-method
investments should be evaluated for possible impairment by use of an estimate of the related undiscounted
cash flows. The Company measures impairment losses based upon the amount by which the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds the fair value.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for major additions and improvements are
capitalized, while minor replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. When
property is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the
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accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in Other Income (Expense), Net in the Consolidated
Income Statements.

The Company revises the estimated useful lives of property and equipment acquired through its business
acquisitions to conform with its policies regarding property and equipment. Depreciation is provided over the
estimated useful lives of the assets involved using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives are:
twenty to forty years for buildings and improvements, three to fifteen years for equipment and five to ten years
for furniture and fixtures.

The Company continually evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that may warrant
revision of the estimated useful life of property and equipment or whether the remaining balance of property
and equipment should be evaluated for possible impairment. The Company uses an estimate of the related
undiscounted cash flows over the remaining life of the property and equipment in assessing whether an asset
has been impaired. The Company measures impairment losses based upon the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value. Fair values generally are estimated using prices for similar assets
and/or discounted cash flows. As described in Note 13, Restructuring Activities and Impairment Charges, the
Company recognized an impairment charge in 1999 for the write-down of certain megastore and other
properties held for sale to fair value. Properties held for sale are included in Other Assets, Net as described
below.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS 144”), SFAS 144 supercedes Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-
Lived Assets to Be Disposed of” and Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of
Operations — Reporting the Effect of the Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions” (“APB 30”). SFAS 144 establishes a single accounting
model for assets to be disposed of by sale whether previously held and used or newly acquired. SFAS 144
retains the provisions of APB 30 for the presentation of discontinued operations in the income statement but
broadens the presentation to include a component of an entity. SFAS 144 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2001 and the interim periods within. The Company does not believe that the adoption of
SFAS 144 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of the cost of acquired businesses in excess of the fair value of net
assets acquired, including cost in excess of the fair value of net assets not identified with specific acquired
businesses, or enterprise-level intangible assets. The cost in excess of the fair value of net assets is amortized
over forty years on a straight-line basis. Accumulated amortization of intangible assets was $275.1 million and
$195.4 million at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company continually evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred that may warrant
revision of the estimated useful life of intangible assets or whether the remaining balance of intangible assets
should be evaluated for possible impairment. The Company uses an estimate of the related undiscounted cash
flows over the remaining life of the intangible assets in assessing whether intangible assets have been impaired.
The Company measures impairment losses based upon the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds the fair value.

On June 30, 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) finalized Statements of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”") and No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”).

The Company has adopted the provisions of SFAS 141 which require all business combinations initiated
after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method, eliminating the pooling of interests
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method. Additionally acquired intangible assets should be separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible
asset is obtained through contractual or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred,
licensed, rented or exchanged, regardless of the acquirer’s intent to do so.

SFAS 142, upon adoption, eliminates goodwill amortization over its estimated useful life. However,
goodwill will be subject to an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value based test. Intangible
assets with definitive lives will need to be amortized over their useful lives.

The provisions of SFAS 142 applied immediately to all acquisitions completed after June 30, 2001.
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives existing at June 30, 2001 were amortized until
December 31, 2001. Effective January 1, 2002 such amortization ceased, as companies were required to adopt
the new rules on that date. By the end of the first quarter of calendar year 2002, the Company will, as required,
begin to perform an impairment analysis of intangible assets. SFAS 142 requires the Company upon adoption
and at least annually to reassess the intangible assets, including goodwill, previously recorded in connection
with earlier purchase acquisitions, as well as their useful lives. Furthermore, the Company will, as required,
complete the first step of the goodwill transition impairment test by June 30, 2002 which requires determining
the fair value of the reporting unit, as defined by SFAS 142, and comparing it to the carrying value of the net
assets allocated to the reporting unit. If this fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further analysis is
required. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value of the net assets, the Company
must perform step two of the SFAS 142 impairment test, which requires the Company to allocate the implied
fair value of the reporting unit to all underlying assets and liabilities, including both recognized and
unrecognized tangible and intangible assets, based on their fair value. Any impairment noted must be recorded
at the date of adoption restating first quarter results, if necessary. Impairment charges, if any, that result from
the application of the above test would be recorded as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle in the first quarter of the year ending December 31, 2002.

The Company will not be able to determine the ultimate impact of SFAS 142 on its Consolidated
Financial Statements until such time as the Company applies its provisions.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133), as
amended. SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument
(including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded in the balance sheet as
either an asset or liability measured at its fair value. SFAS 133 requires that changes in the derivative
instrument’s fair value be recognized currently in earnings. The accounting for the portion reported in earnings
due to changes in fair value of the derivative instrument depends on whether the derivative qualifies as a
hedge. If the derivative instrument does not qualify as a hedge, the gains or losses are reported in earnings
when they occur. Special accounting for qualifying hedges allows a derivative instrument’s gains and losses to
offset related results on the hedged item in earnings, to the extent effective, and requires that a company
formally document, designate, and assess the effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting.

The Company maintains an overall risk management strategy that utilizes a variety of interest rate
financial instruments to mitigate its exposure to fluctuations caused by volatility in interest rates. The
Company does not use derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

The Company’s investments in securitizations resulting from its commercial paper warehouse facility,
which has been terminated (See Note 12, Finance Underwriting and Asset Securitizations), were considered
hybrid instruments under SFAS 133. Included in the hybrid instrument was an embedded derivative
instrument for the interest and prepayment components of the risk of the securitized installment loan
receivables.
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SFAS 133 required that the Company’s embedded derivative instrument be separated from the host
contract and carried at fair value. Because the Company was not using the embedded derivative instrument as
a hedging instrument, SFAS 133 required that the Company report the embedded derivative instrument on its
balance sheet and changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative instrument currently in earnings.

As of January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS 133 and recorded its embedded derivative
instrument and its caps and floors outstanding at January 1, 2001 on its balance sheet which resulted in an
increase to assets and liabilities of approximately $14.3 million. The effect to earnings was not material.

The Company recorded the gains and losses from its embedded derivative contracts and other derivatives
as a component of Loan and Lease Underwriting Losses (Income), Net in the accompanying Consolidated
Income Statements. The fair value of any outstanding derivative contracts is included in other assets and other
liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, as applicable. In 2001, the Company recorded
gains and losses relating to the change in fair value of its embedded derivative contracts offset by the change in
fair value of its other derivative instruments that were not material. At December 31, 2001, the Company had
no derivative financial instruments outstanding.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists of sales of new and used vehicles and related finance and insurance (“F&I”) products,
sales from parts and service and sales of other products. The Company recognizes revenue in the period in
which products are sold or services are provided. Revenue on finance products represents fees earned by the
Company for notes placed with financial institutions in connection with customer vehicle purchases financed
and is recognized upon acceptance of credit by the financial institution. Commission revenue on warranty and
insurance products sold in connection with vehicle sales is recognized upon sale. An estimated allowance for
chargebacks against revenue recognized from sales of F&I products is established during the period in which
the related revenue is recognized. The Company may reinsure some or all of the underwriting risk related to
extended warranty and credit insurance products sold and administered by certain independent third parties
through its captive insurance subsidiaries. Revenue and related direct costs from these reinsurance transac-
tions are deferred and recognized over the life of the policies. For installment loans not securitized, revenue
from retail financing and certain loan underwriting costs are recognized over the term of the contract using the
interest method. As further discussed in Note 12, Finance Underwriting and Assets Securitizations, as of
December 2001, the Company has exited the auto loan underwriting business. Manufacturer incentives and
rebates, including, holdbacks, are recognized when earned in accordance with the respective manufacturers’
programs.

The Company’s revenue recognition policy is in accordance with the provisions of Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB 101”’), which provides guidance on
the recognition, presentation and disclosure of revenue in financial statements.

A summary of the Company’s revenue by major products and services for the years ended December 31
is as follows:

2001 2000 1999
New vehicles .. ... i e e i $12,000.0 $12,489.3 $11,481.0
Used vehicles ..ot i i e e 3,883.2 3,860.2 4,429.7
Partsand service ... ... .. i e 2,404.9 2,334.9 2,222.0
Finance and insurance, net . ..........ovivririinnenennnn. 489.6 431.8 423.4
Other . .. 1,211.6 1,482.8 1,542.9

$19,989.3 $20,599.0 $20,099.0
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Floorplan Interest Expense and Floorplan Assistance

Floorplan interest expense and floorplan assistance are included as a component of Cost of Operations in
the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. Floorplan interest expense is recognized as incurred.
Floorplan assistance is recognized when earned in accordance with the respective manufacturers’ programs. A
summary of the Company’s floorplan interest expense and floorplan assistance related to new vehicles at
December 31 is as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Floorplan interest €Xpense ... ........coiveerererernunnaneenns $(126.7) $(198.6) $(123.4)
Floorplan assistance .............oeurrnvniereirununnnnnaanns $ 1408 $ 1940 $ 156.3

Income Taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries file consolidated federal tax returns. The Company accounts for
income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). Accordingly, deferred income taxes have been provided to show the effect of
temporary differences between the recognition of revenue and expenses for financial and income tax reporting
purposes and between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial
statements.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is based on the
combined weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding which
include, where appropriate, the assumed exercise or conversion of options and warrants. In computing diluted
earnings (loss) per share, the Company has utilized the treasury stock method.

Advertising

The Company expenses the cost of advertising as incurred or when such advertising initially takes place,
net of earned manufacturer credits and other discounts. At December 31, 2001, the Company had
approximately $9.9 million of prepaid advertising costs associated with the sale of the Company’s former
outdoor media business as discussed in Note 18, Acquisitions and Divestitures. Advertising expense, net was
$183.2 million, $186.5 million and $212.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.

52




AUTONATION, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2. RECEIVABLES, NET

The components of receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, at December 31 are as follows:

2001 2000

Contracts in transit and vehicle receivables ............. ... ... ... ... .. $ 4149 §$ 4448
Finance receivables ... ...t e 175.7 345.0
Trade 1eCeivables .. oottt e 104.0 119.6
Manufacturer receivables .. ...t e 130.1 131.2
L 141> S P 128.7 121.2
9534 1,161.8

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts ............. ... coiiiiiiiian. (42.7) (35.1)
Finance receivables —long term ................ ..., (108.5) (168.8)
Receivables, Det .. .ot i i i e e e $ 8022 $ 957.9

The long-term portion of finance receivables are classified as Other Assets, Net in the accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements. For more information on Finance Receivables, see Note 12, Finance
Underwriting and Asset Securitizations.

3. INVENTORY AND FLOORPLAN NCTES PAYABLE

A summary of inventory at December 31 is as follows:

2001 2000
New vehiCles ..ot i e e e $1,757.5 $2,301.0
Used vEhiCIeS ..ot 273.5 317.9
Parts, accessories and other ... ... .. i i e 147.5 155.5

$2,178.5 $2,774.4

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, floorplan notes payable totaled $1.9 billion and $2.5 billion, respectively.
The Company finances new vehicle inventory through secured floorplan facilities, at a LIBOR-based rate of
interest (3.1% and 7.7% at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively) primarily with manufacturers’ captive
finance subsidiaries and independent financial institutions. As of December 31, 2001, capacity under the
floorplan credit facilities was approximately $3.5 billion.

4. RESTRICTED ASSETS AND REINSURANCE

The Company offers its customers various vehicle protection products, such as extended service
contracts, vehicle protection and maintenance programs, and insurance products. The products the Company
offers include products that are sold and administered by independent third parties, including the vehicle
manufacturers’ captive finance subsidiaries. Pursuant to the Company’s arrangements with these third-party
finance and insurance product providers, it either sells the products on a straight commission basis or it sells
the product, recognizes commission and assumes some or all of the underwriting risk through reinsurance
agreements with its captive insurance subsidiaries. As disclosed below, the Company has restricted cash and
investments primarily in trust accounts in accordance with the terms and conditions of certain reinsurance

agreements to secure the payments of outstanding losses and loss adjustment expenses relating to its insurance
captives.
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A summary of restricted assets at December 31 is as follows:

_2001
Restricted cash .. ..ot i e e e $ 43.7
Restricted investments. . .........covviinrnn.. e e e e 156.2
$199.9

Restricted investments are classified as available-for-sale and as such are reflected at fair market value at

December 31, 2001 as follows:

2000
$160.8

$160.8

Gross Gross Fair
Unrealized Unrealized Market

Cost Gains Losses Value
Government and agency obligations. .................. $ 739 $.9 $— $ 748
Corporate debt securities............ccovvviiei.. 80.8 .6 — 81.4
$154.7 1.5 $— $156.2

At December 31, 2001, aggregate maturities of the Company’s highly-liquid restricted investments are as

follows:
Cost
Due after one year through Syears .........coviiir i, $140.8
Due after 5 years through 10 years .......... ... i ittt _ 139
$154.7

Proceeds from sales and related gross realized gains from the sale of available-for-sale restricted

investments were $19.9 million and $.1 million for 2001, respectively.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, current unearned premiums and loss reserves related to the Company’s
reinsurance programs, were included in Other Current Liabilities and long term unearned premiums and loss

reserves were included in Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

2001
Reinsurance Reserves
Unearned premiums — CUITeNt POTHON . .. .ot vvt ittt iii e $ 76.4
Unearned premiums — long term portion . ..., 91.2
Total unearned premiums ... ......ovviiiiiii e $167.6
Loss reserves — Current Portion . ... ovuv vt e eine it $ 130
Loss reserves — long teTm POrtion . .. oottt 3.1
Total 10SS TESEIVES ..ottt e i $ 16.1
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5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

A summary of property and equipment at December 31 is as follows:

2001 2000
Land ..o e e e § 586.6 § 596.2
Buildings and improvements . . . ..., oottt e 902.7 817.9
Furniture, fixtures and equipment .............oooi it 303.6 282.3

1,792.9  1,696.4
...................................... (209.6) _ (167.8)

$1,583.3 $1,528.6

Less: accumulated depreciation

During 2000, the Company sold an office building which is occupied by ANC Rental, resulting in
proceeds of approximately $18.7 million and a pre-tax gain of $2.3 million reflected in Other Income
(Expense), Net in the accompanying 2000 Consolidated Income Statement.

6. OTHER ASSETS, NET

A summary of other assets, net at December 31 is as follows:

2001 2000
Finance receivables-long term (see Note 12) ........ ... .. iinnennn. $108.5 $168.8
Property held for sale, net......... ..o 722 138.8
63 1y 1] (- P 30.1 38.8
Notes receivables, et ...t i i i e e e e 24.1 14.0
Debt issuance costs, net of accumulated amortization of $2.5in 2001 ......... 18.4 —
L 11+ 1< 11.2 17.9

$264.5 $378.3

Property held for sale consists of closed megastores and other properties, including closed lease
properties, that the Company continues to dispose of through sales to third parties. The majority of these
properties will be disposed of by the end of 2002. As described in Note 13, Restructuring Activities and
Impairment Charges, the Company recognized an impairment charge in 1999 to write-down the carrying
value of certain properties held for sale to fair value.

A summary of investments included in Other Assets, Net at December 31 is as follows:

2000 2000
Marketable SECUMtIES . o v vttt e $44 $ 52
Equity-method investments. .. .......ooo ittt 25.7 33.6

$30.1 $38.8

Investments in marketable securities at December 31 reflected at fair market value are as follows:

2001

Gross Gross Fair

Unrealized Unrealized Market

Cost Gains Losses Value

Corporate debt securities .. .........c.ovvirivirenen.... $.5 $— $— $.5
Equity SECUTHES .. .vvvt ettt it 2.9 1.0 — 3.9
$3.4 $1.0 $— $4.4
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2000
Gross Gross Fair
Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
Corporate debt securities .............ocoviieiniennnn.ns $.6 $— $— $ .6
Equity SECURIES .. ...ttt it e 3.1 1.5 — 4.6
3.7 $1.5 $— $5.2

Sales of available-for-sale securities are as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Proceeds from sales ......... .. i $.5 $91.6 $116.7
Gross realized @ains ......... oottt e $ .3 $24.0 $ 53
Gross realized 10SSES . ... oottt e $— $(3) $ (8)

In 2000, the Company recorded a pre-tax $30.0 million valuation write-down to an equity-method
investment in a privately-held salvage and parts recycling business as well as a $5.0 million write-down to fair
value of another equity-method investment, subsequently sold in early 2001 at no additional gain or loss. These
amounts are reflected in Other Income (Expense), Net in the accompanying 2000 Consolidated Income
Statement.

Debt issuance costs of $21.3 million were recorded in 2001 of which $18.4 million, net, is classified as
Other Assets, Net and $.4 million is classified as Other Current Assets, Net in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2001 primarily related to the sale of $450.0 million of 9.0%
senior unsecured notes, and two new revolving credit facilities entered into by the Company with aggregate
capacity of $500.0 million as discussed in Note 8, Notes Payable and Long-term Debt. Debt issuance costs are
amortized to Interest Expense using the effective interest method through maturity.

7. INSURANCE

Under self-insurance programs, the Company retains various levels of aggregate loss limits, per claim
deductibles and claims handling expenses as part of its various insurance programs, including property and
casualty and employee medical benefits. Costs in excess of this retained risk per claim are insured under
various contracts with third party insurance carriers. The ultimate costs of these retained insurance risks are
estimated by management and by actuarial evaluation based on historical claims experience, adjusted for
current trends and changes in claims-handling procedures.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, current insurance reserves were included in other Current Liabilities in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets and long term insurance reserves were included in Other Liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

2001 2000

Self-insurance Reserves
Insurance reserves — CUrrent POTtioN . . ... ..vvvvneeinr e et cinenn, $18.8 $28.0
Insurance reserves — long term portion ............c.c.ovviuiieeiiiiinninnn.. 145 129
Total INSUTANCE TESETVES v\ttt s s e ettt eniine e iiineneeans $33.3 $40.9
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8. NOTES PAYABLE AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Notes payable and long-term debt at December 31 are as follows:

2001 2600
$450.0 million, 9% senior unsecured notes; due August 1, 2008, net of
unamortized discount of $5.5 million......... ... ... ... i i, $4445 § —
Revolving credit facilities; LIBOR-based interest rates (4.1% and 7.6% at
December 31, 2001 and 2000) ...t i — 6150
Other debt; secured by real property, equipment and other assets; interest
ranging 4.0% to 8.0%; maturing through 2011 ............ .. ... ... ...... 210.7 2422
6552 857.2
Less: CUITENt MAtUTIHES . o v vttt vt e ettt et e n ettt (1.9) _ (6.8)

$647.3 $850.4

As of December 31, 2000, the Company had a multi-year unsecured revolving credit facility which
provided $1.0 billion of financing and was scheduled to mature in April 2002 that was repaid in full and
terminated on August 10, 2001. Another unsecured facility provided $500.0 million of capacity and was
amended in 2001 to provide $250.0 million of borrowing capacity until its termination on June 29, 2001. In
August 2001, the Company entered into two new senior secured revolving credit facilities with an aggregate
capacity of $500.0 million. The 364-day revolving credit facility provides borrowing capacity up to $200.0
million at a LIBOR-based interest rate. The five-year facility provides borrowing capacity up to $300.0 million
at a LIBOR-based interest rate. These revolving credit facilities are secured by a pledge of the capital stock of
certain subsidiaries, which directly or indirectly own substantially all of the Company’s dealerships, and are
guaranteed by substantially all of its subsidiaries. No amounts are drawn on these revolving credit facilities.

In August 2001, the Company sold $450.0 million of 9.0% senior unsecured notes due August 1, 2008 ata
price of 98.731% of face value. The unamortized discount is being amortized using the effective interest
method through maturity. The senior unsecured notes are guaranteed by substantially all of the Company’s
subsidiaries.

Within the meaning of Regulation S-X, Rule 3-10, AutoNation, Inc. (the parent company) has no
independent assets or operations, the guarantees of its subsidiaries are full and unconditional and joint and
several, and any subsidiaries other than the guarantor subsidiaries are minor.

In June 2001, the Company entered into a mortgage facility with an automotive manufacturer’s captive
finance subsidiary with an aggregate capacity of $150.0 million. At December 31, 2001, the amount
outstanding under this mortgage facility was $115.0 million. The facility has a ten-year term, bears interest at
a LIBOR-based rate and is secured by mortgages on certain of the Company’s dealerships’ real property.

In October 2001, the Company entered into a mortgage facility with an another automotive manufac-
turer’s captive finance subsidiary with an aggregate capacity of $150.0 million. At December 31, 2001, the
amount outstanding under this mortgage facility was $38.4 million. The facility has a five-year term, bears
interest at a LIBOR-based rate and is secured by mortgages on certain of the Company’s dealerships’ real
property.

The Company used the net proceeds of the note offering and additional borrowings under the new
mortgage facilities to repay outstanding amounts under the $1.0 billion revolving credit facility and certain
other debt.

The Company’s new revolving credit facilities and the indenture for the Company’s senior unsecured
notes contain numerous customary financial and operating covenants that place significant restrictions on the
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Company, including the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, to create liens or other
encumbrances, to make certain payments (including dividends and share repurchases), and investments, and
to sell or otherwise dispose of assets and merge or consolidate with other entities. The new revolving credit
facilities and the indenture for the Company’s senior unsecured notes also require the Company to meet
certain financial ratios and tests. At December 31, 2001, the Company was in compliance with the
requirements of the revolving credit facilities and indenture for the Company’s senior unsecured notes.

The Company was the lessee under a lease facility that was established to acquire and develop its former
megastore properties. As originally structured, the facility was accounted for as an operating lease and
included residual value guarantees. In 1999, certain properties under the facility were reflected as capital
leases. In connection with the Company’s 1999 restructuring activities as of December 31, 1999, the Company
accrued an estimate of the liability under the residual value guarantee totaling approximately $103.3 million.
In September 2000, the Company funded the remaining lease residual value guarantee obligation to the lessor,
reduced the facility size from $500.0 million to $210.0 million and amended the terms of the facility though
the notification of its intention to exercise the option to purchase the leased properties at the end of the term.
As a result of the amendment, all of the leases had been accounted for as capital leases at December 31, 2000,
with the property and related debt included in accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. In August 2001,
the Company repaid the debt and terminated this facility.

During 2000, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction involving its corporate headquarters
facility that resulted in net proceeds of approximately $52.1 million with an effective interest rate of 7.75% at
December 31, 2001. This transaction was accounted for as a financing lease, wherein the property remains on
the books and continues to be depreciated. The gain on this transaction will be recognized subsequent to the
ten-year lease term. The Company has the option to renew the lease at the end of the lease term subject to
certain conditions.

At December 31, 2001, aggregate maturities of notes payable and long-term debt, excluding floorplan
notes payable, were as follows:

Year Ending December 31:

200 L e e $ 79
2003 L e 9.5
2004 .o e 8.7
2000 L e 9.2
2006 .+ i e e e e e e e 42.0
=5 (=71 £ (=) 577.9

$655.2

9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved, and will continue to be involved, in numerous legal proceedings arising out of
the conduct of its business, including litigation with customers, employment related lawsuits, class actions,
purported class actions and actions brought by governmental authorities.

In October 2000, the California Department of Motor Vehicles (“California DMV”’) brought an action
against one of the Company’s subsidiaries’ dealerships for alleged customer fraud as well as several other
claims. In April 2001, the Company settled the California DMV action and a related action by the State of
California. The Company has reached a preliminary settlement of three purported civil class actions (which
have been consolidated) relating to this matter, subject to certain conditions. Other lawsuits and claims have
also been filed or made against the dealership based on the allegations underlying the California DMV case.
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In an action filed in Florida state court in 1999, one of the Company’s subsidiaries was accused of
violating, among other things, the Florida Motor Vehicle Retail Sales Finance Act and the Florida Deceptive
and Unfair Trade Practices Act by allegedly failing to deliver executed copies of retail installment contracts to
customers of the Company’s former used vehicle megastores. On October 31, 2000, the court certified the
class of customers on whose behalf the action would proceed. In July 2001, Florida’s Fourth District Court of
Appeals upheld the certification of the class.

Many of the Company’s Texas dealership subsidiaries have been named in three class actions brought
against the Texas Automobile Dealer’s Association and new vehicle dealerships in Texas that are members of
the TADA. The actions allege that since January 1994, Texas dealers have deceived customers with respect to
a vehicle inventory tax and violated federal antitrust and other laws as well. Two of the cases are currently
pending in Texas State court and the third is pending in the federal district court for the Eastern District of
Texas.

The Company intends to vigorously defend itself and assert available defenses with respect to each of the
foregoing matters. Further, the Company has certain insurance coverage and rights of indemnification with
respect to certain aspects of the foregoing matters. However, a settlement or an adverse resolution of one or
more of these matters may result in the payment of significant costs and damages, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

In addition to the foregoing cases, the Company is also a party to numerous other legal proceedings that
arose in the conduct of its business. The Company does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these
matters will have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition or cash
flows. However, the results of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution
of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows and prospects.

Lease Commitments

The Company leases real property, equipment and software under various operating leases most of which
have terms from 1 to 20 years.

Expenses under real property, equipment and software leases were $77.5 million, $82.7 million and $86.2
million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 respectively.

Future minimum lease obligations under noncancelable real property, equipment and software leases with
initial terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2001 are as follows:

Year Ending December 31:

2002 L e $ 76.1
2003 L e e e e e 68.0
2004 L e 53.4
200 e 45.5
2006 . e e e e 422
Thereafter ..o e 173.4

$458.6

Other Matters

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is required to post performance and surety bonds, letters
of credit, and/or cash deposits as financial guarantees of the Company’s performance. At December 31, 2001,
surety bonds and letters of credit totaled $39.8 million and have various expiration dates.
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In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to numerous laws and regulations, including
automotive, environmental, health and safety and other laws and regulations. The Company does not
anticipate that the costs of such compliance will have a material adverse effect on its business, consolidated
results of operations, cash flows or financial condition although such cutcome is possible given the nature of
the Company’s operations and the extensive legal and regulatory framework applicable to its business.

See Note 14, Income Taxes, and Note 16, Discontinued Cperations, for discussion of other matters that
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

10. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company repurchased 27.3 million shares of its common
stock, par value $.01 per share, under its Board authorized share repurchase program for an aggregate
purchase price of $256.8 million. The Company repurchased 27.6 million shares of common stock during 2000
for an aggregate purchase price of $188.9 million. The Company repurchased 91.0 million shares of common
stock during 1999 for an aggregate purchase price of $1.2 billion. Through December 31, 2001, an aggregate of
155.0 million shares of common stock have been acquired under the Company’s share repurchase programs
for an aggregate purchase price of $1.7 billion, leaving approximately $260.3 million available for share
repurchase under the programs including an additional $250.0 million authorized in October 2001 by its Board
of Directors.

As discussed in Note 16, Discontinued Operations, the Company completed the tax-free spin-off of ANC
Rental on June 30, 2000. As a result of the spin-off, the Company’s retained earnings were reduced by the net
assets of ANC Rental totaling $894.4 million.

During the year ended December 31, 1998, the Company’s former solid waste subsidiary, Republic
Services, completed an initial public offering of approximately 36.1% of its outstanding common stock,
resulting in net proceeds of approximately $1.4 billion. In 1999, the Company sold substantiaily all of its
interest in Republic Services in a public offering resulting in proceeds of approximately $1.8 billion and
recognized a gain of $377.0 million included in Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Segments in the accompanying
Consolidated Income Statements. During 2000, the Company sold substantially all of the remaining holdings
of common stock of Republic Services resulting in proceeds of approximately $48.2 miilion. A related pre-tax
gain of $24.0 million has been reflected in Other Income (Expense), Net, in the accompanying 2000
Consolidated Income Statement.

The Company has 5.0 million authorized shares of preferred stock, par value $.01 per share, none of
which are issued or outstanding. The Board of Directors has the authority to issue the preferred stock in one or
more series and to establish the rights, preferences and dividends.

11. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

The Company has various stock option plans under which options to purchase shares of common stock
may be granted to key employees and directors of the Company. Options granted under the plans are non-
qualified and are granted at a price equal to the quoted market price of the common stock on the trading day
immediately prior to the date of grant. Generally, options granted will have a term of 10 years from the date of
grant, and will vest in increments of 25% per year over a four-year period on the yearly anniversary of the grant
date. Effective June 30, 2000, in conjunction with the tax-free spin-off of ANC Rental, options to purchase
approximately 2.8 million shares of common stock held by employees of ANC Rental were canceled. In
addition, the Company’'s Board of Directors, in accordance with the terms of the stock option plans,
authorized the adjustment of employee stock options to reflect the market effect on the Company’s common
stock resulting from the spin-off. All other terms of the existing options, including the vesting schedules, were
unchanged.
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A summary of stock option and warrant transactions is as follows for the years ended December 31:

2001 2000 1999
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Options and warrants outstanding at beginning of
period ... e e 572 $1274 509 $15.84 546 $12.52
Granted...... ... 8.0 51092 125§ 6.9] 17.0  $15.80
Exercised ... ((9) $9.26 (6) $ 216 (7.8) $ 3.73
Canceled............... e (6.7) S$I1.15 (10.2) $14.14 (12.9) $13.90
Spin-off adjustment . .......... .. ... L = § — 46 $(0157) _— § —
Options and warrants outstanding at end of period .... 57.6  §12.69 57.2 $12.74 509 $15.84
Options and warrants exercisable at end of period .... 374  $1401 327 $14.59 154 §18.58
Options available for future grants.................. 23.8 253 24.1

The following table summarizes information about outstanding and exercisable stock options at
December 31, 2001:

Qutstanding Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Exercise Price or Contractual Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Shares  Life (Yrs.) Price Shares Price
$ 102-811.05 ... i 19.6 8.49 $ 8.92 45 §$ 8.10
$11.06-813.26 . ... 19.9 415 $11.47 18.1  $11.44
$13.27-$35.88 ..ttt 181 572 $18.14 148 $18.94
57.6 612 $1269 374 $14.01

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” in accounting for stock-based employee compensation arrangements whereby compensation cost
related to stock options is generally not recognized in determining net income. Had compensation cost for the
Company’s stock option plans been determined pursuant to SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation”, the Company’s net income and earnings per share would have decreased accordingly. Using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model for all options granted after December 31, 1994, the Company’s pro
forma net income, pro forma earnings per share and pro forma weighted average fair value of options granted,
with related assumptions, are as follows for the years ended December 31:

2001 2600 1999

Pro forma net income ........... ... 0. $ 2042 § 2854 § 199.5
Pro forma diluted earnings per share ............... $ 61 $ 79 8 46
Pro forma weighted average fair value of options

Branted . .. $ 454 § 296 § 6.87
Risk free interest rates .. ........c.coviiiinnnenn.. 4.44-492% 5.07-5.15%  6.34-6.38%
Expected dividend yield....................... ... — — —
Expected lives . ..........coooviiiii i, 5-7 years 5-7 years 5-7 years
Expected volatility .......... ..o i, 40% 40% 40%

12. FINANCE UNDERWRITING AND ASSET SECURITIZATIONS

In December 2001, the Company decided to exit the business of underwriting retail automobile loans for
customers at its dealerships, which it determined was not a part of the Company’s core automotive retail
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business. The Company will continue to provide automotive loans for its customers through unrelated third
party finance sources, which historically have provided more than 95% of the auto loans made to its customers.
In addition, economic conditions in the United States worsened during the fourth quarter of 2001, as
evidenced by confirmation of a recession, lower consumer confidence, increasing unemployment and
increasing consumer credit defaults.

The decision to exit the business and the impact of the economic conditions caused the Company to incur
asset impairment and related charges totaling $85.8 million recorded in December 2001 included in Loan and
Lease Underwriting Losses (Income), Net in the Consolidated Income Statement. These charges mainly
reflect the impact of expected increases in loan losses and prepayments, as well as higher expected loan-
servicing costs. The charges also include $1.5 million of direct exit costs for asset write-offs and other costs. In
addition, during 2001 and 2000, the Company recognized impairment charges totaling $4.1 million and $16.6
million, respectively, primarily associated with the deterioration in residual values of finance lease receivables.
The Company discontinued the writing of finance leases in mid-1999.

Through 2001, the Company sold installment loan finance receivables in securitization transactions
through unrelated financial institutions. When the Company sold receivables in these securitization transac-
tions, it retained interest-only strips, one or more subordinated tranches, servicing rights, and cash reserve
accounts, all of which are classified as investments in securitizations. The remaining finance leases, installment
loans and investments in securitizations are expected to be substantially collected over the next three years.
Finance receivables due within one year are classified as Receivables, Net in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Finance receivables due after one year are classified as Other Assets, Net in the accompany-
ing Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Finance receivables consist of the following at December 31:

2001 2000
FInance JEases. . oo vttt et e e e e $ 342 %1426
Installment Joans . ...ttt e e 67.7 50.3
Investments in SECUItIZAtIONS . . . vt vttt ittt e i e e e 73.8 152.1
Total finance receivables . .. .. ... i e $175.7 $345.0

Gains or losses on the sale of the receivables in securitization transactions depended in part on the
previous carrying amount of the financial assets involved in the transfer, allocated between the assets sold and
the retained interests based on their relative fair value at the date of transfer. Gains or losses from the sale of
the receivables were recognized in the period in which sales occurred. These transactions typically result in the
recording of a securitization asset in the form of an interest-only strip, which represents the present value of
the estimated future residual cash flows from securitized receivables. Interest-only strips are carried at fair
value. Certain of the Company’s interest-only strips are marked to fair value with unrealized gains or losses
recorded directly to income. Other of the Company’s interest-only strips are marked to fair value with
unrealized gains and losses recorded through other comprehensive income unless an other than temporary
impairment occurs in the valuation of the interest-only strip in which case the impairment is recorded directly
to income. Retained interests in the subordinated tranches and cash reserve accounts are carried at allocated
carrying amounts and periodically assessed for impairment. Servicing assets were initially recorded at
allocated carrying amounts and are subsequently amortized over the servicing period and periodically assessed
for impairment. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recognized a $15.4 million provision for the
estimated excess of future sub-servicing cost over the future estimated servicing income. The Company
generally estimates fair value utilizing valuation models based on the present value of future expected cash
flows which use the Company’s best estimate and historical experience of key assumptions, including credit
losses, voluntary prepayment speeds, forward yield curve, and discount rates commensurate with the risks
involved.
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The Company previously accounted for the transfer of receivables as sales in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 125, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” In September 2000, SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities — a Replacement of FASB No. 125”
(“SFAS 140”) was issued. SFAS 140 revised the standards for accounting for securitizations and other
transfers of financial assets and collateral and requires certain disclosures. SFAS 140 disclosure requirements,
were effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2000, and have been included below. Accounting for
transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishment of liabilities under SFAS 140 was effective for
transactions occurring after March 31, 2001. The initial adoption of the accounting requirements of SFAS
140, did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows or change the Company’s accounting for transfers of receivables as sales.

Until December 2001, the Company securitized installment loan receivables through a commercial paper
warehouse facility with unrelated financial institutions. In September 2001, the Company decreased the
capacity of the commercial paper warehouse facility from $1.0 billion to $625.0 million. The warehouse
facility had a renewable 364-day term and required an annual securitization transaction to reduce indebted-
ness. During 2001 and 2000, the Company sold installment loan finance receivables of $397.5 million and
$580.1 million, respectively, under this program, net of retained interests. The Company retains responsibility
for servicing the loans for which it is paid a servicing fee. The Company in turn has a sub-servicing
arrangement with a third party. The Company also retained a subordinated interest in the sold receivables and
the rights to future cash flows arising from the receivables after the investors received their contractual return.
The Company provided additional credit enhancement in the form of a reserve fund. In December 2001, in
conjunction with the Company’s exit of the loan underwriting business, the Company terminated this facility.

Until December 2001, the Company also securitized installment loan receivables through the issuance of
asset-backed notes through non-consolidated qualified special purpose entities under a shelf registration
statement. Proceeds from these notes were used to repay commercial paper outstanding under the warehouse
facility and to finance additional loans held by the Company. In August 2001, the Company amended the shelf
registration statement to provide aggregate capacity of $2.0 billion. During 2001 and 2000, the Company
issued $850.0 million and $691.7 million, respectively, in asset-backed notes under this program, net of
retained interests. The Company provides credit enhancements related to these notes in the form of a 1% over-
collateralization, a reserve fund and a third party surety bond. The Company retains responsibility for servicing
the loans for which it is paid a servicing fee. The Company in turn has a sub-servicing arrangement with a
third party. Included in Other Current Liabilities and Other Liabilities at December 31, 2001, is the current
portion of the net servicing liability of $3.0 million and the long term portion of the net servicing liability of
$12.4 million, respectively, relating to these arrangements. The servicing liability relates to loans that have
been sold and continue to be serviced by the Company. The servicing liability is the present value, discounted
at 7.4%, of the estimated excess of future sub-servicing costs over the future estimated servicing income. At
December 31, 2001, $1.3 billion was outstanding under this program, net of retained interests. With the
Company’s decision to exit the loan underwriting business, the Company does not intend to utilize the
remaining capacity under this program. Substantially all of the beneficial interests in the debt of the qualified
special purpose entities are held by unrelated third parties. The investors and the securitization trusts have no
recourse to the Company’s assets for failure of debtors to pay when due, except to the extent of the Company’s
remaining investments in securitizations.

During 2001 and 2000, the Company recognized a pre-tax gain on the securitization of installment loan
receivables of $7.6 million and $.8 million, respectively, which has been included in Loan and Lease
Underwriting Losses (Income), Net in the Consolidated Income Statements.
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A summary of cash flows received from securitization transactions for the years ended December 31 were
as follows:

2001 2000
Proceeds from securitizations under warehouse facility...................... $397.5 $580.1
Proceeds from securitizations under shelf registration . ...................... 849.9  691.7
Servicing fees received ......... .. e 15.9 17.4
Other cash flows received on retained interests!") . ......................... 18.9 70.7
Purchases of assets from warehouse facility ............ ... ... ... o ..., (725.0) (639.6)

$557.2  §720.3

(1) Other cash flows primarily include cash flows from interest-only strips and other retained interests, excluding servicing fees.

Cash flows received from securitization transactions were used to fund installment loan receivables, net of
collections, of $474.9 million and $562.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,

respectively.

The weighted-average key economic assumptions used in measuring the Company’s investments in
securitizations at the date of securitization resulting from securitizations completed during the years ended

December 31 were as follows:
)

Assumptions'!
Description: 2001 2000
Voluntary prepayment speed (ABS) ...... ..o i 1.16% 1.33%
Weighted-average life (in years) ......ccoviiinir i e 1.80 1.72
Expected credit losses (annual rate, excluding accrued interest) . ............... 1.13% 1.08%
Discount rate on residual cash flows (annualrate) .......... .. ... ... ... ... 797% 9.50%

(1) The weighted-average annual rates for securitizations entered into during the period for securitizations of loans with similar
characteristics.

At December 31, 2001, included in investments in securitizations are interest-only strips valued at $51.2
million and cash reserve accounts valued at $22.6 million which have an aggregate weighted-average life of
1.24 years. At December 31, 2001, the sensitivity of the current fair value of the investments in securitizations
to immediate 10 percent and 20 percent unfavorable changes in assumptions are presented in the table below.
These sensitivities are hypothetical and should not be considered to be predictive of future performance. As
the figures indicate, the change in fair value based on a 10 percent variation in assumptions cannot necessarily
be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption to the change in the indicated fair value
may not be linear. Also, in this table, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the
investments in securitizations is calculated independently from any change in the other assumptions. In
reality, changes in one factor may contribute to changes in another (for example, increases in market interest
rates may result in lower prepayments and increased credit losses), which might magnify or counteract the
sensitivities. Furthermore, the disclosed estimated fair values should not be considered indicative of future
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earnings on these assets. The current rate assumptions below reflect the expected performance of the total
loans securitized as of December 31, 2001.

$ Effect on Investments in
Securitizations of

Current 10% Change 20% Change
Description Rate Assumption  in Assumption .in Assumption
Voluntary prepayment speed (ABS) ........... . ... i, 1.50% $3.7 $ 69
Expected credit losses (annual rate, excluding accrued interest) ....... 2.87% $5.2 $10.3
Discount rate on residual cash flows (annual rate) .................. 9.15% $1.1 $ 2.1

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had expected static pool credit losses on its total
serviced installment loan portfolio of 3.89% and 2.28%, respectively, (3.58% and 2.07%, respectively, excluding
accrued interest). Static pool credit losses represent estimated life-time losses as a percentage of total amounts
underwritten.

The following summarizes information about total serviced installment loans and delinquencies and net
credit losses at December 31:

2001 2000
Total Principal Principal Amount of Loans Total Principal Principal Amounts of Loans
Amount of Loans 60 Days or More Past Due  Amounts of Loans 60 Days or More Past Due
Loans securitized. ............ $1,275.9 $12.3 $1,619.2 $7.8
Loans retained on balance sheet 67.7 5.5 50.3 4
Total loans serviced .. $1,343.6 $17.8 $1,669.5 $8.2

Net credit losses are charge-offs less recoveries and are based on total installment loans serviced. Net
credit losses, including accrued interest, during the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 totaled $33.7
million and $31.5 million, respectively.

In 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the Financial Accounting Standards Board reached a
consensus on EITF Issue No. 99-20, “Recognition of Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and
Retained Beneficial Interests in Securitized Financial Assets” (“EITF 99-20""). EITF 99-20 specifies, among
other things, how a transferor that retains an interest in a securitization transaction should account for interest
income and impairment. EITF 99-20 was effective for fiscal quarters beginning after March 15, 2001. The
Company adopted EITF 99-20 as of April 1, 2001. The adoption of EITF 99-20 did not have a material
impact on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

13. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

During the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company approved a plan to restructure certain of its operations.
The restructuring plan was comprised of the following major components: (1) exiting the used vehicle
megastore business; and (2) reducing the corporate workforce. The restructuring plan also included divesting
of certain non-core franchised dealerships. Approximately 2,000 positions were eliminated as a result of the
restructuring plan of which 1,800 were megastore positions and 200 were corporate positions. These
restructuring activities resulted in pre-tax charges of $443.7 million in 1999, of which $416.4 million appears
as Restructuring and Impairment Charges (Recoveries), Net in the Company’s 1999 Consolidated Income
Statement. These pre-tax charges include $286.9 million of asset impairment charges; $103.3 million of
reserves for residual value guarantees for closed lease properties; $26.2 million of severance and other exit
costs; and $27.3 million of inventory related costs. The $286.9 million asset impairment charge consists of:
$244.9 million of megastore and other property impairments; $26.6 million of goodwill impairment reserves for
the divestiture of certain non-core franchised automotive dealerships; and $15.4 million of information systems
impairments. Of the $443.7 million restructuring reserve recorded, $10.8 million of severance was paid in 1999
and $53.7 million of asset impairments and write-offs were recorded during the fourth quarter of 1999.
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The Company continues to dispose of its closed megastores and other properties, including closed lease
properties, through sales to third parties. At December 31, 2001, properties held for sale total $72.2 million of
which properties with total asset value of $69.4 million remain to be sold of the total $285.3 million identified
as part of the restructure plan. These properties continue to be aggressively marketed. The majority of these
properties will be disposed of by the end of 2002.

The following summarizes the activity in the Company’s restructuring and impairment reserves for the
year ended December 31, 2001:

Balance Amounts Charged Deductions Balance
Reserve December 31, 2000  (Credited) to Income Cash Non-cash  December 31, 2001
Asset reserves: ,
Asset impairment ................. $ 1614 $ 4.7 $ — $ (97.7) $ 684
Accrued liabilities:
Severance and other exit costs ...... 1.2 (.2) (1.6) .8 2
$ 1626 $ 4.5 $§ (1.6) § (96.9) § 686

The following summarizes the components of the $4.5 million charged to income during the year ended
December 31, 2001:

Net Gain on Additional Impairment

Sold Properties Charges Other Total
Asset reserves:
Asset IMpaITMeNnt . .....vuvttiinreineeenneeeninn. $(.6) $5.3 $— $47
Accrued liabilities:
Severance and other exit costs. .............ovvinan.. = - (2) (2)
$(.6) $5.3 $(.2) $4.5

During 2001, the Company recognized an additional impairment charge totaling $5.3 million based on
the re-evaluation of the estimated fair value of certain properties.

The following summarizes activity in the Company’s restructuring and impairment reserves for the year
ended December 31, 2000:

Deductions

Balance Amounts Charged Balance
Reserve December 31, 1999 (Credited) to Income Cash Non-cash  December 31, 2000
Asset reserves:
Asset impairment ................. $263.3 $(15.0) $ — 3 (869 $161.4
Inventory .......... ... ... ... .. 15.0 — — (15.0) —
Accrued liabilities:
Property lease residual value
BUATAMEEES . .. vveriiien e 103.3 (14.8) (88.5) — —
Severance and other exit costs ...... 17.3 9.4 (22.7) (2.8) 1.2
$398.9 $(20.4) $(111.2)  $(104.7) $162.6

(1) Includes $19.7 million of reserves that had been established on these properties prior to the 1999 restructuring and impairment
charges recorded.
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The following summarizes the components of the $20.4 million credited to income during the year ended
December 31, 2000:

Properties Placed Back Net Gain on Additional
into Service or Retained  Sold Properties Impairment Charges Other Total

Asset reserves:

Asset impairment . ... .. ..., ... $(23.2) $(3.4) $11.6 $— $(15.0)
Accrued liabilities:

Property lease residual value

gUATaNtees . ... (13.0) (1.8) — —  (14.8)
Severance and other exit costs .. ... — — —_ 94 94
$(36.2) $(5.2) $11.6 $9.4 $(20.4)

|
|
|
|

During 2000, certain events occurred which caused the Company to re-evaluate its plans with respect to
various retail properties. As a result, certain megastore properties were placed back in service and the
Company decided to retain certain dealerships that had been held for sale. Accordingly, based upon the
Company’s re-evaluation of the fair values of the properties, the Company determined that the asset
impairment and lease residual value reserves for these properties were no longer necessary and the Company
was required to reverse the related estimated reserves totaling $36.2 million back into income. An additional
impairment charge of $11.6 million was recognized primarily related to a decision in 2000 to close one
additional megastore property as part of the overall restructuring plan.

14. INCOME TAXES

The components of the provision for income taxes from continuing operations for the years ended
December 31 are as follows:

2001 2000 1999

Current:
Federal . ..ot $186.3 $101.3 $108.4
I 1 = 15.6 4.3 22.8
Federal and state deferred ....... ... ... .. i (45.8) 91.3 (111.2)
Change in valuation allowance ...........cc0ciiiiiieeniiinnnn.n. (.3) —  (16.0)
Provision for inCome taxes .. ...t e e $155.8 $196.9 $ 4.0

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes calculated using the statutory federal income tax rate to
the Company’s provision for income taxes from continuing operations for the years ended December 31 is as
follows:

2001 2000 1999

Provision (benefit) for income taxes at statutory rate of 35% ......... $140.3 $183.8 § (9.6)
Non-deductible expenses ....... ... i 12.2 5.8 28.6
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ......................... 5.4 10.1 1.0
Change in valuation allowance .............c.ovviiiieiinnnennn.. (.3) —  (16.0)
Other, met. ... e (1.8) (2.8) —
Provision for inCOme taxes . . ...ttt e e i $155.8 $196.9 § 4.0

67




AUTONATION, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Components of the net deferred income tax liability at December 31 are as follows:

2001 20090

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Book basis in property over tax basis. ........iiiin i $ 353.0 $ 360.8
Expenses deducted for tax, « eferred for book..................... ... 688.5 689.3
Deferred income tax assets:
Net Operating l08SeS . . .o vttt e i e (2.9) (3.6)
Accruals not currently de luctible ............ ... . ... .. (293.8) (278.6)
Valuation allowance . .. .. ...ttt ittt 109.0 109.3
Net deferred income tax liavility ....... ..o i it $ 853.8 $ 877.2

At December 31, 2001, the Company had available net operating loss carry forwards primarily related to
acquired businesses of approximately $7.4 million which begin to expire in the year 2011. In assessing the
realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company provides valuation allowances to offset
portions of deferred tax assets due to uncertainty surrounding the future realization of such deferred tax assets
primarily related to business acquisitions. The Company adjusts the valuation allowance in the period
management determines it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will or will not be realized. Future
decreases to the valuation allowance may be allocated to reduce intangible assets associated with business
acquisitions accounted for under the purchase method of accounting.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had $853.8 million and $877.2 million, respectively, of net
deferred tax liabilities. In 1997 and 1999, the Company engaged in certain transactions that are of a type that
the Internal Revenue Service has indicated it intends to challenge. Approximately $680 million of the net
deferred tax liabilities relate to these transactions, including a significant portion that relates to a transaction
that generally had the effect of accelerating certain future projected tax deductions. The amount of foregone
tax deductions in 2001 relating to that transaction was approximately $44 million. These transactions are
currently under review by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company believes that its tax returns
appropriately reflect such transactions, and that it has established adequate reserves with respect to any tax
liabilities relating to these transactions. However, an unfavorable settlement or adverse resolution of these
matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

15. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The computation of weighted average common and common equivalent shares used in the calculation of
basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share is as follows for the years ended December 31:

2001 2000 1999

Weighted average shares outstanding used in calculating basic earnings per
Share . L e 3334 361.3 429.8
Effect of dilutive options and warrants. .......... .. ..., 1.8 1 —

Weighted average common and common equivalent shares used in
calculating diluted earnings per share.................... ..., 335.2 3614 4298

At December 31, 2001, the Company had employee stock options outstanding of 57.6 million of which
46.1 million have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share since they are anti-
dilutive. At December 31, 2000 and 1999, outstanding employee stock options of 56.9 million and 50.9 million,
respectively, have been excluded since they are anti-dilutive.

68




AUTONATION, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

16. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On June 30, 2000, the Company completed the tax-free spin-off of ANC Rental. Accordingly, the net
assets and operating results of ANC Rental have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods
presented in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. Income from discontinued operations
during the year ended December 31, 2000, is net of previously estimated losses of $22.1 million which were
accrued in 1999 and additional costs associated with the spin-off totaling $11.3 million recorded in 2000. In
1999, the Company recorded a loss related to ANC Rental of $34.1 million, net of income taxes, representing

the estimated loss from operations through the expected distribution date and costs associated with the spin-
off.

In connection with the spin-off, the Company made certain capital contributions to ANC Rental prior to
the spin-off. These contributions include cash of approximately $200.0 million and the net assets of an
insurance subsidiary. The Company also entered into various agreements with ANC Rental, which set forth
the terms of the distribution and other agreements governing the Company’s relationship with ANC Rental
after the spin-off. As a result of the spin-off, the Company’s equity was reduced by the net assets of ANC
Rental totaling $894.4 million.

In connection with the spin-off of ANC Rental in June 2000, the Company agreed to provide certain
guarantees and credit enhancements with respect to financial and other performance obligations of ANC
Rental, including acting as a guarantor under certain motor vehicle and real property leases between ANC
Rental and Mitsubishi Motor Sales of America, Inc. (“Mitsubishi”) and acting as an indemnitor with respect
to certain surety bonds issued on ANC Rental’s behalf. The Company is also a party to certain agreements
with ANC Rental (the “ANC Rental Agreements”), including a separation and distribution agreement, a
reimbursement agreement and a tax sharing agreement, pursuant to which both ANC Rental and the
Company have certain obligations. On November 13, 2001, ANC Rental filed voluntary petitions for
reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in
Wilmington, Delaware. In connection with ANC Rental’s bankruptey, the Company was called on to perform
under nine of the twelve real property leases between ANC Rental and Mitsubishi for which it provided
guarantees. As a result, the Company agreed to assume these real property leases, which expires in 2017, in
order to control and attempt to mitigate its exposure relating thereto. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the
Company incurred a pre-tax charge of $20.0 million included in Income (Loss) from Discontinued
Operations in the accompanying 2001 Consolidated Income Statement to reflect its assumption of the nine
leases with Mitsubishi and certain other costs that it expects to incur as a result of ANC Rental’s bankruptcy.
The Company continues to guarantee the remaining three leases with Mitsubishi until their expiration in 2017,
and we remain subject to various other ANC Rental obligations. ANC Rental has been accounted for as a
discontinued operation and, accordingly, it expects that additional charges recorded by it pursuant to the
foregoing credit enhancements and guarantees or with respect to claims under the ANC Rental Agreements,
if any, would not impact its reported results from continuing operations.

The Company has reached an agreement with Mitsubishi pursuant to which its aggregate financial
exposure relating to motor vehicles leased by ANC Rental from Mitsubishi is capped at $10.0 million.
Although the Company believes its financial exposure under the agreement will likely decrease significantly in
2002, it could have potential exposure under the agreement for up to five to ten years. The Company’s
indemnification obligations with respect to the surety bonds issued on behalf of ANC Rental are capped at
$29.5 million in the aggregate. The Company could have potential exposure under the indemnification
obligations for approximately five years. Due to the bankruptcy of ANC Rental, obligations of ANC Rental to
the Company under the terms of the ANC Rental Agreements may be extinguished or its claims against ANC
Rental under such agreements may be unenforceable. These claims could include reimbursement obligations
that ANC Rental may have to the Company in connection with payments made by the Company with respect
to the foregoing credit enhancements and guarantees, as well as indemnification rights with respect to any
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payments that it makes to the Internal Revenue Service as a result of audit adjustments in its consolidated
federal income tax returns relating to ANC Rental’s automotive rental businesses prior to the spin-off. Such
audit adjustments, if any, would likely be resolved in the next three to five years. The Company estimates that,
based on its assessment of the risks involved in each matter and excluding the liabilities associated with the
$20.0 million charge it incurred in the fourth quarter of 2001, its remaining potential pre-tax financial exposure
related to ANC Rental may be in the range of $25.0 million to $60.0 million. However, the exposure is
difficult to estimate and the Company cannot assure that its aggregate obligations under these credit
enhancements, guarantees and ANC Rental Agreements will not be materially above the range indicated
above or that it will not be subject to additional claims as a result of ANC Rental’s bankruptcy filing, which
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, cash flows and prospects.

In July 1998, the Company’s former solid waste services subsidiary, Republic Services, completed an
initial public offering of 36.1% of its outstanding common stock resulting in net proceeds of approximately $1.4
billion. In May 1999, the Company sold substantially all of its remaining interest in Republic Services in a
public offering resulting in net proceeds of approximately $1.8 billion and an after tax gain of approximately
$377.0 million. Accordingly, operating results of Republic Services for the period prior to disposition have
been classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. In
October 1997, the Company sold its electronic security division resulting in an after tax gain of approximately
$230.0 million. In 1999, the Company recognized additional after tax gains of approximately $2.1 million,
related to finalizing the gain on disposition.

Selected income statement data for the Company’s discontinued operations for the years ended
December 31 is as follows: '

2001 2000 1999
Automotive Automotive Automotive Solid

Rental Rental Rental Waste Teotal
Revenue ......... .. it $ — $1,721.1 $3,542.3 $552.5 $4,094.8
Pre-tax inCoME . .. ovveee ot (20.0) (14.8) (88.2)1  100.8 12.6
Provision (benefit) for income taxes .............. (7.3) (5.8) (18.8) 38.8 20.0
Extraordinary charge, net of income taxes ......... — — 1.6 — 1.6
Minority interestin RSG ................ .. ... — — — 21.6 21.6
Net income (1088) .. .ot eeenennns (12.7) (9.0) (71.0) 40.4 (30.6)
Previously estimated and accrued losses ........... ’ — 22.1 — — —
Income (loss) from discontinued operations. ....... $(127) $ 13.1 § (71.0) $ 404 $ (30.6)

(1) Includes pre-tax restructuring and other charges of $40.5 million in 1999 primarily related to ANC Rental’s consolidation of its
North American operations and other restructuring activities.
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17. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The changes in the components of other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes, are as follows
for the years ended December 31:

2001 2000 1999
Pre-Tax Tax Net Pre-Tax  Tax Net Pre-Tax Tax Net
Amount Effect Amount  Amount Eﬂ'_e_c_t Amount  Amount Effect  Amount
Foreign currency translation adjustments®™ ... ... $ — § — 8% — § 64 $— $64 $(19) 3 — 3$(19)
Unrealized gains (losses) on restricted investments,
marketable securities and interest-only strips .. ........ (509) 198 (31.1) (142) 53 (89) 231 (83) 148
Reclassification of realized losses (gains) ............... 51.8  (20.1) 317 (7.1) 40 (3.1) (3.0) 1.0 (2.0)
Other comprehensive income (loss) . ....c.ovvvvn ... $ 9 8 (38 6 $(149) $93 $(56) § 182 $(7.3) $109

(1) Foreign currency translation adjustments relate to the Company’s former automotive rental businesses.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) consists of unrealized gains on restricted invest-
ments, marketable securities and interest-only strips of $1.6 million and $1.0 million at December 31, 2001
and 2000, respectively

18. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

Businesses acquired through December 31, 2001 and accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition.

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company acquired various automotive
retail businesses. The Company paid approximately $69.7 million, $190.9 million and $879.1 million,
respectively, in cash for these acquisitions, all of which were accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting. The Company also paid $22.3 million, $122.4 million and $34.9 million, respectively, in deferred
purchase price for certain prior year automotive retail acquisitions. During 2001, the Company acquired two
dealerships. At December 31, 2001, the Company had accrued approximately $11.6 million of deferred
purchase price due to former owners of acquired businesses included in Other Current Liabilities.

Purchase price allocations are subject to final adjustment for 2001 due to their closing date. Purchase
price allocations for business combinations accounted for under the purchase method of accounting related to
continuing operations for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2001 2000 1999

Property and equipment ... ...ttt e e $24.0 $ 219 $1455
Goodwill and other intangibles not subject to amortization........... 46.1 169.0 9287
Working capital . .. ... i e e e 37 111.5 464.3
Debt assumed ... e e (4.8) (109.2) (623.8)
Other assets (liabilities) . ...... vt i i 7 (2.3) (35.6)
Cash used in business acquisitions, net of cash acquired ............. $69.7 $ 190.9 $879.1

The Company anticipates that all of the goodwill recorded in 2001 will be deductible for tax purposes.
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The Company’s unaudited pro forma consolidated results of continuing operations assuming acquisitions
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting had occurred at January 1, 2000 are as follows for the
years ended December 31:

2001 2000
REVEMUE . ottt et e e $20,080.8 $21,319.6
Income from continuing OPETations ...........c.ovvveerernnrnnneennn. $§ 2470 § 3316
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations ................. $ 74 $ 92

The unaudited pro forma results of continuing operations are presented for informational purposes only
and may not necessarily reflect the future results of operations of the Company or what the results of
operations would have been had the Company owned and operated these businesses as of the beginning of
each period presented.

As described in Note 13, Restructuring Activities and Impairment Charges, the Company has been
divesting of certain non-core franchised automotive dealerships. During the year ended December 31, 2001,
the Company received $61.2 million of cash from the divestiture of certain automotive dealerships. In April
2001, the Company completed the sale of its Flemington dealer group for net proceeds of $59.0 million. The
resulting gain of approximately $19.0 million has been included in Other Gains in the accompanying 200!
Consolidated Income Statement. Gains and losses on other divestitures were not material in 2001.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company received $89.7 million of cash from the
divestiture of certain automotive dealerships. Gains and losses on divestitures were included in Restructuring
and Impairment Charges (Recoveries) Net, in the accompanying Consolidated Income Statements and were
not material during 2000.

In November 2000, the Company completed the divestiture of its outdoor media business for a purchase
price of approximately $104.0 million. In connection with the sale, the Company entered into a prepaid $15.0
million advertising agreement and therefore, received net proceeds of $89.0 million. The Company recognized
a pre-tax gain of $53.5 million on the sale which has been included in Other Income (Expense), Net in the
accompanying 2000 Consolidated Income Statement.

Cash received from the divestiture of franchised automotive dealerships in 1999 was $131.3 million.
Gains and losses on divestitures, other than those recorded in the Company’s 1999 restructuring and
impairment charges, were not material in 1999.

Revenue for the operations disposed or to be disposed was $302.0 million, $1.1 billion and $2.3 billion
during 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Operating income (loss) for the operations disposed or to be
disposed was $(2.7) million, $13.6 million and $8.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had announced agreements to purchase several automotive
dealerships. While these acquisitions did not close until early 2002, they did represent acquisition purchase
price commitments of approximately $129.2 million as of December 31, 2001.

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following is a summary of agreements and transactions among certain related parties and the
Company. It is the Company’s policy that transactions with related parties must be on fair and reasonable
terms that are no less favorable to it than those that would be available in an arm’s length transaction with an
unrelated party. Based on the Company’s experience, it believes that all of the transactions described below
met that standard at the time the transactions were effected.
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Mr. Huizenga, the Company’s Chairman of the Board of Directors, owns the Miami Dolphins and Pro
Player Stadium, a professional sports stadium in South Florida. In 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company paid an
aggregate of approximately $.4 million, $.3 million and $.8 million, respectively, to the Miami Dolphins and
Pro Player Stadium in exchange for certain marketing services, including the rental of the stadium for an off-
site used vehicle sale event for its dealerships, and for the use of executive suites and tickets to events at Pro
Player Stadium. In addition, in 1999, the Miami Dolphins and Pro Player Stadium provided signage within
Pro Player Stadium with a fair market value of approximatety $.1 million at no cost to the Company.

The Company leases an executive suite at the National Car Rental Center, a professional sports arena in
Broward County, Florida, that was leased by Boca Resorts, Inc. Mr. Huizenga is the Chairman of the Board of
Boca Resorts and beneficially owns approximately 18% of Boca Resorts’ outstanding stock. Mr. Hudson, the
Company’s Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, and Mr. Johnson, a Company Director, are also
Directors of Boca Resorts and own approximately 3% of Boca Resorts’ outstanding common stock in the
aggregate. Under the suite lease agreement, the Company paid Boca Resorts approximately $.1 million during
2001, 2000 and 1999, plus incidental costs. In July 2001, Boca Resorts sold the Florida Panthers, the National
Hockey League franchise that plays at the National Car Rental Center, and transferred its interest in the
arena. Boca Resorts also owns and operates various resort hotels, including a hotel in Fort Lauderdale, Florida,
at which the Company has hosted from time to time meetings of its key managers. During 2001, 2000 and
1999, the Company paid Boca Resorts approximately $.2 million, $.1 million and .4 million, respectively, for
the use of conference facilities and lodging accommodations at their hotels in connection with its management
meetings.

National Car Rental Company is a party to an agreement with Boca Resorts pursuant to which National
has purchased the naming rights of the National Car Rental Center. Until the tax-free spin-off of ANC Rental
to the Company’s stockholders was completed in June 2000, National was one of the Company’s subsidiaries.
During the time that the Company owned National in 2000 and 1999, it paid approximately $1.1 million and
$2.2 million, respectively, to Boca Resorts for such naming rights. In addition, National used executive suites
at the arena during 2000. In 1999, National paid approximately $.3 million for signage, tickets, sponsorship
and the use of executive suites at the arena.

During 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company purchased approximately $.6 million, $.6 million and $.7
million, respectively, of pre-employment drug screening services from Psychemedics Corporation.
Mr. Huizenga owns approximately 11.1% of the outstanding common stock of Psychemedics.

In connection with the Company’s spin-off of ANC Rental in June 2000, the Company entered into a
distribution agreement, a tax sharing agreement and various lease agreements, transitional service agreements,
purchase agreements and other arrangements with ANC Rental. Mr. Bryan, a Director of the Company, and
Mr. Huizenga are directors of ANC Rental and several of the Company’s Directors own stock of ANC
Rental. At the time of the spin-off, the Company owned ANC Rental’s corporate headquarters facilities and,
accordingly, it agreed to lease these facilities to ANC Rental following the spin-off for approximately $1.6
million per year. Toward the end of 2000, the Company sold ANC Rental’s headquarters facilities. In
November 2001, ANC Rental filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code in Wilmington, Delaware. Due to the bankruptcy of ANC Rental, some or all of ANC
Rental’s obligations under the agreements described below may be extinguished or the Company’s claims
against ANC Rental under such agreements - may be unenforceable. In May 2000, the Company agreed to
lease certain space in the Company’s computer data center to ANC Rental for which it is paid approximately
$.9 million per year. In connection with the spin-off, the Company also agreed to provide guarantees and credit
enhancements for certain ANC Rental indebtedness and other obligations, for which ANC Rental paid the
Company a fee of approximately $.9 million and $.4 million during 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Company
expects to continue to provide certain credit support, although it does not believe ANC Rental will pay it for
its credit support during 2002 due to its bankruptcy. The Company entered into agreements with ANC Rental

73




AUTONATION, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIBATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

pursuant to which ANC Rental agreed to purchase a certain number of rental fleet vehicles through certain of
its dealerships. During 2001 and 2000, ANC Rental purchased approximately 31,000 and 245,000 rental fleet
vehicles, respectively, through the Company under these agreements, generating a mark-up fee for the
Company of approximately $.2 million and $1.5 million, respectively. These agreements have expired and,
accordingly, the Company does not expect to sell to ANC Rental any vehicles during 2002. In 2000, ANC
Rental provided the Company certain transitional services, including computer and administrative services,
and the Company provided ANC Rental similar services. In 2000, ANC Rental paid the Company
approximately $.7 million and the Company paid ANC Rental approximately $.2 million for such services.
ANC Rental also agreed to buy automotive parts from the Company following the spin-off, and paid the
Company approximately $8.1 million and $7.5 million, respectively, for parts purchases made during 2001 and
2000. In addition, the Company sold parts to ANC Rental for approximately $1.2 million during 200! for
which it does not expect to receive payment from ANC Rental due to their bankruptcy. ANC Rental also
leases space from certain of the Company’s dealerships to operate its local car rental businesses. During 2001
and 2000, ANC Rental paid the Company’s dealerships an aggregate of approximately $.5 million and $.3
million, respectively, under such leases.

In March 2000, the Company purchased a jet from Republic Services, Inc. for approximately $4.7
million. In January 2001, the Company sold the jet to Republic Services for approximately $4.7 million, which
was based on its then current net asset value plus the agreed upon value of certain repairs performed by the
Company immediately prior to the sale. Mr. Hudson and Mr. Huizenga are Vice Chairman and Secretary and
Chairman of the Board, respectively, of Republic Services.

The Company subleases office space at its corporate headquarters to Republic Services. During 2001,
2000 and 1999, Republic Services paid the Company approximately $.7 million, $.5 million and $.3 million,
respectively, pursuant to this lease. The lease runs through February 28, 2003.

. The Company leases space at its computer data center to NationsRent, Inc. at a monthly rental rate of
approximately $5,000 from 1999 to March 2001 when the monthly rental rate increased to $15,000.
Mr. Huizenga and Mr. Hudson are Directors of NationsRent and Mr. Hudson owns approximately 1.8% of
NationsRent’s outstanding common stock. Additionally, until December 2001, Wayne Huizenga, Jr., the son
of Mr. Huizenga, owned approximately 20.9% of NationsRent’s outstanding common stock through H. Family
Investments, Inc., a Florida corporation controlled by him. Starting March 2000, the Company also subleased
to NationsRent certain office space at a monthly rental rate of approximately $61,000. In January 2002, based
upon prevailing market conditions, the Company amended the office sublease to provide for a monthly rental
rate of approximately $52,000. In December 2001, H. Family Investments, Inc. sold all of its NationsRent
common stock. In December 2001, NationsRent filed a voluntary petition for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in Wilmington, Delaware. Due to the bankruptcy of NationsRent, some or all of
NationsRent’s obligations under the foregoing agreements may be extinguished or the Company’s claims
thereunder may be unenforceable.

During March 2002, the Company sold approximately 100 fleet vehicles to AutoZone, In¢c. Mr. Lampert,
a Director of the Company, is a Director of AutoZone and is Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and a
controlling principal of ESL Investments, Inc., which effectively owns approximately 24% of the outstanding
common stock of AutoZone. Mr. Crowley, a Director of the Company, is the President and Chief Operating
Officer of ESL Investments. The vehicles were sold for an aggregate price of approximately $1.2 million and a
mark-up fee for the Company of approximately $22,000.

During 2000 and 1999, the Company hired the management consulting, marketing research and public
relations firm of B&C Associates, Inc. for certain management consulting services in exchange for the
payment of approximately $.1 million and $.5 million, respectively, Mr. Brown, a Company Director, is the
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and principal owner of B&C Associates.
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During 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company engaged the law firm of Akin, Gump, Strauss, Hauer & Feld,
L.L.P. for various legal services totaling $.4 million, $.8 million and $1.3 million, respectively. Mr. Burdick, a
Director of the Company, is a partner in that law firm.

During 1999, the Company purchased $.6 million worth of commercial advertisements on SportsChannel
Florida, a cable sports channel. In 1999, SportsChannel Florida was 70% owned by Front Row Communica-
tions, which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Huizenga. SportsChannel Florida was sold by Front Row
Communications in January 2000.

20. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with purchased maturities of three months or less to
be cash equivalents unless the investments are legally or contractually restricted for more than three months.
The effect of non-cash transactions are excluded from the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows.

The Company made interest payments of approximately $159.0 million, $264.3 million and $159.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, including interest on vehicle
inventory financing. The Company made income tax payments of approximately $196.4 million, $49.9 million
and $84.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

21. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of a financial instrument represents the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation. Fair value
estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information about the financial
instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant
judgment, and therefore cannot be determined with precision. The assumptions used have a significant effect
on the estimated amounts reported.

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair value disclosures
for financial instruments:

» Cash and cash equivalents, trade and manufacturer receivables, other current assets, floorplan
notes payable, accounts payable, other current liabilities and variable rate debt: The amounts
reported in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets approximate fair value due to their
short-term nature.

e Installment loans receivable, investments in securitizations and servicing liability: The fair value
of installment loans receivable, investments in securitized receivables and the servicing liability
are estimated based upon the discounted value of the future cash flows expected to be received.
Significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value at December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as
follows: discount rate on investments in securitizations — 9.15% and 9.51%; discount rate on
servicing liability — 7.40% in 2001; annual loss rate — 2.95% and 1.26%; and prepayment rate —
1.50% and 1.16%.

o Fixed rate debt: The fair value of fixed rate debt is based on borrowing rates currently available
to the Company for debt with similar terms and maturities.

e Interest rate swaps, caps and floors: The fair value of interest rate swaps, caps and floors is
determined from dealer quotations and represents the discounted future cash flows through
maturity or expiration using current rates, and is effectively the amount the Company would pay
or receive to terminate the agreements. At December 31, 2001, the Company has no derivative
instruments outstanding.
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The following table sets forth the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s financial
instruments, except for those noted above for which carrying amounts approximate fair value, as of
December 31:

2001 2000
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Assets (Liabilities) Amount Value Amount Value
Installment loans receivable, net................ ... .... $ 623 $ 657 $48.1 $ 50.6
Investments in securitizations:

Other retained Interests . ......ovvviin i, $ 226 $ 226 §76.1 § 76.7

Interest-only Strips ... cvvvirivn i $ 512 § 512 $76.0 § 764
Servicing liability ... $ (15.4) $ (15.4) — —
Fixed rate debt'" ... ... ... ... $(501.9) $(510.8) — —
Interest rate caps ........ovviiiinniiii i — — — $ 26
Interestrate floors ....... ... ... i — — — $(14.3)

(1) Primarily consists of amounts outstanding related to senior unsecured notes.

22. BUSINESS AND CREDIT CONCENTRATIONS

The Company owns and operates franchised automotive dealerships in the United States. Automotive
dealerships operate pursuant to franchise agreements with vehicle manufacturers. Franchise agreements
generally provide the manufacturers or distributors with considerable influence over the operations of the
dealership and generally provide for termination of the franchise agreement for a variety of causes. The
success of any franchised automotive dealership is dependent, to a large extent, on the financial condition,
management, marketing, production and distribution capabilities of the vehicle manufacturers or distributors
of which the Company holds franchises. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had receivables from
manufacturers or distributors of $130.1 million and $131.2 million, respectively.

The Company purchases substantially all of its new vehicles from various manufacturers or distributors at
the prevailing prices to all franchised dealers. The Company’s sales volume could be adversely impacted by
the manufacturers’ or distributors’ inability to supply the dealerships with an adequate supply of vehicles.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to non-manufacturer trade receivables are limited due to the
wide variety of customers and markets in which the Company’s products are sold as well as their dispersion
across many different geographic areas in the United States. Consequently, at December 31, 2001, the
Company does not consider itself to have any significant non-manufacturer concentrations of credit risk.

23. QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The Company’s operations generally experience higher volumes of vehicle sales in the second and third
quarters of each year in part due to consumer buying trends and the introduction of new vehicle models. Also,
demand for cars and light trucks is generally lower during the winter months than in other seasons, particularly
in regions of the United States where dealerships may be subject to harsh winters. Accordingly, the Company
expects revenue and operating results to be generally lower in the first and fourth quarters as compared to the
second and third quarters. However, revenue may be impacted significantly from quarter to quarter by other
factors unrelated to season, such as automotive manufacturer incentive programs. Comparisons of sales and
operating results between different quarters within a single year are, therefore, not necessarily indicators of
future performance.
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The following is an analysis of certain items in the Consolidated Income Statements by quarter for 2001

and 2000:

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter  Quarter  Quarter  Quarter

Revenue™ ... i 2001 $4,887.6 $4,9450 $5010.8 $5,145.9
2000 $5,232.0 $5,336.8 $5,330.9 $4,699.3

Operating income™ .. ... ... ... . 2001 $ 107.0 $ 1484 $ 1402 $ 444
2000 $ 1155 $ 1524 $ 1495 $ 1076

Income from continuing operations ..................... 2000 § 599 $ 8.3 $§ 792 3 196
2000 § 647 § 966 § 931 § 737

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations’®® 2001 § A7 8 26§ 24 3 .06
2000 8 .18 § 27§ 26 8 .2

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations’® 2001 § 17 $§ 26 § 24 $ .06
2000 0§ .18 $ 27§ 26 § 21

Net income™®® ... oo 2000 $ S99 $ 863 $ 792 § 69
2000 § 623 $ 1008 $ 931 $ 737

(1) Quarterly basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations may not equal total earnings per share for the year as
reported in the Consolidated Income Statements due to the effect of the calculation of weighted average common stock equivalents
on a quarterly basis.

(2) Fourth quarter 2001 revenue was positively impacted by the introduction of significant manufacturer incentives which resulted in
record fourth quarter revenue.

(3) Fourth quarter 2001 earnings per share and net income were impacted by the write-down of outstanding auto loans and related assets
associated with the Company’s exit of the auto loan underwriting business.

(4) Floorplan interest expense, which was previously classified as interest expense below operating income, is now presented as a
component of cost of operations.

(5) Fourth quarter 2001 net income was impacted by an after-tax charge of $12.7 million included in Income from Discontinued
Operations to reflect the Company's assumption of certain obligations with respect to ANC,

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low prices per share of the
Company’s Common Stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange. '

High Low
2001
Fourth Quarter. . ... i e e $13.07 $8.53
Third QUarter . ..ttt $12.24 $7.75
Second QUamter ... i i e e e $12.59 $8.61
First Quarter. ... $ 924 $4.94
2000
Fourth Quarter ... ... . o e $ 7.19 3$4.63
Third QUater . .. oottt e e e $ 731 $5.63
Second QUarter ...ttt e e e $10.75 $7.00
First QUamter. ...\t i e $ 9.31 $6.13

On June 30, 2000, the Company completed the tax-free spin-off to its stockholders of all of the capital
stock of ANC Rental. The spin-off was completed by issuing to each of the Company’s stockholders of record
as of June 16, 2000 one share of ANC Rental common stock for each eight shares of AutoNation common
stock held by such stockholder. The stock prices presented above reflect historical stock prices during all
periods presented and have not been adjusted to give retroactive effect to the distribution of ANC Rental
common stock to the Company’s stockholders.
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
SCHEDULE I
(In millions)

Balance
at Additions Balance
Beginning Charged to at End
Classifications of Year Income Deductions Other of Year
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
2000 oo $351 $184 § (10.6)¥ $ (2) § 427
2000 .. $425 $ 84 $ (14M?P $ (1.1)  $ 351
1999 L\t $338 $134 $ 9.4)?Y ¢ 47V ¢ 425
Restructuring reserves®:
2000 it $ 12 $ (2) $ (1.6) § 8 $ 2
2000 .« . $1206 $ (5.4) $ (111.2)® 5 28)W § 1.2
1999 it $ 241 $4164 § (124§ (307.59)W $120.6

(1) Primarily allowance of acquired businesses.

(2) Accounts written off.

(3) Included under the caption “Other Current Liabilities” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(4) Primarily asset write-offs.

(5) Primarily cash payments of costs associated with restructuring activities.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

PART III

The information required by Item 10 (other than the information required by Item 401 of Regula-
tion S-K with respect to our executive officers, which is set forth under Part I of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K), Item 11, Item 12 and Item 13 of Part I1I of Form 10-K will be set forth in our Proxy Statement
relating to the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM §-K.

(a) (1) Financial Statements. of the Company are set forth in Part II, Item 8.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule 11, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves, for each of
the three years ended December 31, 2001 is submitted herewith.

(3) Exhibits — See Index to Exhibits included elsewhere in this document.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

Current Report on Form 8-K filed and dated December 21, 2001, Item 5, reporting that the Company
will no longer underwrite auto loans but will continue to provide auto loans through unrelated third-party
finance sources.

Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 19, 2001 and dated November 13, 2001, Item 5, describing
certain obligations and contingent liabilities to which the Company will likely or may be subject as a result of
the bankruptcy of ANC Rental Corporation.

Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 31, 2001 and dated October 30, 2001, Item 5, reporting that
ESL Investments, the Company’s largest stockholder, purchased 27 million shares of the Company’s common
stock from H. Wayne Huizenga, Harris W. Hudson and Michael G. DeGroote, the Company’s Chairman,
Vice Chairman and Director, respectively.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

REGISTRANT:
AutoNation, Inc.

By: /s/ MIKE JACKSON

Mike Jackson
Chief Executive Officer

March 27, 2002

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/  H. WAYNE HUIZENGA Chairman of the Board
H. Wayne Huizenga March 27, 2002
/s/ MIKE JACKSON Chief Executive Officer and Director
Mike Jackson (Principal Executive Officer) March 27, 2002
/s/ _CRAIG T. MONAGHAN Senior Vice President and Chief
Craig T. Monaghan Financial Officer (Principal Financial ~ March 27, 2002
Officer)
/s/ PATRICIA A. McKAY Senior Vice President — Finance
Patricia A. McKay (Principal Accounting Officer) March 27, 2002
/s/  HARRIS W. HUDSON Vice Chairman and Director
Harris W. Hudson March 27, 2002
/s/ ROBERT J. BROWN Director
Robert J. Brown March 27, 2002
/s/ J.P. BRYAN Director
J.P. Bryan March 27, 2002
/s/ RICK L. BURDICK Director
Rick L. Burdick March 27, 2002
/s/  WiLLiaM C. CROWLEY Director
William C. Crowley March 27, 2002
/s/  MiCHAEL G. DEGROOTE Director
Michael G. DeGroote March 27, 2002
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Signature

/s/ _GEORGE D. JOHNSON, JR.

George D. Johnson, Jr.

/s/ EDWARD S. LAMPERT

Edward S. Lampert

/s/ JoHN J. MELK

John J. Melk

/s/ IRENE B. ROSENFELD

Irene B. Rosenfeld

Title

Director

Director

Director

Director
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March 27, 2002

March 27, 2002
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10.7
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibits

Separation and Distribution Agreement dated June 30, 2000, between AutoNation, Inc. and
ANC Rental Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to AutoNation’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated June 30, 2000).

Separation and Distribution Agreement dated June 30, 1998, between Republic Industries, Inc.
(now known as AutoNation, Inc.) and Republic Services, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to AutoNation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1998).

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of AutoNation, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to AutoNation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1999).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of AutoNation, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
AutoNation’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December §, 2000).

Indenture, dated as of August 10, 2001, relating to the issuance of $450.0 million aggregate
principal amount of senior unsecured notes due 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (SEC 333-71098) filed on October 5, 2001).

AutoNation is a party to certain long-term debt agreements where the amount involved does not
exceed 10% of AutoNation’s total assets. AutoNation agrees to furnish a copy of any such
agreements to the Commission upon request.

AutoNation, Inc. 1991 Stock Option Plan, as amended to date (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to AutoNation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2000).

AutoNation, Inc. 1995 Amended and Restated Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended to date
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AutoNation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2000).

AutoNation Enterprises Incorporated Amended and Restated 1995 Employee Stock Option Plan,
as amended to date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to AutoNation’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000).

AutoNation, Inc. Amended and Restated 1995 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to AutoNation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1998).

AutoNation, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended to date
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to AutoNation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2000).

AutoNation, Inc. Amended and Restated 1998 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended to date
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to AutoNation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2000).

AutoNation, Inc. 1999 Senior Executive Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
AutoNation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000).

Letter Agreement dated September 22, 1999, between AutoNation, Inc. and Michael J. Jackson,
Chief Executive Officer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of AutoNation’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999).

Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2000, between AutoNation, Inc. and Michael E.
Maroone, President and Chief Operating Officer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
AutoNation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000).

Letter Agreement dated March 26, 1999 between AutoNation, Inc. and Michael E. Maroone,
President and Chief Operating Officer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of AutoNation’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999).




Exhibits

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

21.1%*
23.1*
99.1*

Description of Exhibits

Letter Agreement dated April 18, 2000 between AutoNation, Inc. and Craig T. Monaghan, Chief
Financial Officer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to AutoNation’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000).

Tax Sharing Agreement dated June 30, 2000 between AutoNation, Inc. and ANC Rental

Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AutoNation’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated June 30, 2000).

Benefits Agreement dated June 30, 2000 between AutoNation, Inc. and ANC Rental Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AutoNation’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
June 30, 2000).

Reimbursement Agreement dated June 30, 2000 between AutoNation, Inc. and ANC Rental
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to AutoNation’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated June 30, 2000).

Tax Indemnification and Allocation Agreement dated June 30, 1998 between Republic Industries,
Inc. (now known as AutoNation, Inc.) and Republic Services, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to Republic Services, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1998).

Subsidiaries of AutoNation, Inc.

Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP.

Letter regarding representation from Arthur Andersen LLP.

* Filed herewith
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